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*Non-GAAP measures. GAAP financial results in these periods were:

Net Income {Loss) ($ milliens): 2002 — ($3.0); 2003 — $33.2; 2004 — $33.8; 2005 - $58.6; 2006 - ($158.9); 2007 — $40.2.
Eamings {Loss) Per Share {in §): 2002 - ($0.15}; 2003 — $1.61; 2004 - $1.60; 2005 - $2.75; 2006 — ($7.60); 2007 — $1.80.
Please refer io the Reconciliation of GAAP 1o Non-GAAP Financial Information following the Form 10-K included in this report.




\Whether you are a customer or a
shareholder, you can count on EnPro
to do what we say we are going to do.

Shareholders' Letter >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>5>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> pg.1

> That's why more than 50,000 customers > That's why we've been able to steadily
around the world rely on proprietary grow sales at an average rate of about
products made by EnPro companies 8% per year and improve our segment
to perform in critical applications... profits at a rate of about 17% per year

over the past six years...
> That's why the majority of brands in
the EnPro family command top shares > And that's why we are positioned
in their markets... to continue to grow.

> That's why we've implemented an
enterprise-wide lean manufacturing
program that helps us manufacture
our products more efficiently and get
them to gur customers more rapidly...

Ernest F. Schaub
President and Chief Executive Officer
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prepared for an increasingly bright future.

In my first letter to our shareholders in March
2003, 1 said we were commilted to building
long-term value from a diverse group

of operations. We set out on that task by
establishing four straight-forward initiatives
that we helieved would be embraced hy our
employees and beneficial to our sharehelders.
Those initiatives laid a foundation for the
success of our new company, and we have
maintainet our focus on them,

Qur financial performance over the past
six years is a clear measure of our progress—
our sales have increased at a compeound
annuat rate of 8% a year, almost completely
as the result of organic growth; our segment
profits have grown even more quickly, at a
compound annual rate of nearly 17%; and
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20w Segrocers As you receive this report and read this letter, our company will be completing its
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- sixth year as an independent public company. These years have been eventful and rewarding. (g_)ver that
. . H
period, we have established a pattern of growth and improvement that has transformed EnProgfrom a

| company that some people doubted had the capacity to invest for long-term growth into a coﬁ‘}npany
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our segment profit marging have improved by
more than 5 percentage pointsy Our cash flows
over ihe period have been sufficient to allow
us to invest nearty $350 millionfin the improve-
ment of our company through acquisitions,
restructuring and capital expenditures.
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We crossed an important threshold in 2002
when we stepped out as an ifdependent
company, Our objective then’was to move
forward, to make EnPro a bigéer, stronger
company, known far its produc:t's‘ the success
of its operations and its capac::ity for growth
and improvement, We crossed another
important threshold in 2007 uﬁhen our sales
exceeded $1 hillion. Qur Ubjeétiue now is o

“We crossed another important threshold in 2007 when @ur
sales exceeded $1 billion.”
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continue and even accelerate the pace we
set in the first six years of our existence.

Cur success to date has been due fargely
to our ability to execute strategies designed {o
make EnPro a beller company.

We established a lean manufacturing culture
with our Total Customer Value program. Qur
employees have fully embraced this program,
with assurances that its benefit is our ability
to produce more products more efficiently,
50 we can meet increases in demand withaut
adding costs.

We made EnPro a safe place to work, with
one of the best safety records in industries of
our tyne—in fact in 2006, Occupational Hazards
magazine recognized FnPro as one of America's
safast companies. More recently, a leading
insurance company picked our workers'
compensation loss rate as a benchmark
against which it measures the success of
cther companies’ programs.

We focused on managing the setilement of
asbestos claims against our subsidiaries, and
we succeeded in making the cash flows asso-
ciated with those claims more manageable —
an important statement, since six years ago,
many people were skeptical that we'd be able
Io escape the demands of those claims without
severe damage 1o the company.

We expanded our markets, reaching
into new gecgraphic areas with facilities in
Slovakia, Chira and India, areas of the globe
wheare we had no presence Six years ago.
Market expansion has also taken us into
more technologically advanced markets,
increasing our participation in nuclear power,
oil and gas production, natural gas transmis-
sion, semiconductor manufacturing and other
market sectors,

Our marketing and engingering capabilities
have increased as well, as measured not only

hy the numbers of new products we introduce
each year, but afso by the sales dollars that
new products generate. in 2007, over 15%
of our sales came from products infroduced
in the past five years. While 20% is our goal,
the contribution compares very faverably to
our position six years ago, when about 7% of
our sales came from products less than five
years old.

Finally, we made important acquisitions,
especially in 2006 and 2007, that support our
strategies for growth and will increasingly
contribute to our financial results as they are
integrated into our company.

Several specific accomplishments in 2007 will
help us continue to improve results in 2008
and beyond.

At Garlock Sealing Technologies' facllities
in Paimyra, New York, we completed a full year
of operation in the first new building to be
erected on that site in nearly 50 years. That
building houses Garlock's Klozure dynamic
seal product line. A sacond new building being
completed in 2008 will house the line that
produces Garlock's Gylon gasketing material.
These two new buildings mark important
milestones in our five-year program to moedemn-
ize the Palmyra facitities into an efficient,
worid-class manufacturing complex. In the
course of the program, we will reduce the
number of buildings on the site from 26 to 7
and reduce the manufacturing space by
about half, eliminating nearly 350,000
square feet of space that was inefficient and
costly to maintain.

We reported a greatly improved operaling
nerformance at Fairbanks Morse Engine.
In the third quarter of 2006, we turned the
business over 1o a new management team

led by Tony Gicfiredi, who enginegered a
remarkable turnaround. Fairbanks Morse
ended the year with a profit margin of aimost
12%, more than double the average of recent
years, and we are confident the business is
well-positioned to sustain this higher level.

At the beginning of 2006, France
Compressor Products was a small but growing
part of our company. Beginning in the middie
of 2006, we made a series of acquisitions
that more than tripled the size of the business
and moved it inte the ranks of cur core oper-
ations. Equally important, the acquisitions
transformed a business that just a few years
ago was focused primarily on markets along
the U.S. Gulf Coast into an intermational com-
petitor with operations in the United States,
Canada, Europe, South America and Asia.
We've chosen to change the name 1o
Compressor Products International, the name
of one of the businasses we acquired and
one we believe more accurately reflects the
global nature of this business.

Our international growth in 2008 will also
henefit from our expansion in China and Indlia,
which are among the world's most vibrant
economies. We first ventured into China in
2004, when we opened Quincy Comprassor's
Q-Tech facility to serve the tocal market. In
2007, we entered India with a shared services
facility that manufactures hoth Garlock seals
and GGB bearings. In China, we opened a similar
facility that produces bearings and, during the
course of 2008, will also begin to praduce
Stemco's wheel-end products, Garlock has
also established a presence in China with the
acquisiticn of Sinflex Sealing Technofogies,
a Garlock distributor and seal manufacturer,
By the end of 2008, we expect Compressor
Products International to also have a manu-
factunng presence in China.




While where we've been is important to our
shareholders, it's whare we're going that
really counts. The strategies we have relied
upon ta bring us to our present position werg
designed to provide fundamental building
blocks that will enable EnPro to grow and
prosper. They are intended to be an asset to
us, regardless of the conditions of our markets,
and we are confident they will be as effective
in the future as they have been in the past.

A seasoned, experienced core of senior
managers, both on our corporate staff and in
our pperaticns, have proven themseives capable
of executing our strategies and leading our
businesses to increasingly highar levels of
nerformance, With the support and endorsement
of our managers, our employaes have also
embraced our strategies. They have shown
not only an understanding and an appreciation
of them, but also the ability 1o implement them
at every level of our crganization.

We have worked hard over the years 1o
develop a culture of mutual trust and integrity
at EnPro. Our employees are willing to work hard
to contribute to the success of our company.
They hold a sense of dedication and respon-
sibility to their jobs, and they enthusiastically
support TGV and our corporate strategies.
We believe such a culture will serve us well
in the future.

Each EnPro husiness has developed iong-
term goals for growth, innovation and profit-
ability as well as for their perceptions and
reputaticns among employees, customers

and the communilies where they operate. With

clear chiectives and the continued support of our
employees, we believe the kind of improvement
we have achieved over the past six years wil
continue well into the future.

As lannounced near the end of 2007, | am
retiring in 2008. This will he my final letter to
our shareholders as president and chiei
executive officer of EnPro Industries. I've been
priviteged and honored to hold that position
since our company was formed. 've been
equally privileged to work with an able group of
people wha have coniributed (o the successes
we've enjoyed. However, as | approach my
B6ath birthday, it's appropriate for me to hand
over my responsibilities to a new leader,

After a diligent, six-month fong search
and a raview of & number of highly qualified
candidates, our Board of Directors selected
Stephan E. Macadam to assume my respon-
sibilities. Steve comes to EnPro from BlueLinx
Holdings, a leading North American supplier
of building materials, where he served as chief
executive officer from 2005 until accenting his
pasition with EnPro.

Steve brings a wealth of public company
experience ¢ his new job, having served
as president and chief executive officer of
Consolidated Container Company frem 2001
1o 2005, and having spent several years as
an executive at Georgia Pacific. Earlier in
his career, he was a partner and principal
at McKinsey & Company, the international
managemeni consulting firm. Gur board was
unanimeus in its selection of Steve and the

conclusion that he is the right leader for

EnPro. His philosophy is directly aligned with
our strategies, and his vision and experience
complemant the strengths of our businesses.

As | turn over my responsibilities to Steve, |
have every reason to believe EnPro will
continue 1o thrive under his leadership.

In conclusion, I'd like to thank everyone who
has played a part in supporting me and helping
me develop a vision for EnPro. The credit
for our success goes tc a dedicated team
who shared my commitment to build EnPro
into a better company and the kind of
company for which paople want to work,

I am confident that these individuais will
maintain their commitment to the company's
continued sucecess.

To the employees in our operating units,
Our Managers, our cerporate staff and our
directers, | say thank you far your suppart and
your efforts, The past six years have been the
most fulfilling of my life, thanks ta your hard
work and the results we have achigvad.

To our sharsholders, | say thank you for
yaur trust. | look forward to joining you in
enjoying the rewards that | am confident lie
ahead for EnPro Industries.

Sincerely,

it Sans

Ernest F. Schaub
Prasident and Chief Executive Officer




Management Team
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Front: Ernie Schaub, President and Chisf Executive Offfcer  Second Row, feft to right: Bill Dries, Senior Vice President and Chiel
JFinancial Officer: Tony Gioffred], Division President, Fairhanks Morse Engine; Rick Magee, Senior Vice President, General Cotnsel
and Secretary  Third Row, left to right: Bernd Fischer, Division President, GGE Bearing Technolagy; Milt Childress, Vice
"President, Strategic Planning and Business Development; Jon Cox, Division Presideni, Stemco; Jotin T:hompson Division Presidert,
Quincy Compressor Hear, Pau! Bafdem D.‘WSIOH Presﬂenr Gar!ock Seaiing Techno.’agtes




"TCV Is more than an initiative
to Improve our bottom line-

it Is a growing part of our
corporate culture.”
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Segment Profit Margin

Improvement. 520 Basis Points Since 2002

Continuous improvement in operationaf
efficiency nas been a core management strateqy
and primary focus since EnPro became an
independent company. Since 2002, improved
efficiencies have contributed to an increase
in our segment profit marging from 10.6% to
15.8%. We credit our success to our Total
Customer Value (TCV) program, a combination
of lean manufacturing philosophy, Six Sigma
methodclogy, supply chain efficiencies and
cost-conscious policies. TCV principles have
become standard operating procedurs for
all EnPro companies.

Since 2002, 60% of our employees have
participated in at ieast one TCV project designed
to increase productivity and on-time delivery,
shorten lead times, cul waste, reduce inveniorigs
and improve processes. A number of them have
undergong intense training to become black
belts, or experts, in TCV, including 40 in 2007,
To receive this designation, an employee must
direct a project which generates savings of at
least $100,000. In 2007, these projecis alone
generated approximately $6 million in savings,
and, in combination with the savings from other
TCV and supply chain initiatives, halped offset
cost increases and improve our segment profits.,




We've created an infrastructure that drives
gificiency improvement deep inlo our
organization. We train every employee in TCV
principles; and in 2007, several employees
who had reached the proficiency level of black
belt were selected for continued development
as TCV master black belts. As mastars,
they will together select and train up to 60
more empoyees 10 become TCV black belts,
further strengthening our ability to deliver
cperational improvements,
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- Value on Many Fronts

Involved and commitied employees are
fundamental 1o our success in providing greater
value to our customers. Often working collab-
oratively among businesses, EnPro employees
share best practices from their own experiences
and bring fresh perspeciives 10 colleagues’
challenges, an effective way 1o solve particular
prablems and to promole an overall culture
of knowledge-sharing.

We also improve performance by critically
examining our supply chain 1o ensure we are

TR
K

Above Left: A team of employees observe as a TCV black belt at GGB Bearing Technology's
Thorofare, New Jarsey facility demonstrates a Single Minute Exchange of Die during a kaizen event,
This technique reduces changeover times and improves productivity.

Above Right: Kaizen events are designed o improve processes and eliminate waste — activities
that add cost but not value. They are held reguiarly across EnPro 1o examine aff types of processes.
The team above is brainstorming ideas to reduce the time between the receipt of an order and
the defivery of the product, in this case, GGB bearings.

reducing waste and inefficiencies. We work
with our suppliers te align their business
processes with our lean practices. We host
TCV workshops for key suppligrs to eliminate

non-value-added activities in their operations,

By developing mutually beneficial relationships
with our suppliers, we are more successful
at reducing costs, boosting preductivity and
increasing customer satisfaction, TCV has
evolved into a defining part of our culture.

>>>>> pg.7
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facilities, boosting productivity and efficiency.
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a new bearing manufacturing facility in Slovakia,
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g from very efficient, modern facilities that make new goducts
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>R SCCE s CL7 07 Welcome to Palmyra, New York

E To ensure gur businesses remain competitive Palmyra represents our biggest project, but and another in Beloii, Wisgonsin, {0 support
E and profitable, we ifwest to modernize not our oy ore. Since 2002, we've consiricied more: effigient production of JEw diesel engines,

In 2008, Garlock Segling Technclogies wil
complete the third fufll year of its five-year
modernizalion projecfiat Palmyra, transforming
a facility designed fof the first half of the 20th
century into a global Genter of 21st century
manufacturing excellence.
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We've begun assembling air compressors
in China. We've consolidated North America
compressor products manufacturing in a modem
iacility in Houston, Texas, and we've invested
in a facility in. Quincy, lllingis, to improve the
process vsed to manuiacture air compressors

As 2008 begifis, we're coEpleling the con-
solidation of Plastomer Tectiologies facilities
in two siaies into one new agd mare efiicient
iacility in Houston, ‘
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A Global Work in Progress

We are expanding the production of our
induslry-leading products into naw regions
with strong economies and growing markets,
serving existing customers as they locate to
areas like Ching and India, and introducing
our products 10 a new group of cuSiomers
who arg emerging in those markets.

Early in 2008, we acquired a gasket
manufacturing and distribution company
lccated in Shanghai, which we will operate
as part of Garlock Sealing Technologies.
To facilitate our expansion inio China, we
opened EnPro China, a shared services center
located in Shanghai, whose employees will
provide adminisirative assisiance to all EnPro
companies in China, including the new
Garlock business, Quincy Compressor's

Q-Tech facility, and the new facility shared by
GGB and Stemco.

To serve the Indian market, we established
EnPro India Private Limited, a shared services
organization that provides administrative
and operational services to a facility at
Pune occupied by GGB and Garlock. With a
business plan designed to offer maximum
efficiency and innovation, the two husinesses
share expenses, sourcing opportunities and
administration services. Though the manu-
facturing facility is shared, each business
brands its products and operates its sales
forces independently.

EnPro is working hard to build its brands
into industry-recognized names around
the world.

Left: On the far left, a new machining center at Fairbanks Morse improves production of digsel engines. On the near left, this new
buildling houses Garlock's Kiazure product line, replacing a number of oider buildings with open and efficient manufacturing space.

Above: On the left, a seal for the Chinese market produced by Garock Seafing Technologies (Shanghai, @ busingss acquired
int earty 2008, On the right, a 0- Tech employee assembles a Quincy air compressor at Quincy's facility at Kunshan, China.




We are about halfway there as 2006 begins.”

15% of 2007 Sales

The growth of our businesses is improved by the
steady, consistent flow of new products into
the marketplace. Qur goal is to generale
20% of our sales from products that have
been developed within the pricr five years. In
2002, our first year as an independent
company, about 7% of our sales fell into that
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The Garlock HYDRA-JUST™
system is designed for slurry
applications in mining, chemical
processing and other harsh
conditions. This award-winning
rotary seal lasts longer and
reduces cooling water usage by
98% compared to the next-
best altemative.

"Our ultimate goal is to generate 20% of our annual sales from new products.

New Products Equal

categoery. In 2007, the number had risen to
15%, stili short of our goal, but & significant
improvement from where we started. To keep
the pipeline flowing, we strive to simuftaneously
meet our customers' demands today, while we
anticipate and develop the products they will
need in the future.

Quincy Compressor's QSt
premmium industrial compressor
sels the industry standard
for efficiency in rotary
Screw compressors, offering
130,000-hour design, choice
of air or water cooling and

a 10-year warranty that is
the best in the industry.
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Stemco’s ARBAT™ RF allows
heavy-duty truck fleet operators

{o remotely monilor tirg pressure,
oplimizing wear and reducing
labor required to check and repair
tires. The BAT™ RF product ling
provides automaled solutions for
calection of mileage, fuel consump-
ton and asset identification,
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> waoe s Dos A Pipeling of Great ldeas

We aspire to be known for providing innovative

producis that meet the unique requirements
of the markets and customers we serve. The
best companies do more than meet customers’
curreni needs. The best anticipale what the
customer will want in the future and work to
be ready with a solution when the demand

arises. To support our goals, we created new

positions in marketing and engineering in
our operations, acding talented personnel who
are implementing a disciplined approach to
product development.

Our marketing teams, through surveys,
conversations and more formalized "Voice of

(GB Bearing Technology's
DX-10 bearng is metal-tracked
with a polymer lining designed to
operate with minimal lubrication
in & wide range of industrial
and automotive applications.
Indentations on the interior
strface act 4 grease reservoirs.

the Customer” programs, provide customer
feedback to our technology teams, ensuring
our research and development is targeted
and sirategic.

We aiso find opportunitles to introduce
our products into new markets. For examp
GGB Bearing Technology’s products are
well known in the plain bearings market
However, this is a small part of the overa
bearing market, so GGB's marketing and
technology teams are exploring ways for plain
bearings 1o replace roller bearings within some
applications, thereby delivering more value to
the customer.

GGR Bearing Technology's sealed
bearing cartriage is a cost-effectie,
maintenance-freg alternative to
conventional greased melal and
rolfing-element bearings in off-
highway equipment and other
demanding applications. The
seff-utvicating bearing, made of
fitarment wound material,
Drovides superior wear.




will add strength a
businesses and w

we bring to shareholders.’

Seals manufactured by Pikotek,
a business acquired in 2003,
expanded £nPro’s presenice in
upstream o and gas markels and
have provided consistent strong

retums as pan of the company's
Sealing Products segrment.

"Our ability to make meaningful acquisitions
nd depth to our core
I improve the returns
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Over $70 Million in

Sales Acquired Since 2006

In 2006 and 2007, we acquired companies
and product lings that will provide us with
additional annual sales in excess of $70 million
in 2008 and the opportunity for growth in both
sales and profitability in the future as we
complete the integration of these oparations
into our businesses. Acquisitions improve our
access 1 markels by expanding our presence
in parts of the world where we may have
been underrepresenied and by introducing
us to new industrial markets that we did not

Our compressor products business, now
known as Compressor Products International,
benefited significantly from the acquisitions
we made in 2006 and 2007. They trans-
formed it from a company focused on the
U.S. GuIf Coast, with a small presence in other
parts of the world, into a global, market-
leading enterprise, strengthening the care of
businesses that will support EnPro’s growth,

praviously sarve.

Compressor vaives control the
flow of gas in the cylinders of
reciprocating comprassors. The
CPt vaive design significantly
increases refiability white main-
taining pressure throughout the
compression cycle. The vahe
is essentially self-cleaning and
compeles effectively with more
axpensive metal valves.

The Syntrom@ RP mechanical
seal produet ling was acquired
by Garlock in 2007, Syntron
seals a wide variely of gases
and fluids in industrial applica-
tions such as fans, autoclaves
and pumps, and is used in
marine applications fo seal
propelier shafts, siem tubes
and thiusters.




> Wwore o Soe A Viglant Outlook for Opportunity

We diligently search for oppertunities to improve
our company. We search for ways (o comple-
ment or expanc the EnPro businesses that serve
sealing products and engineered products
markets. We also Yook for ways 1o open faster-
growing technicat or geagraphic markets for
our prodiscis. We build a pipeline of potential
acquisifions by refying on a variety of resources.
Our corporate business development siaff works
with external advisors to identify companies
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and product lines that may be for sale, Personnel
al our operations use their cont?cts in the
markeiplace, not orly to help us idgatify potential
candidates hut aiso to help-us understand how
a business we're interested in would it into the
EnPro family and the benefits it would bring
to our company. |

The acquisitions we have made to date are
making meaningful contributions 1o our company,
and we expect 10 make more valuhble additions

/"S‘_'—'" -
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to EnPro brands in the future. As we expand
our ability to make acquisitions, our focus
is on making sound decisions, sharpening
the skills we need for successful integration,
and developing operating plans for new
businesses that are as solid and successful
as those we have implemented at our
existing businesses.

T g

1

in 2003.
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A technician at Garfock's Helicollex lacitily in
Cofumbia, South Carofina, completes the final
polishing and inspection of a auclear reaclor
pressure vessel seal, a product ling acquired



"I expect that our cash flows will be sufficient to resolve a declining number of
claims without limiting our ability to reinvest in our business.”

mﬂ4>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>4>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

E!i ‘ ' ‘,E ' | N ]

> A8 SoeE A 0. Wior: Total Ashestos Payments
Have Declined More Than 30% Since 20101

Total payments for asbestos claims and produced an increase in sale§ of over 40%,
expenses have declined by more than 30%, an increase in segment operating profits of

to $115 million in 2007 from a peak of over 100% and an increase ogmore than five
$166 million in 2001, and as the total has percentage points in segment profit marging. As
declined, net cash outlays associated with our company has grown, new claims against
ashestos have dropped by more than 55%, our subsidiaries are at a 20-plus-year low,
from @& high of $78 million in 2001 to an nearly 90% below their peak ing2003. Clearty,

average of about $31 million over the past our strategy to manage asbestos claims and
four years. Over the same period, aur operating setllements has proven effective in allowing

strategies and growth in gur markets have us io focus on the growth of oar operations.

AS GOOD AS OUR

WORD
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, PAYMENTS OF ASBESTOS
CLAIMS AND EXPENSES
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and Cash Flows

Our strategy for the settlement of asbestos
claims is focused on reducing ashestos-
related expenses and cash flows associated
with settlemenis. As the number of new
ashestos claims has diminished, we anticipate
toial payments of fees, expenses and settle-
ment costs related to ashestos to continue 1o
decling as thay have for the past six years.
A significant portion of these payments will
be offset by the collection of insurance. At the
end of 2007, we had about $380 million of

Manageable Expenses

insurance, which, under agreements in place
with gur insurars, we expec to collect in variotis
amounts over approximately the next 10 years,
Over that period, we expect fewer.new claims
1o be filed and total payments to decling,
Insurance collections shouid continue Lo offset
a significant portien of our payments. At the
same time, we expect EnPro to become a
stronger, healthier company as we continug
to invest in the growth of our operations.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

As used in this report, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” "EnPro” and *Company” mean EnPro Industries, Inc. and its subsidiaries {unless the context indicates
another meaning). The term “common stack” means the commen stock of EnPro indusiries, inc., par value $0.01 per share. The terms “convertible
debentures” and “debentures” mean the 3.9375% Convertible Senior Debentures due 2015 issued by the Company in October 2005,

Background
We were incorporated under the laws of the State of North Caralina on January 11, 2002, as a wholly owned subsidiary of Goodrich Carporation
{“Goodrich™) in anticipation of Goodrich’s announced distribution of its Engineered Industrial Products segment to existing Goodrich sharehaldars,
which took place on May 31, 2002 (the “Distribution™). We are a leader in the design, development, manufacturing, and marketing of proprietary
engineered industrial products. We have 42 primary manufacturing facilities located in the United States and 10 other countries.

Our sales by geographic region in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

{in millions) 2007 2006 2005
United States $ 569.7 $543.0 $485.6
Europe 2778 2228 2121
Other 186.5 162.6 140.9
Total $1,030.0 $928.4 $838.6

We maintain an Intemet website at www.enproindustries.com. We will make this annual report, in addition to our other annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-GQ, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports, available free of charge on our website as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or fumish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Corporate Governance
Guidelines and the charters for each of our Board Comemitiees {Audit and Risk Management, Compensation and Human Resources, Executive, and
Nominating and Corporate Governance committees) are also available on our website, and copies of this information are available in print to any
shareholder who requests it. Information incluced on or linked to our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report.

Operations

We manage our business as three segments: a sealing products segment, which includes our sealing products, heavy-duty wheel end components,
polytetrafluoroethytene (*PTFE") products, and rubber products; an enginesred praducts segment, which includes our metal polymer bearings, rotary
and reciprocating air compressors, vacuum pumps, air systems and reciprocating compressor compenents; and an engine products and services
segment, which manufactures heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel, natural gas and dual fuel reciprocating engines. For financial information with respect
t0 our business segments, see ltem 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations,”
and Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. tem 7 and Note 16 contain information about sales and profits for each segment, and Note 16
contains information about each segment’s assets.

Sealing Products Segment

OVERVIEW. Qur Sealing Products segment designs, manufactures and sells sealing products, including metallic, non-metaliic and composite material
gaskets, rotary seals, compression packing, resilient metal seals, elastomeric seals, hydraulic components and expansion joints, as well as whee!-end
component systems, PTFE products, conveyor betting and sheeted rubber products. These products are used in a variety of industries, including chemical
and petrochemical processing, petroleum extraction and refining, pulp and paper processing, heavy-duty trucking, power generation, food and phar-
maceutical processing, primary metal manufacturing, mining, water and waste treatment, aerospace, medical, filtration and semiconductor fabrication.
in many of these industries, performance and durabslity are vital for safety and environmental protection. Many of our products are used in applications
that are highty demanding, e.g., where extrame temperatures, extreme pressures, corrosive environments and/or worn equipment make sealing difficult.
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PRODUCTS. Qur Sealing Products segment includes the product lines described betox?r. which are designed, manufactured and sold by our Garlock
Sealing Technologies, Stemce, Plastomer Technologies and Garlock Rubber Technclogies operations.

Gasket products are used for sealing ftange joints In chemical, petrochemical and puip and paper processing facilities where high prassures,
high temperatures and corrosive chemicals create the need for specialized and highlylengineered sealing products. We sell these gasket products
under the Garlock®, Gylon®, Blue-Gard®, Stress-Saver®, Edge®, Graphanic® and Flexseal® brand names. These products have a long-standing reputation
within the industries we serve for performance and reiability,

Rotary seals are used in rotating applications to contain the (ubricants that prote I:t the bearings from excessive friction and heat generation.
Because these sealing products are utilized in dynamic applications, they are subject to wear. Durability, performance, and reliability are, therefore,
tritical requirements of our customers. These rotary seals are used in demanding applications in the steel industry, mining and pulp and paper
processing under well-known brand names including Klozure® and Model 64®,

Compression packing is used to provide sealing in pressurized, static and dynamic applications such as pumps and valves, Major markets for
compression packing products are the pulp and paper, mining, petrechemical and hydrocarbon processing industries. Branded products for these
markets include EVSP™, Synthepak® and Graph-lock®.

Resilient metal seals provide extremely tight sealing performance for highly demanding applications such as nuclear power generation,
semiconductor fabrication facilities, specific chemical processing applications and race car engines. Branded products for these markets include
Helicoflex® and Ultraflex®.

Critical service flange gaskets, seals and electrical fiange isolation kits are used in high-pressure wellhead equipment, flow lines, water injection
lines, sour hydrocarbon process applications and crude ofl ang natural gas pipeline/transmission line applications. These products are sold under the
brand names Pikotek®, VCS™, Flowlo™ and PGE™.

Stemco manufactures a variety of sealing products used by the heavy-duty truckmg industry to improve the performance of wheel end systems
and reduce fleet maintenance. Products for this market include hub oil seals, axle fasteners hub caps, wheel bearings and mileage counters. We
sell these sealing products under the Stemco®, Grit Guard®, Guardian®, Guardian HP® Voyager®, Discover®, Pro-Torg®, Semiinel®, and DataTrac®
brand names.

Plastomer Technologies manufactures PTFE specialty tape, formed PTFE products, and PTFE sheets and shapes. These PTFE products provide
highly specialized and engineered solutions to our customers in the aircraft, fluid handling and semiconductor industries, and are sold under the
Plastolon®, Texolon™ and Amicon™ brand names.

Garlock Rubber Technologies manufactures rubber bearing pads, conveyor belts and other rubber products for industrial applications under the
DuraKing®, FlexKing®, Vibton™, Techflex™ and HeatKing™ brand names,

CUSTOMERS. Qur Sealing Products segment sells products to industrial agents and distribuitors, original equipment manufacturers {*OEMSs”), engineering
and canstruction firms and end users worldwide. Sealing products are offered to global customers, with approximately 43% of sales delivered to
customers outside the United States in 2007. Representative customers include Saudi Aramco Motion Industries, Applied Industrial Technologies,
Electricite de France, AREVA, Bayer, BASF Corporaticn, General Electric Company, Georgla -Pacific Corporation, Eastman Chemical Company, Exxon
Mobil Corporation, Minarra Resources, Queensland Alumina, AK Steel Corparation, Volvo Corporation, Utility Trailer, Great Dane, Mack Trucks,
International Truck, PACCAR and Applied Materials. In 2007, no single customer accoumed for more than 2% of segment revenues.

COMPETITION. Competition in the sealing markeis in which we operate is based on proven product performance and reliability, as well as price, customer
service, application expertise, delivery terms, breadth of product offering, reputation for quality and the availability of the product. Our leading brand
names, including Garlock® and Stemco®, have been built upon lng-standing reputations for reliability and durability. In addition, the breadth, per-
formance and quality of our product offerings aflow us to achieve premium pricing and have made us a preferred supplier among our agents and
distributors. We believe that our record of product performance in the major markets in which this segment operates is a significant competitive
advantage for us. Major competitors include AW, Chesterton Company. Klinger Group, Teadfit, Lamons, SIEM/Flexitallic, SKF USA Inc., Freudenberg-NOK,
Federal-Mogul Corporation and Saint-Gobain.

RAW MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS. Cur Sealing Products segment uses PTFE resins, aramid fibers, specialty elastomers, elastomeric compounds,

graphite and carbon, common and exotic metals, cold-rolled steel, leather, aluminum die: castings, nitrile rubber, powdered metal components, and
various fibers and resins. We believe that all of these raw materials and compaonents are [readily available from various suppliers.
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Engineered Products Segment
OVERVIEW. Qur Engineered Products segment includes operations that design, manufacture and sell seli-fubricating, non-rolling, metal pofymer
bearing products, rotary and reciprocating air compressors, vacuum pumps, air systems and reciprocating compressor components.

PRODUCTS. Our Engineered Products segment includes the product lines described below, which are designed, manufactured and sold by GGB,
Quincy Compressor and Compressor Products Internationat.

GGB produces self-lubricating, non-ralling, metal polymer, sofid polymer and filament wound bearing products. The metal-backed or epoxy-backed
bearing surfaces are made of PTFE or a mixture that includes PTFE to provide maintenance-free performance and reduced friction. These products
typically perform as sleeve bearings or thrust washers under conditions of no lubrication, minimal lubrication or pre-lubrication. These produgts are
used in a wide variety of markets such as the automotive, pump and compressor, construction, power generation and machine tool markets. We have
over 20,000 bearing part numbers of different designs and physical dimensions. GGB™ is a wetl recognized, leading brand name in this product area.

Quincy Compressor® designs and manufactures rotary screw and reciprocating air compressors and vacuum pumps, ranging from one-third to
500 horsepower, used in a wide range of industrial applications, including the pharmaceutical, pulp and paper, gas transmission, health, construction,
peirochemical and automotive industries. Quincy® also sells a comprehensive ine of dryers, filters and air treatment products. In addition, Quincy performs
comprehansive compressed air system audits under the Air Science Engineering™ brand name and manufactures a complete line of pneumatic and
hydraulic cylinders under the Ortman™ brand name.

Compressar Products Intemational designs, manufactures and services components for reciprocating compressors and engines. These components
(packing and wiper assemblies and rings, piston and rider rings, compressor valve assemblies and components) are primarily utilized in the refining,
petrochemical, natural gas transmission and general industrial markets. Compressar Products Intemnational also designs and manifactures the Gar-Seal®
family of lined butterfly valves.

CUSTOMERS. Our Engineered Products segment sells its products to a diverse customer base using a combination of direct sales and independent
distribution networks. GGB has customers worldwide in all major industrial sectors, and supplies products both directly to customers through their
own local distribution system and indirectly to the market through independent agents and distributors with their own local network. Quincy Compressor
products are sotd through a giobal network of independent agents and distributors. Quincy Compressor also sells directly to national accounts, OEMs
and climate control houses. Compressor Products International sells its products globally threugh a network of company salespersons, independent
sales representatives and distributors. In 2007, no single customer accounted for more than 3% of segment revenues.

COMPETITION. GGB has a number of competitors, including Kolbenschmidt Pierburg AG, Norton Company and Federal-Mogul Corporation. In the
markets in which GGB competes, competition is based primarily on performance of the product for specific applications, product seliability, delivery
and price. Quincy Compressor’s major competitors inctude Gardner Denver, Inc., Sullair Corperation, Ingersoli-Rand Company, Atlas Copco North
America Inc. and Kaeser Compressors, Inc. In the markets in which Quincy Compressor competes, competition generally is based on reliability, quality,
delivery times, energy efficiency, service and price. Compressor Preducts International competes against original equipment manufacturers, such as
Dresser Rand, Ingersoll-Rand Company, Cooper Energy Services, Nuovo Pignone and Ariel Compressor and other component manufacturers, such
as C. Lee Cook and Hoerhiger Corporation. Price, availability, product quality and reliability are the primary competitive drivers in the markets served
by Compressor Products Intemational.

RAW MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS. GGB's major raw materia! purchases include steel coil, bronze powder and PTFE. GGB sources companents
from a number of external suppliers. Quincy Compressor's primary raw materials are iron castings. Components used by Quincy Compressor are
motors, coolers and accessories such as air dryers, filters and electronic controls. Compressor Products International's major raw material purchases
include PTFE, PEEK (Polyetheretherketone), compound additives, cast iron, bronze, steel and stainless steel bar stock. We believe that all of these
raw materials and components are readily available from various suppliers.

Engine Products and Services Segment

OVERVIEW. Our Engine Products and Services segment designs, manufactures, sells and services heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel, natural gas and
dual fuel reciprocating engines. We market our products and services under the Fairbanks Morse Enging™ brand name.
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PRODUCTS. In addition to our own designs, our Engine Products and Services segment manufactures licensed heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel,
natural gas and dual fuel reciprocating engines. The reciprocating engines range in size from 700 to 31,970 horsepower and from five to 20 cylinders.
The govemment and the general industrial market for marine propulsion, power generatlon, and pump and compressar applications use these producis.
We have been building engines for over 115 years under the Fairbanks Morse Engine |" brand name ard we have a targe instalied base of engines
for which we supply aftermarket parts and service. Additionally, we have been the U.S. Navy's supplier of ¢hoice for medium-speed diesel engines and
have supplied engines to the U.S. Navy for over 70 years.

CUSTOMERS. Our Engine Products and Services segment sells its products to customers worldwide, including major shipyards, municipal utilities,
institutional and industrial organizations, sewage treatment plants, nuclear power plan;ts and offshore oit and gas platforms, We market our products
through a direct sales force of engineers in North America and through independent agents wortdwide. Our representative customers include Northrop
Grumman, General Dynamics, Lockheed Martin, the U.S. Nawy, the U.S. Coast Guard and Exelon In 2007, the largest customer accounted for approximately
29% of segment revenues.

COMPETITION. Major competitors for our Engine Products and Services segment includ|e MTU, Caterpillar Inc. and Warisila Corporation. Price, delivery
time, and ergine efficiency relating to fuel consumption and emissions drive competition.

RAW MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS. Our Engine Products and Services segment purchases multipte ferrous and non-fermous castings, forgings,
plate stock and bar stock for fabrication and machining into engines. In addition, we buy a considerable amount of precision-machined engine
components. We believe that all of these raw materials and components are readily available from various suppliers.

Research and Development
We refer to our research and development efforts as our “EnNovation” program. The goal of the program is to strengthen our product portfolios for
traditional markets while simultaneously creating distinctive and breakthrough products. “EnNovation” incorporates a process to move product inno-
vations from concept to cornmercialization, and to identify, analyze, develop and implemgnt new product concepts and oppariunities aimed at business
growih. An “EnNovation” steering team comprised of engineering and marketing leaders ¢oordinates and oversees our new progduct development efforts.
We employ scientists, engineers and technicians throughout our operations to de\lfelup, design and test new and improved products. We work
closely with our customers to identify issues and develop technical solutions. The majority of our research and development expenditures are directed
toward the development of new sealing products {or hostile environments, the development of truck and trailer fleet information systems, the devel-
opment of bearing products and materials with superior friction and wear characteristic§, and the extension of our air compressor product line, Prior
to introgduction, new products are subject to extensive testing at our various faciiities and at beta test sites in conjunction with our customers.

Backlog
At December 31, 2007, we had a backlog of orders valued at $268,6 million comparedwith $192.4 million at December 31, 2006. Approximately
30% of the backlog, mainly at Fairbanks Marse Engine, Is expected to be filled teyond %008. Backlog represents orders on hand that we believe to
be firm. However, there is no cerlainty that the backlog orders will In fact result in actual sales at the times or in the amounits ordered. in addition, for
most of our business, backlog is not particutarly predictive of future performance because of our short lead times and some seasonaity.

Quality Assurance
We believe that product quality is among the most important factors in developing and malntalnlng strong, long-term relationships with our customers.
In order to meet the exacting requirements of our customers, we maintain stringent standards of guality control. We routinely employ in-process
inspection by using testing equipment as a process aid during all stages of development, design and production to ensure product quality and refiability.
These include state-of-the-art CAD/CAM equipment, statistical process control sysiems! laser tracking devices, failure mode and effect analysis and
coardinate measuring machings. We are alse able to extract numerical quality control dat ‘ as 4 statistical measurement of the quality of the parts being
manufactured from our CNC machinery. tn addition, we perform quality control tests on palrts that we outsource, As a result, we are able to significantly
reduce the number of defective parts and therefore improve efficiency, quality and reliablility.

As of December 31, 2007, 31 of our manufacturing facilities were 150 9000, QS QpOO and/or TS 16949 certified with the remaining facilities
working towards obtaining ISC and/or TS certification. Twelve of our facilities are (SO 14001 certified. OEMs are ingreasingly requiring these standards
in lieu of individual certification procedures and as a condition of awarding business.
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Patents, Trademarks and Other Intellectual Property

We maintain a number of patents and trademarks issued by the U.S. and other couniries relating to the name and design of our products and have
granted licenses to some of these trademarks and patents. We routinely evaluate the need to protect new and existing products through the patent
and trademark systems in the U.S. and other countries. We also have proprigtary infarmation, consisting of know-how and trade secrets refating to
the design, manufacture and operation of our preducts and their use that is not patented. We do not consider our business as & whole to be materially
dependent upon any particular patent, paient right, trademark, trade secret or license.

In general, we are the owner of the rights to the products that we manufacture and sell. However, we also license patented and other proprigtary
technology and processes from various companies and individuals in order to broaden our product offerings. We are dependent on the ability of these
third parties to difigently protect their intellectual property rights. In several cases, the intellectual property licenses are integral o the manufaciure of
our products. For example, Fairbanks Morse Engine licenses technology from MAN Diesel for the four-stroke reciprocating enging, and Quincy Compressor
licenses from Svenska Rotor Maskiner AB its rotary screw compressor design and technology. A loss of these licenses or a failure on the part of the
third party to protect its own intellectual property could reduce our revenues. Although these licenses are all long-term and subject to renewal, it is
possible that we may not successfully renegotiate these licenses or that they could be terminated for a material breach. If this were to occur, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could e adversely affected.

Employees and Labor Relations
We currently have approximately 4,700 employees worldwide. Approximately 2,700 employees are iocated within the U.S. and approximately
2,000 employees are located outside the U.S., primarily in Europe, Canada and Mexico. Approximately 29% of our LS. employees are members of
trade unions covered by collective bargaining agreements. Union agreements relate, among other things, io wages, hours and conditions of employment.
The wages and benefits furnished are generally comparable to industry and area practices.

We have collective bargaining agreements in place at five of our U.5. facilities. The hourly employees who are unionized are covered by collective
bargaining agreements with a number of labor unions and with varying contract termination dates ranging from August 2008 to June 2012, In addition,
some of our employees located outside the U.S. are subject to national collective bargaining agreements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the risks stated elsewhere in this annual report, set forth below are certain risk factors that we believe are material. If any of these risks
ocour, our business, financial condition, resuits of operations, cash flows and reputation could be harmed. You should ajso consider these risk factors
when you read “forward-looking statements” efsewherg in this report. You can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “hope,”
“will,” *should, ™ "expect,” “plan,” ‘anticipate,” “intend, " “beligva,” “estimate, " “predict,” or “continue,” the negative of those terms or other comparable
terms. Thase forward-looking statements are only predictions and can be adversely affected if any of these risks occtr.

Risks Related to Our Business
Certain of our subsidiaries are defendants in asbestos litigation.

The historicat business operations of certain subsidiarizs of our subsidiary, Coltsc Industries Inc ("Coltec™), principally Garlock Sealing Technologies
LLC and The Anchor Packing Company, have resulted in a substantial volume of asbesios litigation in which plaintiffs have alleged personal injury or
death as a result of exposure {o asbestos fibers. Those subsidiaries manufactured and/or sold industrial sealing products, predominately gaskets and
packing products, that contained encapsulated asbestos fibers. Anchor is an inactive and insolvent indirect subsidiary of Coltec. There is no remaining
insurance coverage available to Anchor, Our subsidiaries’ exposure to ashestos litigation and their relationships with insurance carrigrs are actively
managed through another Coltec subsidiary, Garrison Litigation Management Group, Ltd. Several risks and uncertainties may resuli In potential liabilities
to us in the future that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Those risks
and unceriainties includs the following:

¢ the potential for a large number of future asbestos claims that are not covered by insurance because insurance coverage is, or will be, depleied;

« the uncertainty of the per claim value of pending and potential future asbestos claims;

+ the restilts of litigation and the success of our litigation and settlement strategies;

« the potential for large adverse judgments against us resulting from any required payments not covered by insurance and any surety/appeal bonds
{and related cash collateral} required in connection with appeals;

» anincrease in litigation costs, fees and expenses that are not covered by insurance;

« the financial viability of our subsidiaries' insurance carriers and their reinsurance carriers, and our subsidiaries’ ability to collect on claims from them;

« the timing of claims, paymenis and insurance recoveries, and limitations imposed on the amount that may be recovered from insurance in any year,
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= the unavailability of any insurance for claims alteging first exposure {o asbestos aﬁerJuly 1,1984;

* the potential for asbestos exposure to extend beyond specific Colte subsidiaries ansmg from corporate veil piercing efforts or other claims by
ashestos plaintiffs;

» bankruptcies of other defendants; and

* the prospect for and impact of any federal legislation providing national asbestos litigation reform.

To the extent our subsidiaries” insurance is depleted or the payments required in any given year exceed the annual limitations on insurance
recoveries from our subsidiaries’ carriers, our subsidiaries would be required to fund these obligations from available cash. This could adversely affect
our ability to use cash for other purposes, inciuding growth of our business, and adversely affect our financial condition.

In-addition, our estimated tiability for claims is highly uncertain and is based on subjective assumptions. The actual liability could vary significantly
from the estimate recorded in cur financial statements.

Because of the uncertainty as to the number and timing of potential future asbestos claims, as well as the amount that will have to be paid to
setile or satisfy any such claims in the future (including significant bonds required by certain states while we appeal adverse verdicts), and the finite
amount of insurance available for future payments, future asbestos claims could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

For a further discussion of our asbestos exposure, see “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Contingencies — Asbestos.”

Our business and some of the markets we serve are cyclical and changes in general market conditions could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

The markets in which we sell our products, particularly chemical companies, petroleusn refineries, heavy-duty trucking, semiconducior manufacturing,
capital equipment and the autemative industry, are, to varying degrees, cyclical and havq historically experienced periodic downtums, Prior downturms
have been characterized by diminished product demand, excess manufacturing capacity and subsequent erosion of average selling pricas in these
markets resulting in negative effects on our net sales, gross margins and net income. Economic downturns or other material weakness in demand in
any of these markets could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial cohdition, results of operations and cash flows.

We face intense competition that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We encounter intense competition in almost all areas of our business. Customers tbr many of our products are attempting to reduce the number
of vendors from which they purchase in order to reduce inventories. To remain cornpeiitivé, we need to invest continuously in manufacturing, marketing,
customer service and support and our distribution networks. We also need to develop new products to continue to meet the needs and desires of
our customers. We may not have sufficient resources to continue to make such investments or maintain our competitive posttion. Additionally, some
of our competitors are larger than we are and have substantially greater financial resources than we do. As a result, they may be better able to with-
stand the effects of periodic economic downturns. Pricing and other competitive pressur'es could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

It we fail to retain the independent agents and distributors upon whom we rely to market our products, we may be unabte to effectively
market our products and our revenue and profitability may decline.
Our marketing success in the U.S. and abroad depends largely upon our mdependent agents’ and distrihutors’ sales and service expertise and
relationships with custemers in our markets. Many of these agents have developed strong ties to existing and potential customers because of their
detailed knowtedge of our products. A loss of a significant number of these agents or distributors, or of a particular agent or distributor in a key market
or with key customer refationships, could significantty inhibit our ability to effectively market our products, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, resulis of operations and cash flows.

Increased costs for raw materials or the termination of existing supply agreements could have a matetial adverse effect on our business.

The prices for raw materials we purchase increased in 2007, While we have been successful in passing along a portion of these higher costs,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue doing so withaut losing custonpers Similarly, the loss of a key supplier or the unavailability
of a key raw material could acversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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We have exposure to some contingent liabilities relating to discontinued operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in any fiscal period.

We have some contingent liabilities related to discontinued operations of our predecessors, including environmenial liabitities and fiabilities for
certain produgts and other matters, In some instances, we have indemnified others against those liabilities, and in other instances, we have received
indemnities from third parties against those liabilities.

Claims could arise relating to products or other matters related to our discontinued operations. Some of these claims could seek substantial
monetary damages. Specifically, we may potentiatly be subject to the liabilities related to the firearms manufactured prior to 1990 by Colt Firearms,
a former operation of Coltec, and for electrical ransformers manufactured prior to 1994 by Central Moloney, another former Coltec operation, Coltec
also has ongoing obligations with regard to workers compensation, retiree medical and other retiree benefit matters associated with discontinued
operations that relate to Coltec's periods of ownership of those operations.

We have insurance, reserves and funds held in trust to address these liabilities. However, if our insurance coverage is depleted, our reserves
are not adequate or the funds held in trust are insufficient, environmental and other fiabilities relating to discontinued operations could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We conduct a significant amount of our sales activities outside of the LS., which subjects us to additional business risks that may cause
our profitability to decline.

Because we sell our products in a number of foreign countries, we are subject to risks associated with doing business internationally. In 2007,
we derived approximately 45% of our revenues from sales of our products outside of the U.S. Our international operations are, and will continug to
be, subject to a number of risks, including:

unfavorable fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,

adverse changes in foreign tax, legal and regulatory requirements;
difficulty in protecting inteltectual property;

{rade protection measures and import or export licensing requirements;
differing labor regulations;

political and economic instability; and

acts of hostility, terror or war.

Any of these factors, individually or together, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of eperations and
cash flows.

We intend to continue to pursue international growth opportunities, which could increase our exposure to risks associated with international
sales and operations. As we expand our international operations, we may also encounter new risks that could adversely affect our revenues and
profitability. For example, as we focus on building our international sales and distribution networks in new geographic regions, we must continue to
develop relationships with qualified local agents, distributors and trading companies. If we are not successful in developing these relationships, we
may not be able to increase sales in these regions.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights and knowledge relating to our products, our business and prospects may
be negatively impacted.

We believe that proprietary products and technology are impostant to our success. If we are unable 10 adequately protect our intellectual property
and know-how, our business and prospects coutd be negatively impacted. Our effarts to protect our intellsctual property through patents, trademarks,
service marks, domain names, trade secreis, copyrights, confidentiality, non-compete and nondisclosure agreements and other measures may not
be adequate to protect our proprietary rights. Patents issued to third parties, whether before or after the issue date of our patents, could render our
intellectual property less valuable. Questions as to whether our competitors’ products infringe our intellectual property rights or whether our products
infringe our competitors' intellectuat property rights may be disputed. In addition, intellectual property rights may be unavailable, limited or difficult to
enforce in some jurisdictions, which could make it easier for competitors to capture market share in those jurisdictions.

Our competitors may capture market share from us by selling products that claim to mirror the capabilities of our products or technology. Without
sufficient protection nationally and internationally for our intellectual property, our competitiveness worldwide could be impaired, which would negatively
impact our growth and future revenue. As a resutt, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and police our intellectual property rights.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Qur Common Stock
The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile.
A relatively small number of shares traded in any ong day could have a significant affect on the market price of our common stock. The market
price of our common stock could fluctuate significanily for many reasons, including in response to the risks described in this section and elsewhere
in this report or for reasons unrelated to our operations, such as reports by industry ar'!alysts, investor perceptions or negative announcements by our
customers, competitors or suppliers regarding their own periormance, as well as industry conditions and general financial, economic and political
instability. In particular, reports concerning asbestos litigation or asbestos reform could cause a significant increase or decrease in the market price
of our common stock.

Because our quarterly revenues and operating results may vary significantly inI future periods, our stock price may fluctuate.

Our revenue and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, A high proportion of our costs are fixed, due in part to significant
selling and manufacturing costs. Small declines in revenues could disproportionately alﬁect operating resulis in a quarier and the price of our common
stock may fatl. We may also incur charges to income to cover increases in the estimate of our subsidiaries’ future asbestos liability. Other factors that
could affect quarterly operating results include, but are not limited {o;

¢ demand for our products;

« the timing and execution of customer contracts;

* the timing of sales of our products;

* payments related fo asbestos liigation or annual costs related to asbestos litigation that are not covered by insurance;

« the timing of receipt of insurance proceeds;

 increases in manufacturing cosis due to equipment or labor issues;

« changes in foreign currency exchange rates;

* unanticipated delays or problems in introducing new preducts;

* announcements by competitors of new products, services or technological innovations;

* changas in gur pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors;

* increased expenses, whether refated to sales and marketing, raw materials or supplies, produci development or administration;

» major changes in the level of economic activity in North America, Europe, Asia and gther major regions in which we do business:

» costs related o possible future acquisitions or divestitures of technologies or busint'esses;

* an increase in the number or magnitude of product liability claims;

= our ability to expand our operations and the amount and timing of expenditures related to expansion of our operations, particularty outside the
United States; and

* gconomic assumptions and market factors used to determine post-retirement benefits and pension liabilities.

Various provisions and jaws coutd delay or prevent a change of control,
The anti-takeover provisions of our articles of incorporaticn and bylaws, our shareholder rights plan and provisions of North Carolina law could

delay or prevent a change of control or may impede the ahility of the holders of cur common stock to change our managemest. In particular, our articles

of incorporation and bylaws, amang other things, will;

* require a supermajority shareholder vote to approve any business combination transaction with an owner of 5% or mare of our shares unless
the transaction is recommended by disinterested directors;

+ divide our board of directors into three classes, with members of each class to be elected for staggered three-year terms, if our board is
expanded to nine members;

+ limit the right of shareholders to remove directors and fill vacancies;

* requiate how shareholders may present proposats or nominate directors for e\ectionlat shareholders' meetings; and

e authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock in one or more series, without shareholder approval.

Our shareholder rights plan will also make an acquisition of a centralling interest in EnPro in a transaction not approved by our board of directors
more difficult.
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Future sales of our common stock in the public market could lower the market price for our common stock and adversely impact the
trading price of our convertible debentures.

In the future, we may sell additional shares of our common stock to raise capital. In addition, a substantial number of shares of our common
stock are reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options and upon conversion of our convertitle debentures. We cannot predict the size of
future issuances or the effect, if any, that they may have on the market price for cur common stock. The issuance and sales of substantial ameunts
of common stock, or the pesception that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the trading price of the debentures and the
market price of our commaon stock.

Absence of dividends could reduce our attractiveness to investors.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. Moreover, cur current senior secured credit facility restricts our ability 1o pay
cash dividends on common stock if availability under the facility falls below $20 million, As a result, qur common stock may be tess attractive to certain
investors than the stock of companies with a history of paying regular dividends.

Risks Related to Cur Capital Structure
Our debt agreement imposes limitations on our operations, which could impede our ability to respond to market conditions, address
unanticipated capital investments and/or pursue business apportunities.

We have a $75 million senior secured revolving credit facility that imposes limitations on our operations, such as fimitations on distributions,
limitations on incurrence and repayment of Indebtedness, and maintenance of a fixed charge coverage financial ratio. These limitations could impede
aur ability to respond to market conditions, address unanticipated capital investment needs and/or pursue business opportunities.

We may not have sufficient cash to repurchase our convertible debentures at the option of the halder or upon a change of control or to
pay the cash payable upon a conversion.

Upon a change of control, subject to certain conditions, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase for cash all outstanding convertible
debentures at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, including liquidated damages, If any, up to but not including the daie
of repurchase. Upon a conversion, we will be required to make a cash payment of up to $1,000 for each $1,000 in principal amount of debeniures
convertad. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able 1o obtain financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of tendered
debentures or settiement of converted debentures. Any credit facility in ptace at the time of a repurchase or conversion of the debentures may also
limit our ability to use borrowings 10 pay any cash payable on a repurchase or conversion of the debentures and may prohibit us from making any
cash payments on the repurchase or conversion of the debentures if a default or event of default has cccurred under that sacility without the consent
of the lenders under that credit tacility. Our current $75 million senior secured credit facility prohibits distributions from our subsidiaries 1o us to make
payments of interest on the debentures if a default or event of default exists under the facility. Our senior secured credit facility also prohibits prepayments
of the debentures ar distributions from our subsidiaries o us to make principa! payments or payments upon conversion of the debentures if a default
or event of default exists under the facility or the amount of the borrowing base under the facifity, less the amount of outstanding borrowings under
the facility and tetters of credit and reserves, is less than $20 million. Our failure to repurchase tendered debentures at a time when the repurchase
is required by the indenture or to pay any cash payabla on a conversion of the debentures would constitute a default under the indenture. A default
under the indenture or the change of control itseli could lead to a defauls under the other existing and future agreements governing our indebtedness.
If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to
repay the indebtedness and repurchase the debentures or make cash payments upon conversion thereof,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable,
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina and have 42 primary manufacturirlg facilities in 10 states within the U.S. and 10 countries outside
of the U.5. The following table outlines the location, business segment and size of our largest facilities, along with whether we own or lease each facility:

Owned/ Size
Location Segment Leased (Square Feet)
us.
Patmyra, New York Sealing Products Owned 638,000
Longview, Texas Sealing Products Owned 210,000
Paragould, Arkansas Sealing Products Owned 142,000
Quincy, Minois Engineered Products Owned 323,000
Bay Minette, Alabama Engineered Products Leased 143,000
Thorofare, New Jersey Engineered Products Owned 120,000
Beloit, Wisconsin Engine Products and Services Owmed 433,000
Foreign
Mexico City, Mexico -;Sealing Products Owned 131,000
Saint Etienne, France lSealing Products Owned 108,000
Annecy, Frarice Engineered Products Leased 196,000
Heilbronn, Garmary Engineered Products Owned 127,000
Sucany, Slovakia Engineered Products Owned 109,000

Our manufacturing capabilities are flexible and aflow us to customize the manuf?cturing process to increase performance and value for our
customers and meet particular specifications. We also maintain numerous sales offices and warehouse facilities in strategic locations in the U.S.,
Canada and other countries. We believe that all of our facilities and equipment are in g'ood condition and are well maintained and able to continue
to operate at present levels, '

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Descriptions of environmenial, asbestos and legal matters are included in ltem 7 of this annual report under the heading “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations — Contingencies” and'in Note 17 to our Consotidated Financial Statements which
descriptions are incarporated by reference herain.

In addition to the matiers referenced above, we are from time to time subject o, anld are presently involved in, other litigation and legal procesdings
arising in the ordinary course of business. We believe that the outcome of such other litigation and legal proceedings will not have a material adverse
affect on our financial condition, results of cperations or cash fiows.

We were not required to pay any penalties for failure to disclose certain “reportable transactions” under Saction 6707A of the Internal Revenue Code.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information concerning our executive officers is set forth below:

Name Age Position
Emest F. Schaub 64 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
William Dries 56 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Richard L. Magee 50 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
J. Milton Childress Il 50 Vice President, Strategic Planning and

Business Development
Donald G. Pomeroy Il 40 Vice President and Controller
Robert D. Rehley 47 Vice President and Treasurer

Ernest F. Schaub is currently President and Chief Executive Officer and has held these positions since May 2002. He is also a director of the
.ompany. From 1999 until joining the Company, he was Executive Vice President of Goodrich Cerporation and President and Chief Operating Officer
of Goodrich's Engineered Industrial Products Segment. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Schaub was Group President, Landing Systems of Goadvich. Mr. Schaub
joined Goadrich in 1971, and held a variety of engineering, manufacturing and management positions.

William Dries is currently Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and has held these positions since May 2002. He served as a consultant
to Goodrich Corporation from September 2001 through December 2001 and was employed by Coltec Industries Inc from January 2002 through
April 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Dries was employed by United Dominion Industries, tnc. He was Serior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
United Dominion from December 1999 until May 2001, having previously served as Senior Vice President — Finance, Vice President and Controller,
Mr. Dries, a certified public accountant, was with Ernst & Young LLP in New York prior to joining United Dominion in 1985.

Richard L. Magee is currently Senior Vice President, General Counsef and Secretary and has held these pasitions since May 2002, He served
as a consultant to Goodrich Corporation from October 2001 through December 2001, and was employed by Coltec Industries Inc from January 2002
through Aprit 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Magee was Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of United Dominion industries, Inc. frem April
2000 until July 2001, having previously served as Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel. Mr. Magee was a partner in the Charlotte, North
Carolina Jaw firm Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A. prior to joining United Dominion in 1989.

J. Milton Childress |l joined the EnPra corporate staff in December 2005, Mr. Childress was elected Vice President, Strategic Planning and
Business Development in February 2006. He was a co-founder of and served from Qctober 2001 through December 2005 as Managing Director of
Charlotte-based McGuireWoods Capital Group. Prior to that, Mr. Childress was Senior Vice President, Planning and Development of United Dominion
Industries, Inc. from December 1998 until May 2001, having previously served as Vice President. Mr. Childress held a number of positions with Emst &
Young's corporate finance consulting group prior 10 joining United Dominion in 1992,

Donald G. Pomeroy If is currently Vice President and Controller and has held this position since September 2007. Mr. Pomeroy served as the
Vice President, Finance for Garlock Sealing Technologies from August 2004 until August 2007, having previously served as the Company's Vice President
and Controller from May 2002 through August 2004, He was Vice President, Finance and Information Technology at Stemco for Coltec Industries Inc
from August 1998 untif October 2001, and an employee of Coltec Industries Inc from November 2001 through May 2002. From May 1995 to Febnuary
1996, Mr. Pomeroy was a financial analyst, and from February 1996 to August 1998, he was Controller — Intemational Operations at Gartock Sealing
Technologles. Prior to joining Garlock Sealing Technologies, Mr. Pomeray, a certified public accountant, was with Coopers & Lybrand LLP.

Robert D. Rehley is currently Vice President and Treasurer and has held these positions since May 2002. He was employed by Coltec Industries
Inc from January 2002 through April 2002, Mr. Rehley was Assistant Treasurer of Metaldyne Corporation from October 2001 to January 2002, and
was Executive Director — Corporate Tax for Metaldyne from December 2000 untit October 2001. Previously, he was Treasurer of Simpson Industries
from April 1998 until December 2000. Mr. Rehley was Director — Finance and Business Development for Cummins Engine Company, Inc. from
October 1996 until April 1998.
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PART i

ITEM 5. REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock is publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) unde
NYSE listing standards, we filed with the NYSE the centification of our Chief Executive Off
corporate governance listing standards.

r the symbol “NPO." As required by Section 3.03A.12(a) of the
icer that he is not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE

As of February 15, 2008, there were 5,440 holders of record of our common stock. The price range of our common stock from January 1, 2006

threugh December 31, 2007 is listed below by quarter:

Low High
Sale Price Sale Price
Fiscal 2007
Fourth Quarter $29.65 $43.32
Third Quarter 3.0 46.46
Second Quarter 35.85 4499
First Quarter 30.87 40.70
Fiscal 2006:
Fourth Quarter $29.49 $35.75
Third Quarter 29.28 35.01
Second Quarter .61 40.08
Firgt Quarter 26.30 34.70

We did not declare any cash dividends to our shareholdars during 2007. For a discus

sion of the restrictions on payment of dividends on our comman

stock, see “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and F{esulté of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Dividends."
The following table sets forth all purchases made by us or on our behalf or any \affiliated purchaser,” as defined in Rule 10b-18{a)(3) under the
Exchange Act, of shares of our common stock during each menth in the fourth quarter of 2007.

(dh Maximum Number (or
{c) Total Number of Shares  Approximate Dollar Value) of
{2) Total Number of {b) Average Price {or Units) Purchasedas ~ Shares {or Units) that May
Shares {or Units) Paid perJ Share  Part of Publicly Announced  Yet Be Purchased Under the

Period Purchased (0 Unity Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
October 1 - October 31, 2007 0 - - -
November 1 — November 30, 2007 - - - -
December 1 - December 31, 2007 1,228 $30.56 - -
Total 1,228 $30.56 - -

{1) Shares were transierred to a rabbi trust that we established in connection with our Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Direciors, pursuant to which

non-employae directors may elect to deder directors' feas into common stock units. Coltec,
exchange for management and other services provided by EnPro. These shares were valued
our commeon stock on December 31, 2007. We do not cansider the transter of shares from Col
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CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Set forth below is 4 line graph showing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total shareholder return for our commen stock as compared
to similar returns for the Russell 2000® Stock Index and a group of our peers congisting of Flowserve Corporation, Robbins & Myers, Inc., Gardner
Denver, Inc., Circor International, Inc., IDEX Corporation and The Gormann-Rupp Company. These manufacturing companies were chosen because
they are all similarly situated to EnPra in terms of size and markets served. Each of the returns is calculated assuming the investment of $100 in each
of the securities on December 31, 2002 and relnvestment of dividends into additional shares of the respective equity securities when paid. The graph
plots the respective values beginning on December 31, 2002 and continuing through December 31, 2007. Past performance is not necessarily
indicative of future performance.

$900
675
450
0 )
[12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/08 12/31/07|
m EpPro Industries, Inc.  100.00 348.75 739.25 £73.75 830,25 766.25
== Peer Group Index 100.00 130.09 175.22 206.62 282.49 400.90
w— Rssell 2000 Index 100.00 145,37 170.81 176.48 206.61 196.40

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following historical consolidated financial information as of and for each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003
has been derived from, and should be read together with, our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes, for each of those years.
The audited Consalidated Financial Statements and related notes as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 are included elsewhere in this annual report. The information presented below with respect to the last three completed fiscal years
should alse be read together with Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of perations.”

Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales $1,030.0 $ 9284 $ 8386 $ 8263 $§ 7304

Income (loss} before extracrdinary item $ 377 $(15899 ¢ 586 § 338 § 332
Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets (! $1,470.3 $1,406.6 $1,276.2 $1,181.0 $1,020.7

Long-term debt (including current portion) $ 1857 $ 1857 $ 185.2 $ 1648 $ 1702
Per Common Share Data — Diluted:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 1.80 $ (760 § 275 $ 160 $ 1.6

(1) For years prior to 2005, the total assets reported in the table ahove contain immaterial errors relating to the translation ef foreign currency denominated goodwill
and other intangible assets. I the translation adjustments had been properly recarded, total assets would have been $1,213.2 million and $1,044.2 millian for the
years 2004 and 2003, respectively. There would have been no impact upon net income, earnings per share or cash flows for any of these periods due to the errors.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The foliowing Is management's discussion and analysis of certain significant factors that have affected our consalidated financial condition and operating
results during the periods included in the accompanying audited Consolidated Hnancr'a{ Statements and the relaled notes. You should read the following
discussion in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes, included elsewhere in this annual report.

Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains certain statements that are “forward-fooking statements” as rhal ferm is defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 (the "Act’) and releases issued by the Securities and Exchange Commfssron The words “may,” “hope,” “will,” “shauld, " “expect,” “plan,”

“anticipate,” "intend, " "believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” and other expressions which are predictions of or indicate future events
and Irends and which do not relale to historical matters identify forward-fooking statements. We believe that it is important to communicate our future
expectations to our shareholders, and we therefore make forward-looking statements in refiance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Act. However,
there may be events in the future that we are not able to accurately predict or control, and our actual results may differ materially from the expectations
we describe in our forward-looking statements, Forward-looking statements involve k/lmwn and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which
may cause our actual resufts, performance or achievements fo differ materially from ant;apared future results, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by such forward-looking statements. We advise you to read further about oledam of these and other risk factors set forth in ftem 1A of this
annugl report, entitled “Risk Factors” We undertake no obligation to publicly update of revise any forward-looking statement either as a result of new
information, future events or atherwise. Whenever you read or hear any subsequent witten or oral forware-looking statements atiributed to us or any
person acting on our behalf, you should keep in mind the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section.

Overview
OVERVIEW. EnPro is a leader in the design, development, manufacturing and markgting of proprietary engineered industrial products. We have
42 primary manufacturing facilities located in the United States and 10 countries outslide the United States.

We focus on four management initiatives: improving operational efficiencies through our Total Customer Value, or TCV, lean enterprise program;
expanding our product offerings and customer base through our EnMovation initiative end new operations in new geographic markets; strengthening
the mix of our business by strategic acquisitions and divestitures; and managing the alsbestos settlements of our subsidiaries to minimize the impact
on cash flows and enhance our liquidity. We belisve these strategic initiatives will increase our sales growth, increase our gross profit, provide additional
earnings leverage over ime through reduced manufacturing, selling and administrative expenses as a percent of revenug, increase our income from
continuing operations, and provide the cash required to sustain and grow the Company.

We manage our business as three segments: a sealing products segment, anfengineered products segment, and an engine products and
services segment.

Our Sealing Products segment designs, manufactures and sells sealing products, including metallic, non-metallic and composite material gaskets,
rotary seals, compressian packing, resilient metal seals, elastomeric seals, hydrautic corgponents and expansion joints, as well as wheel-end component
systems, PTFE products, conveyor belting and sheeted rubber products. These products are used in a variety of industries, including chemical and
petrochemical processing, petroleum extraction and refining, pulp and paper processing, heavy-duty trucking, power generation, food and pharma-
ceutical processing, primary metal manufacturing, mining, water and waste treatmentiand semiconductor fabrication.
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Qur Engineered Products segment includes operations that design, manufacture and sell self-lubricating, non-rolling, metal-potymer bearings,
filament wound sofid polymer bearings, aluminum blocks for hydraulic applications, rotary and reciprocating air compressors, vacuum pumps, air
systems and resiprocating compressor components. These products are used in a wide range of applications, including the automotive, pharmaceutical,
pulp and paper, gas transmission, heatth, construction, petrochemical and general industrial markets.

On July 31, 2007, we acquired Compressor Products Intemational Ltd. and combined its operations with the operations of France Compressor
Products in the Engineered Products segment. Beginning in May 2006, we completed four smaller acquisitions for France Compressor Products.
The four are Allwest Compressor Services, Southwest Compressor Services, H.A.R. Compressor Products and Texflo Machining Ltd. This combination
of companies created the world's leading manufacturer of reciprocating compressor components and ene of the world’s largest producers of recip-
rocating compressor valves. To accurately reflect the combined company's products, intermational presence and objectives for growih, these operations
conduct business under the Compressor Products Intemational brand name. We now refer to these operations as Compressor Products International,
or CPL

Our Engine Products and Services segment designs, manufactures, sells and services heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel, natural gas and dual
fuet reciprocating engines. The United States government and general market for marine propulsion, power generation, and pump and compressor
applications use these products and services.

As described elsewhere in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, we actively manage the
asbestas claims against our subsidiaries and have a sizeable amount of insurance remaining for the payment of these claims. We accrue an estimated
liability for both pending and future asbestos claims for the next ten years. For additional information on this subject, see " Contingencigs-Asbestos.”

Outlook

We continue to make progress in connection with our strategies to improve operating efficiency through our TCV initiative; to expand our product
offerings, our markets, and our customer base; to strengthen the mix of our businesses; and to manage ashestos settlements by our subsidiaries.
COur strang liquidity, cash flows and relatively low debt ratio provide us with a sound financial base upon which we can continue to grow the company.

We expect sales to increase in 2008 compared to 2007, mainly because of improved volumes from market share gained as a result of new
products and geographic expansion; market growth; full year results associated with the acquisitions completed in 2007; and price increases. We
expect higher sales volumes, productivity improvements and restructuring initiatives associated with our TCV lean manufacturing program, continued
focus on low cost manufacturing operations, and price increases to contribute to operating marging and increased operating profits in 2008.

Improvements in operating margins may be offset, in whole or in part, by the effect of the acquisition of operations with operating margins less
than our existing businesses primarily due to amortization of the intangible assets of the acquired operations. We expect gross profit wilt continue to
increase as a result of acquisitions, but operating margins may increase, be flat or decline depending on the operating margins of the acquired operations
and their proportion of our total results.

We anticipate that cash flows in 2008 wilt benefit from improved operating income partially offset by increases in capital expenditures and net
asbestos-related payments. Capital spending in 2008 is expected to be higher than 2007 levels as a result of continued investments to expand geo-
graphically, and our strategy o improve operational efficiency. Net asbestos-related payments are expected to increase in 2008 because we expect
to collect significantly less from our insurance than in 2007.

As part of our operating strateqgy to strengthen our mix of businesses, we will continue to evaluate strategic acquisitions and divestitures in 2008;
however, the impact of such acquisitions or divestitures cannot be predicted and therefore is not reflected in this cutlook.
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Resdlts of Operations
Years Ended December 31,
{in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Sales
Sealing Products $ 4573 $4325 $3929
Engineered Products 445.5 391.7 346.0
Engine Products and Services l 1281 105.2 1011
| 10309 929.4 840.0
Intersegment sales (0.9 (1.0 (t.4)
Total sales $1,030.0 $928.4 $838.6
Segment Profit
Sealing Progucts $ 780 $ 765 $ 66.1
Engineered Products 69.4 615 454
Engine Products and Services 15.3 49 59
Total segment profit 162.7 142.9 117.4
Corporate expensas {34.1) (31.6) {25.5)
Ashestos-related expenses (68.4) {359.4) {11.7
Gain {loss) on sale of assets, net - (0.6) 5.8
Interest income {expense), net 0.2 (3.2) 6.1)
Other income (expense), net (2.4) 2.3 12.2
Income (loss) before income taxes 58.0 (254.2} 92.1
Income tax benefit {expense) (20.3) 95.3 (33.5
tncome (loss) before extraordinary item 7 (158.9) 58.6
Extraordinary item, net of taxes 25 - -
Net income (oss) | s 42 $(158.9) $ 586
Segment profit is total segment revenue reduced by operating expenses and restructuring and other costs identifiable with the segment. Corporate
expenses include general corporate administrative costs. Expenses not directly attributable to the seqments, corporate expenses, net interest expense,
ashestos-related expenses, gains/losses or impairments related to the sale of assets and income taxes are not included in the computation of segment
profit. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those for EnPro.

2007 Compared to 2006 |
Sales were $1.03 billion in 2007, a new record and an 11% increase compared to the $928.4 million recorded in 2006. Increases in foreign currency
exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar, with the euro being the most significant, and acquisitions completed in 2007 added approximately six percentage
points to revenue growth on a year-over-year basis. The five percentage points of orga'nic growth were the result of stronger demand from Garlock
Sealing Technologies’ U.S. and European markets, higher shipments fram GGB’s Europt;an operations, continued strong demand in the energy-related
markets of Comprassor Products International, increased engine and parts shipments from Fairbanks Morse Engine, and selected price increases at
several businesses. These favorable variances were partially offset by lower OEM and flftermarket volumes in Stemco's heavy duty truck markei, a
drop in demand for Plastomer Technologies' products in the semiconductor and industlrial markets, and a small decrease in shipments from Quincy
Compressor, coming off of a strong year in 2006, for key markets such as energy, industriat and contractors.

Segment profit, one of management's primary measures of how our operations perform, increased 14% from $142.9 miflion in 2006 to
$162.7 million in 2007. Segment profit was impacted by selected price increases and ingreased sales volume at several businesses, improved margins
on Fairbanks Morse Engine shipments, a contract loss provision for Fairbanks Morse E'ngine in 2006 that dic not recur this year, a reduction in U.S.
defined benefit pension expense, contributions from acquisiticns, and favorable foreign currency exchange rates. The defined benefit pension expense
declined because amendments to our U.S. salaried defined benefit plan implemented in the first quarter of 2007 lowered service costs and because
returng on pension assets impraved. Despite the lower demand experienced by Quincy Compressor and Garlock Rubber Technologies, each contributed
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to the year-over-year increase in segment profit as a result of cost savings and price increases. Volume declines at Stemco and Plastemer Technologies
and an increase in restructuring expenses in 2007 partially offset the favorable affects of the previously mentioned items. Restructuring expenses in
2007 were $6.0 million compared to $2.3 million in 2006. The restructuring costs in each year were primarily for the modernization project at the
Garlock Sealing Technologies facilities in Palmyra, New York. Segment margins, defined as segment profit divided by sales, increased from 15.4% in
2006 to 15.8% in 2007.

Ashestos expenses in 2007 were $68.4 million and included net cash outlays of $25.8 million for legal fees and expenses incurred during the
year and $42.6 milfion in non-cash charges to maintain a ten-year liability estimate for future cfaims and to reftect an adjustment to our internal estimate
of the liability. In 2006, asbestos expenses were $358.4 million. The higher expense in 2006 was primarily the result of an adjustment we made to
record the asbestos liability at & point that we believe to be the best estimate within our outside expert’s range of equally likely estimates for the next
ten years. For a further discussion of asbestos expenses, see “— Contingencies — Asbestos.”

Net interest income in 2007 was $0.2 million compared to net interest expense of $3.2 mitlion last year. The net interest income was a result
of the increase in invested cash balances while the yield on those funds was essentially flat.

Cur effective tax rate for 2007 was 35.0% compared to 37.5% in 2006, The decrease in the rate for 2007 was principally due to the effect on
our deferred tax balances of the enaciment of reduced income and trade tax rates in Germany. This was partially offset by an unfavorable change in
the mix of foreign and U.S. state and local taxable income.

In 2007, we recorded an exdraordinary gain of $2.5 million, net of $1.6 million of taxes, related to the acquisition of the outstanding shares of a
subsidiary hetd by minority shareholders.

Following is a discussion of operating results for each segment during the year:

SEALING PRODUCTS. Sales of $457.3 million in 2007 were 6% higher than the $432.5 million reported in 2006. The favorabte impact of the euro
accounted for three percentage points of the growth, Sales at Garlock Sealing Technologigs benefited from increased demand in its European markets,
continued strength in the oil and gas sector, selected price increases and the stronger euro. Aftermarket and CEM sales decreased at Stemco due to
lower demand in the U.S. heavy-duty truck markes. Fewer new trucks and trailers were built as usage of existing trucks declined. A decling in sales
to Plastomer Technologies® semiconductor market partially offset the increase attributable to including the Amicon business, acquired in July 2008,
far a full year in 2007.

Segment profit increased by 2% from $76.5 million in 2006 to $78.0 million in 2007 . Profits at Garlock Sealing Technologies benefited from
higher volumes and selacted price increases. These benefits were partially offset by increased restructuring costs for the modemization project at
the Garlock Seating Technologies facilities in Palmyra, NY and additiona! spending in marketing, business development and R&D. Stemco reportad a
decline in profit in connection with its sales decrease and increased costs, but the decline was partially mitigated by price increases. Garlock Rubber
Technologies increased its profit significantly in 2007 by focusing on cost reductions that increased operating margins. Lower volumes negatively
impacted Plastomer Technologies’ results, as did increased restructuring expenses for the reorganization of its facilities. Segment margins decreased
from 17.7% in 2006 10 17.1% in 2007.

ENGINEERED PRODUCTS. Sales of $445.5 million in 2007 were 14% higher than the $391.7 million reported in 2006. The increase in the value of
the euro and the acquisitions completed in 2007 favorably impacted revenue by eleven percentage points when compared to 2006. Sales for Compressor
Products International were higher in 2007 due to the additional volume from the acquisitions completed in 2006 and 2007 and increased activity in
its North American and European marksts. In 2007, GGB benefited from the favorable euro exchange rate and increased volume in Eurape. Quincy
Compressor's sales were helow the record levels of 2006 as demand declined in energy and construction markets.

Segment profits of $69.4 million in 2007 ware 13% higher than the $61.5 million reparted in 2006. GGB’s profits increased in 2007, when
compared to 2006, due to higher volumes, a stronger euro and selected price increases. Profits at Compressor Products International improved
principally as a result of the acquisitions and selected price increases. However, amortization of intangible assets associated with the acquisitions
resulted in lower operating margins at both CPl and the segment. Despite the decling in revenue, Quincy Compressor was able to increase its profit-
ability slightly as a result of price increases and cost reductions. Segment marging were essentially flat at 15.6% in 2007 and 15.7% in 2006.

ENGINE PRODUCTS AND SERVICES. Sales increased 22% from the $105.2 million reported in 2006 to $128.1 million in 2007. About half of the increase
was attributable to additional engine and related parts shipments for U.S. Navy shipbuilding programs with the other half from sales of aftermarket
parts and service and selected price increases.

The segment reported a profit of $15.3 million in 2007 compared to $4.9 million in 2006. The year-over-year improvement was a result of better
masgins on engine shipments, an increase in parts shipments, which have better margins than engine sales, net cost savings in manufacturing and
administration expenses, and a $3.1 million contract loss on a U.S. Navy engine program recorded in 2006. Segment marging in 2007 were 11.9%
compared to 4.7% in 2006.
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2006 Compared to 2005
Sales increased 11% from $838.6 million in 2005 to $928.4 million in 2006. Sales in 2006 were favorably impacted by increased demand in Garlock
Sealing Technologies’ markets and increased activity in Stemco’s heavy-duty truck market. Sales in 2006 also benefited from strong market demand
and new product introductions at Quincy Compressar, increased activities in the industrial markets of GGB Furepe and the autorotive markets of
GGB Americas, and higher value engine shipments at Fairbanks Morse Engine. Additionally, the acquisitions completed earliar in the year and favorable
foreign currency rates accounted for two percentage points of the sales increase in 20|06.

Segment profit, one of management’s primary measures of how our operations performed during the year, increased 22% from $117.4 million
in 2005 to $142.9 millien in 2006. Higher volumes, price increases and cost reduction inlitiatives associated with our TCV program contributed to higher
profitability in 2006. These favorable variances were partially offset by lower segment profit at Garlock Rubber Technologies due te productivity issues
and lower aftermarket sales at Fairbanks Morse Engine. Segment margins were 15. 4% in 2006 compared o 14.0% in 2005.

Corporate expenses for 2006 were $31.6 million compared to $25.5 million in 2005 This increase was primarily the result of higher achievement
levels associated with performance-based compensation in 2006.

Asbestos expenses in 2006 were $358.4 million, compared to $11.7 million in 2005 The increase in 2006 was primarily the result of a revision
to our estimated ashastos liability. Previously, we had recordad the Hability at the low enld of a broad ten-year range of equally likely estimates provided
by an outside expert. In the fourth quarter of 20086, based on our experience over the last two years, we identified a best estimate within the expert's
range and adjusted the liability accordingly. As a result, the estimated liability recordeg at Decernber 31, 2006 was $567.9 million. For additional
informaticn on this subject, see "Contingancies — Asbestos” in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Net interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2006 was $3.2 million, compared to $6.1 millicn in 2005. The decrease in nat interest
expense in 2006 was a result of lower interest rates associated with our convertible debt financing completed in the second half of 2005, as well as
an increase in interest income in 2006 associated with higher short-term interest rates

Other income, net for 2005 was $12.2 million compared to an expense of $2.3 m||1|0n in 2006. The results in 2005 benefited from the receipt
of $11.0 million associated with excess assets in a frust that was established for a divested business and a reduction in liabilities due to the dismissal
of product liability and indemnity lawsuits associated with a previously owned subsidialry.

Our effective tax rate for the year ending December 31, 2006 wags 37.5%, compared to 36.3% in 2005. The increase in 2006 was largely due
to a change in the mix of our pre-tax earnings between the U.S. and non-U.S. Jurlsdmtmns

The net loss for 2006 was $(158.9) million, ar $(7.60) per share, compared to net income of $58.6 million, or $2.75 per share, in 2005. The
decline was the result of the asbestos charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2006. Earnlngs per share are expressed on a dituted basis.

Following is a discussion of the 2006 operating results for each segment.

SEALING PRODUCTS. Sales increased 10% for the year ending December 31, 2006 to $432.5 million from $392.9 million in 2005, Sales at Stemco
incraased as original equipment demand in the heavy-duty truck market exceedad prior year requirements and aftermarket activity improved compared
to 2005. Sales at Gartock Sealing Technologies increased in 2006 due to higher demand and selected price increases in its major markets, including
the oil and gas and power generation markets. Plastomer Technologies benefited from|increased demand in sheet products, machined components,
and the incremental revenue from the Amicon acquisition completed early in the thirg [ﬂuaner of 2006.

Segment profitincreased from $66.1 million in 2005 to $76.5 million for the year ending December 31, 20086, Profits at Garlock Sealing
Technologies were favorably impacted by higher volumes and selected price increas;es,| partially offset by charges for the modernization project at the
Palmyra, New York facility. Plastorner Technologies' profit increased as a result of hight?r demand and the accretive impact of the Amicon acquisition.
Stemco’s profit in 2006 was faverably impacted by increased volumes and selected pnl'ce increases, partially offset by unfavorable product mix and
higher manufacturing costs; while Garlock Rubber Technologies’ profit was negatively impacted by lower productivity. Segment margins increased
from 16.8% in 2005 to 17.7% in 2006.

ENGINEERED PRODUCTS. Sales of $391.7 million for the year ending December 31, 2006 were 13% higher than the $346.0 million reported in 2005.
Sales volumes at Guincy Compressar were significantly higher in 2006 as a result of strepgth in its U.S. markets and new product introductions. Sales
increased at GGB in 2006 due to higher volumes in the industrial markets of Europe and Iincreased automotive demand in the Americas. Sales at France
Compressor Products exceeded 2005 {evels due 1o higher volumes in Europe and the favorable impact associated with the Allwest acquisition
completed in the second quarter of 2006,

Segment profits were $61.5 million for the year ending December 31, 2008, or 35% higher than the $45.4 million reported in 2005. Prcfits at
Quincy Compressor increased as a result of higher sales volume, selected price increases and cost reduction initiatives. GGB's profits increased in
2006 due to higher volumes, improved operating efficiencies at its Slovakian manufacturing facility and cost reduction initiatives associated with our
TCV program. Profits at France Compressor Products exceeded 2005 levels as a resul of higher volumes in Europe, selected price increases and
the favorable impact associated with the Allwest acquisition. Segment margins mcreased from 13.1% in 2005 to 15.7% In 2006.
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ENGINE PRCDUCTS AND SERVICES. Sales in 2006 were $105.2 mitlion, compared to $101.1 million in 2005. Higher revenue associated with
U.5. Navy shipbuilding programs contributed to the increase in 2006. However, this increase was partially offset by lower parts and service revenue.

The segment reported a profit of $4.9 million in 2006, compared to a prafit of $5.9 million in 2005. The results in 2006 were impacted by an
unfavorable product mix associated with lower aftermarket and service revenue. Results in 2006 also include a loss contract charge of $3.1 million
while a loss contract charge of $3.5 million was recorced in 2005. Segment margins in 2006 were 4.7%, compared t¢ 5.8% in 2005.

Restructuring and Other Costs

Restructuring expensa was $6.0 million, $2.3 million and $1.0 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The expense in all three years was
primarily related 1o restructuring activities associated with the modernization project at our Garlock Sealing Technologies manufacturing facilities in
Palmyra, New York. Garlock Sealing Technologies has been on its current site since the early 1900s, with buildings dating from 1907 to 1956. The
project, which is ongoing, will reduce the number of buildings on the site from 26 to 7 and eliminate approximately 350,000 square feet of space, or
approximately half of the space under roof at the beginning of the project. The modernization will be completed over five years at an expected cost,
including expenses and capital expenditures, of appraximately $35 million, excluding the impact of economic development grants, tax abaiements
and tax ¢redits. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding restructuring and other costs in each year.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures pertaining
to contingent assets and liabilities. Note 1, “Overview and Significant Accounting Policies,” to the Conselidated Financial Statements describes the
significant accounting policies used to prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements. On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates, including,
but not limited to, those related to bad debts, inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, restructuring, pensions and other
postretirement benefits, and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other agsumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

We believe that the following accounting policies and estimates are the most critical. Some of them involve significant judgments and uncertainties
and could potentially result in materially different resutts under different assumptions and conditions.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized at the time title and risk of ownership is transferred or when services are rendered. Any shipping costs billed to customers are
recognized as revenue and expensed in cost of goods sold.

Asbestos

In 2005 and the first three quarters of 2006, we recorded a liability related to asbestos claims at the low end of a broad ten-year range of equally
likely estimates provided by the firm of Bates White, LLC (“Bates White"), a recognized expert in the field of estimating asbestos-related liabilities. Due
to the uncertain nature of the estimated liability, we and Bates White believed thai no single amount in the range was a better estimate than any other
amount in the range. In accordance with the applicable accounting rules, we recorded a liability for these claims at the low end of the range of estimated
potential fiabilities. in the fourth quarier of 2006, based on our experience during the preceding two years and other factors, we identified a best
estimate within the Bates White range and adjusted the liability accordingly.

The significant assumptions underlying the material components of the estimated liability include: the number and trend of claims to be
asserted; the mix of alleged diseases or impairment; the trend in the number of claims for non-malignant cases; the probability that some existing
and potential future claims will eventually be dismissed without payment; the estimated amount to be paid per claim; and the timing and impact of
large amounts that will become available for the payment of claims from the 524{g) trusts of former defendants in bankruptcy. The actual number
of future actions filed per year and the payments made to resolve those claims could exceed those reflected in our estimate.

With the assistance of Bates White, we periodically review the period over which we can make a reasonable estimate, the assumptions underlying
our estimate, the range of reasenably possible potential liabilities and management's estimate of the liability, and we adjust the liability if necessary.
Changing circumstances and new data that may become available could cause a change in the estimated liability in the future by an ameunt that
cannot currently be reasonably estimated, and that increase could be significant and maierial. Additional discussion is included in this Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in “Contingencies — Asbestos.”
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Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of our operations whose functional currency is a foreign currency are translated into U.S. dollars using the current rate method.
Uinder this method, all assets and liabilities are translated in U.S. dollars using current ex'nhange raies, and income statement activities are translated
using weighted average exchange rates. The foreign currency translation adjustment is reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders' Equity and is included in accumulated other comprehensive income in th Consolidated Balance Shets.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We have entered into contracts to hedge forecasted transactions occurring at various dates through December 2010 that are denominated in foreign
currencies. These contracts are accounted for as cash flow hedges. As cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the contracts is
reported in gther comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is reporied in income. Amounts in accumutated other comprehensive income are
reclassified into income in the period when the hedged transactions ocour.

Pensions and Postretirement Benefits

We and certain of our subsidiaries sponsor domestic and foreign defined benefit pension and other postretirement ptans. Major assumptions used in
the accounting for these employee benefit plans include the discount rate, expected retum on plan assets, rate of increase in employee compensation
levels and assumed health care cost trend rates. Assumptions are determined based on data available to us and appropriate market indicators, and

are evaluated each year as of the plans' measurement date. A change in any of these assumptmns could have a material effect on net periodic pension
and posiretirement benefit costs reported in the Consolidated Statements of OperatlonsI as well as amounts recognized in the Consolidaied Balance
Sheets. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of pensﬁn and postretirement benefits,

Income Taxes
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Temporary dlﬁerences arising from the difference between the tax and book
basis of an asset or liability are used to compute future tax assets or liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to the taxable income (losses) in the years in which those tempo'rary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax asseis and liabilities from a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date. See Note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of income taxes.

New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of new accounting proncuncements, including the expected dates of adoption
and the expected effects on results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, if ahy.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Operating Cash Flows
Operating activities provided $104.8 million, $75.6 million and $76.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In 2007, operating cash flows
increased from the prior year chiefly as a result of higher net eamings, lower net asbestos payments and a decrease in working capital levels compared
to 20086. These improvements were partially offset by an increase in payments for environmental remediation activities in 2007, which were included
in the change in other noncurrent assets and liabilities. In 2006, working capital increased|primarily due to higher inventories and customer receivables
at several of our operations. Inventory levels were higher in 2006 primarily due to higher material requiremenis for engine programs at Fairbanks Morse
Engine. Alihough the 2006 warking capital was impacted by an increase in accounts receivable relating to increased sales activity, the days sales
outstanding for receivables remained constant on a year-over-year basis at 51 days. Payments for ashestos-related claims and expenses, net of
insurance recaveries, were $24.8 million In 2007 compared to $38.0 million in 2006.

Investing Cash Flows

We used $142.3 million, $27.5 million and $64.1 million in investing activities in 2007, 2(?06 and 2005, respectively. Investing activities in 2007 and

2006 included net payments of $77.0 million and $27.3 million, respectively, associated with acquisitions, primarity related to the newly constituted

Compressor Products International. Qur investing activities in 2007 also included capital expenditures of $46.8 million associated with our manufac-
turing facilities, compared to $41.3 million in 2006 and $32.2 million in 2005. The incgeases in capital expenditures in 2007 and 2006 reflected
spending associated with the madernization activities at our manufacturing facilities in Palmyra, New York and our continued strategy to expand
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geagraphically and to increase investments in our operations as part of an effort to improve customer satisfaction and reduce costs. The results in
2007 were impacted by the reclassification of $19.5 million of unrestricted cash balances to other current and noncurrent assets based on changes
in expected maturity dates of the underlying investments. The results in 2005 were impacted by a $41.1 million rectassification of unrestricted cash
balances to restricted cash balances as a result of posting cash collateral required to secure bonds associated with adverse asbestos verdicts on
appeal. The 2006 results benefited from the reclassification of $39.8 million from restricted cash to unrestricted cash due to the resolution of several
verdicts on appeal.

Financing Cash Flows

Financing activities provided $2.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in 2007 and 2006, and used $9.1 million in cash in 2005. Financing cash
flows in 2005 included proceeds from the sale of $172.5 milkion of our convertible debentures. We used a substantial partion of the net proceeds from
this sale to redeem the $145 million of outstanding Convertible Preferred Securities — Term Income Deferred Equity Securities, or TIDES. We also
used a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the debentures to enter into hedge and warrant transactions, which will reduce potential dilution
of our commeon stock from the conversion of the debentures by increasing their effective conversion price. Debt issuance costs associated with this
transaction were $5.2 million and are being amortized over the term of the debentures. Subsequent to the debenture offering. we sold our Goodrich
call options and received proceeds of $3.0 million (which is included in net cash used in investing activities described above).

Capital Resources

Our primary U.S. operating subsidiaries have a senior securad revolving credit facilitty with a group of banks which matures on April 21, 2011. We
have not borrowed against this facility. The facility is collateralized by our receivables, inventories, intellectual property, instirance receivables and all
other personal property assets (other than fixed assets), and by pledges of 65% of the capital stock of our direct foreign subsidiaries and 100% of the
capital stock of our direct and indirect U.S. subsidiaries. The facility contains covenants and restrictions that are custemary for an asset-based loan,
including limitations on dividends, fimitations on incurrence and repayment of indebtedness and maintenance of a fixed charge coverage financial
ratio. Certain of the covenants and restrictions apply only if availabitity under the tacility falls below certain levels.

The maximum initial amount available for borrowings under the facility is $75 million. Under ceriain conditions, the boerowers may request
that the facility be increased by up to $25 million, to $100 million in total. Actual borrowing availability at any date is determined by reference to a
horrowing base of specified percentages of eligible accounts receivable and inventory and is reduced by usage of the facility (including outstanding
fetters of credit) and any reserves. The actual borrowing availability at December 31, 2007, under our senior secured revolving credit facility was
$69.8 million. The borrowing avaitability was less than the full amount of the facility because the borrowing base was less than the facility limit at
December 31, 2007.

We issued $172.5 million of convertible debentures in 2005, The debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 3.9375%, and we pay accrued
interest on April 15 and October 15 of each year. The debentures will mature on October 15, 2015. The debentures are direct, unsecured and
unsubardinated obligations and rank equal in priority with our unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and will be senior in right of payment to
all subordinated indebtedness. They effectively rank junior to our secured indebtedness 1o the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebt-
edness. The debentures do not contain any financial covenants. Holders may convert the debentures info cash and shares of our common siock, if any,
at an initial conversion rate of 29,5972 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of debentures (which is equal to an initial conversion
price of $32.79 per share), subject to adjustment, before the close of business on October 15, 2015. Upon conversion, we would deliver {f} cash equal to
the lesser of the aggregate principal amount of the debentures to be converted or our total conversion obligation, and (ii) shares of our common stock
in respect of the remainder, if any, of our conversion obligation. Converston is permitted only under certain circumstances that had not occurred at
December 31, 2007. Additlonal discussion regarding the convertible debentures is included in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We used a portion of the net praceeds from the sale of the debentures to enter into call options (hedge and warrant transactions), which eatitle
us to purchase shares of our stock from a financial institution at $33.79 per share and entitle the financial institution to purchase shares of our stock
from us at $46.78 per share. This will reduce potential dilution to our common stock frem conversion of the debentures and have the effect to us of
increasing the conversion price of the debentures to $46.78 per share.

Dividends

To date, we have not paid dividends. If availability under our senior secured revolving credit facility falls below $20 million, we would be limited in our
ability to pay dividends. The indenture that governs the convertible debentures does not restrict us from paying dividends.
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. . |
Contingencies |

|
General
Various claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings with respect to commercial, product liability, asbestos and environmental matters, all arising
in the ordinary course of business, are pending or threatened against us or our subsidialries and seek monetary damages and/or other remedies. We
believe that any liability that may finally be determined with respect to commercial and n?n-asbestos product liability claims should not have a material
effect on our consolidated financiad condition or results of operations. From time to time, we and our subsidiaries are also involved as plaintiffs in legal
praceedings involving contract, patent protection, environmental, insurance and other matters.

Environmental
Our facilities and operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental and occupational health and safely requirements of the U.S. and
foreign countries, We take a proactive approach in our efforts to comply with all environmental, health and safety laws as they relate io our manufacturing
operations and in proposing and implementing any remedial plans that may be necessary. We also regularly conduct comprehensive environmental,
health and safety audits at our facilities te maintain compliance and improve operationa| efficiency.

Although we believe past operations were in substantial compliance with the then applicable regulations, we or one of our subsidiaries have been
named as a potentialfy responsible party, or are otherwise involved, at 21 sites where the'costs to us are expected to exceed $100,000. Investigations
have been completed for 15 sites and are in progress at the other six sites. The majority of these sites relate to remediation projects at former operating
facilities that were sold or closed and primarily deal with soil and groundwater contamingtion.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, EnPro had accrued liabilities of $27.7 milllion and $33.2 million, respectively, for estimated future
expenditures relating to environmental contingencies. See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our
environmental contingencies.

Colt Firearms and Central Moloney

We have contingent liabilities related to divested businesses for which certain of cur sublsidiaries retained liability or are abligated under indsmnity
agreements. These contingent liabilities include, but are not limited to, potential product liability and associated claims related to Coltec's former Colt
Firgarms subsidiary for firearms manufactured prior to its divestiture in 1990 and Coltec'sformer Central Moloney subsidiary for electrical transformers
manufactured prior o its divestiture in 1994. No product fiability ctaims are currently pending against Cottec related to Colt Firearms or Central Moloney.
Coltec also has ongoing obligations, which are included in retained liabilities of previously owned businesses in cur Consolidated Balance Sheets, with
regard to workers’ compensation, retiree medical and other retiree benefit matiers that rflate to Coltec’s periods of cwnership of these operations.

Crucible Materials Corporation

Crucible Materials Corporation {“Crucible”}, which is engaged primarily in the manufactulre and distribution of specialty metal products, was a wholly
owned subsidiary of Coltec untit 1985 when a majority of the outstanding shares were sold. Coltec sold its remaining minoriiy interest in 2004, See
Note 17 to the Consclidated Financial Statements for information about certain liabilities Irelating to Cottec’s awnership of Crucible.

Debt and Capital Lease Guarantees
As of December 31, 2007, we: had contingent liabilifies for potential payments on guarantees of certain debt and lease obligations totaling $9.9 milfion.
These guarantees arase fram the divestitures of Crucible, Central Moloney and Haber Tool, and expire at various dates thraugh 2010, There is no liability
for these guarantees reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In the event that the other parties do not fulfill their obligations under the debt or
lease agreements, we could be responsible for these obligations.

Asbestos
HISTORY. Certain of our subsidiaries, primarily Garlock Seafing Technologies LLC {“Garlock”} and The Anchor Packing Company (“Anchor”}, are amang
a large number of defendants in actions filed in various states by plaintiffs afleging injury or death as a result of exposure to ashestos fibers. Among the
products at issue in these actions are industrial sealing products, including gaskets and placking products. Since the first asbestos-related lawsuits
were fited against Garlock in 1975, Garlock and Anchor have processed approximately 990.000 ashestos claims to conclusion (including judgments,
settierents and dismissals) and, together with their insurers, have paid approximately $1.3 billion in settlements and judgments and over $400 million
in fees and expenses. See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for informatior:1 on the disease mix in the claims, new claims racently filed,
product defenses asserted by our subsidiaries, recent trial and appeat results, and settlements,
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STATUS QF ANCHOR. Anchor is an inactive and insolvent indirect subsidiary of Coltec. There is no remaining insurance coverage available to Anchor.
Anchor has no remaining asseis and has not committed to settle any actions since 1988, As cases reach the irial stage, Anchor is typically dismissed
without payment.

INSURANCE COVERAGE. At December 31, 2007, Garlock had available $381.5 million of solvent insurance and trust coverage that we believe will
be available to cover future ashestos claims and certain expense payments. In addition, at December 31, 2007, Garlock classified $56 million of
otherwise available insurance as insolvent. We believe that Garlock will recover some of the insolvent insurance over time. In fact, Garlock collectad
approximately $1 million from insolvent carriers in 2007, bringing total cellections from insolvent carrlers from 2002 through 2007 to approximately
$39.3 million. There can be no assurance that Garlock wilt collect any of the remaining insolvent insurance. See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information about the quality of Garlock's insurance, arrangements for payments with ceriain insurers, the resolution of
past insurance disputes, and coverage exclusions for exposure after July 1, 1984,

OUR LIABILITY ESTIMATE. Prior to mid-2004, we maintained that our subsidiaries’ liability for unasserted claims was not reasonably estimable.
We estimated and recorded liabilities only for pending claims in advanced stages of processing, for which we believed we had a basis for making a
reasonable estimate. We disclosed the significance of the total potential liability for unasserted claims in considerable detail. By 2004, however, most
asbestos defendants who disclose their liabilities were recording estimates of their liabiiities for pending and unasserted claims. In view of the change
in practice by other defendants, during 2004 we authorized counse! to retain a recognized expert to assist in estimating our subsidiaries’ liability for
pending and future asbestos claims, After interviewing and qualifying several recognized experts with us, counsel selected Bates White.

Bates White’s first report, dated February 17, 2005, provided an estimate of the liability as of December 31, 2004 for the following ten years,
which represented a time horizon within which Bates White believed such liability was both probable and estimable within a range of values. Bates
White opined that each value within the range of $227 million to $382 million was an equally likely estimate of the liability. We adopted the Bates White
estimate and, accordingly, recorded an additional liability for pending and unasserted claims as of December 31, 2004 io increase our liability to an
amount equal to the low end of the estimated range ($227 million), The recording of such increased asbestos liability resulted in our alse recording
an increase to our insurance receivable.

Bates White has updated its estimate every quarter since the end of 2004, The estimated range of potential liabilties provided by Bates White
at December 31, 2007 was $431 million to $626 million. According 1o Bates White, increases have been attributable primarily to {1) an increase in
settlernent values of mesothelioma claims, (2) an increase in claims filings and values in some jurisdictions, most notably California, and {3) the delay
in, and uncertain impact of, the funding and implementation of trusts formed under Section 524{g) of the United States Bankruptcy Code to pay asbestos
claims against numerous defendants in Chapter 11 reorganization cases. Because the 524(g) trusts are estimated o have more than $30 billion that
will be available for the payment of asbestos claims, they coutd have a significant impact on our future settlement payments and could therefore
significantly affect our liability.

Each quarter until the fourth quarter of 2006, we adopted the Bates White estimate and adjusted the liability to equal the low end of the then-current
range. Until the second quarter of 20086, the additional liability was recorded with a corresponding increase in our insurance receivable, and thus did
no! affect net income. During the second quarter of 2006, however, our insurance was fully altocated to past, present and {future claims, and therefore
subsequent changes to the Bates White estimate were recorded as charges to income.

We have independenily developed internal estimates for asbestos-related liabilities. We have used those estimates for a variety of purposes,
including guidance for settlement negotiations and trial strategy, in our strategic planning, budgeting and cash flow planning processes, and in setting
targets for annual and long-term incentive compensation. Uintil the end of 2006, we did not have sufficient history comparing claims payments to
our internal estimates to allow us to identify a most likely point within the Bates White range. Therefore, prior to the fourth quarter of 2006, we had
adopted the low-end of the range provided by Bates White. However, our internal estimate has been within the Bates White range of equally likely
estimates and has proven 10 be a more precise predictor of the actual amounts spent on settlements and verdicts than the low end of the range. As
aresult, while the low end of the Bates White range still provides a reasonable lower boundary of possible outcomes, Bates White and management
believe that our internal estimate for the next ten years represents the most likely point within the range. Accordingly, we adjusted the recorded liability
from the low end of the Bates White estimate to our point estimate in the fourth quarter of 2006 and have adjusted the liability in each subsequent
quarter consistent with our internat estimate. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we recorded a pre-tax charge of $305.1 millien to reflect our estimate.

We focus on future cash flows to prepare our estimate. We make assumptions about declining future asbestos spending based on (1) past trends,
{2) publicly available epidemiological data, {3) current agreements with plaintiff firms and our judgment about the current and future litigation environment,
{4} the availability to claimants of other payment sources, both co-defendants and the 524¢g) trusts, and (5) the input and insight provided to us by
Bates White. We adjust our estimate when current cash flow results and long-term trends suggest that our targets cannot be met. As a result, we have
a process that we believe produces the best estimate of the future liability for the ten-year time period within the Bates White range.
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We currently estimate that the liability of our subsidiaries for the indemnity cost of resolving asbestos claims far the next ten years will be
$519.0 million. The estimated liability of $519.0 million is before any tax benefit and is'not discounted to present value, and it dees not include fees
and expenses, which are recorded as incurred. The recorded liability will continue to befimpacted by our actual claims and settlement experience and
any change in the legal environment that could cause a significant increase or decrease in the long-term expectations of management and Bates White.
We expect the recorded liability to fluctuate, perhaps significantly. Any significant change in the estimated liabitity could have a maierial effect on our
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Although we helieve that our estimate is the best estimate within the Bates White range of reasonable and probable estimates of Garlock’s future
obligation, we note that Bates White also indicated a broader range of potential estimates from $199 million to $733 milllon. We caution that points
within that broader range reman possible outcomes. Also, while we agree with our expert that “beyond two to four years for Garlock’s economically-
driven non-malignant claims and beyond ten years for Garlock's cancer claims and medically-driven non-malignant claims, there are reagonable
scenarios in which the [ashestos] expenditure is de minimus,” we caution that the process of estimating future liabilities is highly uncertain. Adjusting
our liabifity 10 the best estimate within ihe range does not change that faci. In the ‘.»\mrdsI of the Bates White report, “the reliability of estimates of future
probabie expenditures of Garlock for asbestos-related personal injury claims decines significantly for each year further into the future.” Scenarios
continue to exisi that could result in a totai future asbestos liability for Garlock in excesls of $1 billion.

As previously mentioned, the liability estimate does not include legal fees and exﬁenses which add considerably to the costs each year. Over
the last two years, these expenses have averaged approximaiely $7 million per quarter In additicn to these legal fees and expenses, we expect to
continue to record charges to income in future quarters for:

= Increases, if any, in our estimate of Garlock's potential liability, plus
* Increages, if any, that result from additional quarters added to maintain the ten-year|estimation period (increases of this type have averaged

approximately $7 — 8 million per quarter for the last two years), plus
+ Amounts, if any, of solvent insurance lost or commuted, offset by insclvent recoverigs and earnings from insurance settlement trusts.

In 2007, we recorded a pre-tax charge to income of $68.4 million to reflect net cash outlays of $25.8 million for legal fees and expenses incurred
during the year, and a $42.6 million non-cash charge. The non-cash charge included $23.2 million related to the addition of periods to maintain a
ten-year liability estimate and $19.4 million to adjust the liability based on revisions t'o management's estimate. A portion of the non-cash charge
($19.4 million) resulted from adjustments mads to management's estimation madel injthe fourth quarter of 2007, We made this adjustment based
on our review of negotiations and payment trends and our belief that it is more likely that, in the future, a higher percentage of settlement commitments
made in any year will also be paid in that same year.

QUANTITATIVE CLAIMS AND INSURANCE INFORMATION. Our liability as of December 31) 2007 was $524.4 million (our estimate of the liability described
above of $519.0 million plus $5.4 million of accrued legal and other fees already incurred but not yet paid}. The total Rability as of December 31, 2007,
included $86.9 million classified as a current liability and $437 .5 million classified asa noncurrent liability. The recorded amounts do not include
legal fees and expenses to be incurred in the future. See Note 17 to the Censolidated Financial Statements for additional information about pending
cases, insurance, cash flows and our liability.

STRATEGY. Garlock's strategy is to focus on trial-listed cases and other cases in advanged stages, to reduce new settlement commitments each year,
to carefully manage and maximize insurance collections, and to proactively support legislative and other efforts aimed at meaningful asbestos reform.
We believe that this strategy should result in the continued reduction of the negative Iannual cash flow impact from asbestos claims. However, the
risk of large verdicts sometimes impacts the implementation of the strategy, and therefore it is likely that, from time to time, Garlock will enter into
settlements that invalve large numbers of cases, including early-stage cases, when it believes that the risk outweighs the benefits of the strategy.
We believe that, as predicted in various epidemiological studies that are publicly available, the incidence of ashestos-related disease is in decling
and should continue to decline steadily over the next decade and thereafter, so that claims activity against Garlock will eventually decling to a level
that can be paid trom the cash flow expected from Garlock's operations, even after Garlock exhausts its insurance coverage. However, there ¢an be
no assurance that epidemiological predictions about incidence of asbestos-related disease will prove to be accurate, or that, even if they are, there
will be a commensurate decling in the number of asbestos-refated claims filings.
Considering the foregoing, as wel! as the experience of our subsidiaries and other defendants in asbestos litigation, the likely sharing of judgments
among multiple responsible defendants, bankrupicies of other defendants, and leglslatwe efforts, and given the amount of insurance coverage available
to our subsidiaries from solvent insurance carrlers, we believe that pending asbestos a:ctlons against our subsidiaries are not likely to have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, but coutd be material to our results of operations or cash flows in given future periods. We anticipate that
ashestos claims will continue to be filed against our subsidiaries. Because of (1) the uncertainty as to the number and timing of potential future claims
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and the amount that will have to be paid to litigate, settle or satisfy claims, and (2) the finite amount of insurance available for future payments, future
claims could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of aperations and cash flows.

REFORM LEGISLATION. While reform measures have been adopted in several states and are likely to be considered from time to time on a state-by-state
basis in a number of other jurisdictions, the outlook for federal legislation to provide national asbestos litigation reform continues to be uncertain,

While reform legislation uitimately may be adopted by the U.S. Congress, it appears unlikely that any federal asbestos legislation will be enacted in
the near future,

Oft-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Lease Agreements

We have several operating leases primarily for real estate, equipment and vehicles. Operating lease arrangements are generally utilized to secure the
use of assets from time to time i the terms and conditions of the lease or the nature of the asset makes the lease arrangement more favorable than
a purchase. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $43.9 million of future minimum lease payments were cutstanding under these agreements.
See Note 17, “Commitments anc Contingencies — Other Commitments,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosure.

Debt and Capital Lease Guarantees
At December 31, 2007, we have outstanding contingent liabilities for guaranteed debt and lease payments of $9.9 million related to previously

divested businesses.

Contractual Obligations
A summary of our contractual ohligations and commitments at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Payrments Due by Period (in millions)

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term debt $185.7 $ 36 $96 $ - $1725
Interest on leng-term debt 543 75 13.7 13.6 195
Operating leases 439 9.8 16.0 10.4 77
QOther long-term ligbilities 60.1 87 6.4 5.7 39.3
Total $344.0 $20.6 $45.7 $20.7 $238.0

Payment for long-term debt may be accelerated under certain circumstances because the convertible debentures due in 2015 may be converted
earlier, requiring payment of the principal amount thereof in cash. Additional discussion regarding the convertible debentures is included in this
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resutts of Operations in “Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capital Resources,”
and in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payments for other long-term liabilities are estimates of amounts that will be paid for environmental and retained liabilities of previousty owned
businesses included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007. These estimated payments are based on information currently known
to us. However, it is possible that these estimates will vary from actual results if new information becomes available in the future or if there are changes
in the facts and circumstances related to these liabilities. Additional discussion regarding these liabilities is included earlier in this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations in “Contingencies — Enviranmental, — Other Contingent Liability Matters,”
and in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2007, we had a $17.2 million reserve for unrecognized tax benefits which is not reflected in the table above. Substantially all
of this tax reserve is classified in other long-term liabilities and deferred income taxes in our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The table also does not
include obligations under our pension and postretirement benefit plans, which are included in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOiSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks as part of our ongoing business operations, including risks from changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates that could impact our financial condition, results of operations and calsh flows. We plan to manage our exposure to these and other
market risks through regular operating and financing activities, and on a limited basig, through the use of derivative finangial instruments. We intend
1o use such derivative financial instruments as risk managernent tools and not for speculative investment purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk as a result of our outstanding debt obligations. The table below provides information about our debt obligations
as of December 31, 2007. The table represents principal cash flows (in millions) and related weighted average interest rates by expected (contractual)

maturity dates.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Fixed rate debt $3.6 $9.6 - - - $1725 $185.7 $215.9
Average interest rate 7.2% 6.5% - - - 3.9% 4.1%

Foreign Currency Risk
We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normai business operations.

These risks include the transtation of loca! currency balances

on our foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets, intercompany loans with foreign subsidialries and transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Our
objective is to control cur exposure to these risks through our normal operating activities and, where appropriate, through forgign currency forward or

option contracts. The following table provides information about our cutstanding foreign

Notional Amount
QOutstanding in

currency forward and option contracts as of December 31, 2007.

Millions of U.S.
Transaction Type Doflars (USD) Maturity Dates Exchange Rate Ranges
Forward Contracts
Sell Slovakian koruna/buy suro $269 Jan 20|08 33.660 10 33.671 koruna/euro
Sell British pound/buy euro 187 Jan 20p8 0.723 10 0.724 eurc/pound
Buy euro/sell US doliar 176 Jan 20|08 —Jan 2010 1.275 10 1.450 USD/euro
Buy US dollar/selt euro 141 Jan 20|08 —Dec 2008 1.377 10 1.382 USD/euro
Sell euro/buy Australian dollar 9.4 Jan 20|08 1.660 to 1.664 Australian dollar/eure
Buy US dollar/seli Canadian dallar 8.0 Jan 20|08 - Dec 2008 1.041 {0 1.042 Canadian dollar/USD
Buy Slovakian keruna/sell euro 7.3 Jan 2[)'()8 —Dec 2008 32.829 10 33.021 koruna/eure
Buy US dollar/sell Australian dollar 4.2 Jan 20p8 —Dec 2008 0.859 10 0.876 Australian dollar/USD
Buy euro/sell paso 39 Jan 20p8 15.53 t0 15.57 peso/eure
Sell US dollar/buy peso 27 Jan 20|08 - Dec 2008 10.996 to 11.268 peso/USD
Sell Singapore dollar/buy euro 0.2 Jan 2008 2.092 to 2.094 euro/Singapore doflar
114.0
Optien Contracts
Buy euro/sell US dollar 275 May 2008 — Dec 2010 1.336 USD/euro
$1415
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA

ENPRO INDUSTRIES, INC.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and aperation of our disclosure controls and procedures. The purpose of our disclosure
contrels and procedures is to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act,
including this report, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified, and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

Management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls will prevent all errors and alt fraud. A control system,
no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not absclute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of conirols must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected, These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making
can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of twe or more peaple, or by management cverride of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with polices or procedures, Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.

Based on the controls evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and proceduras
are effective 1o reasonably ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified, and that management will be timely alerted to material infarmation required to be
included in our pericdic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In addition, ne change in our internal cantrol over financial reporting has occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15()
under the Exchange Act. Our intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Because of its inherent limitations, internaj control over financial reporting may not pravent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period|covered by this report. However, the assessment did not include
the following operations that we acquired within the past year, none of which, individually or in the aggregate, would be considered significant under
Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S—X of the SEC: Compressor Products International Ltd!., Texflo Machining Ltd and Béhringer GmbH. In making this
assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Crganizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment, we have concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over financial reporting
was effective based on those riteria.

The effectiveness of our internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
an indspendent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND GORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information congerning our directors and officers appearing under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Corporate Governance
Policles and Practices,” and information under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management - Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance”™ in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 annual meeting of shareholders is Incorporated herein by reference.

We adopted a written Code of Business Conduct that applies to all of eur directors, officers and employees, including our pringipal executive officer,
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. The Code is available on our'internet site at www.enproindustries.com. We intend to disclose
on our Internet site any substantive changes to the Code and any waivers granted under the Code to the specified officers.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

A description of the compensation of our executive officers is set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation™ in our definitive proxy statement
for the 2008 annual meeting of shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEHCIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Security ownership data appearing under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 annual mesting of shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.

The table betow contains information as of February 15, 2008, about our Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan, the only
compensation plan or arrangement (other than our tax-qualified plans) under which we have equity securities authorized for issuance.

Number of Securities Nurber of Securities Remaining Available
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Exercise for Future Issuance Under Equity
Exercise of Outstanding Price of Outstanding Compensation Plans Excluding
Plan Category Options, Warrants and Rights Options, Warrants and Rights Securities Reflected in Column ()
@ () ©

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 1,606,784 $4.97 854,175
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders - - -

Total 1,606,784 3497 954,175

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information concerning the independence of our directors is set forth under the caption “Corporate Governance Policies and Practices — Director
Independence” in our definitive proxy staternent for the 2008 annual meeting of shareholders and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information appearing under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 annual
meeting of shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(8 The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statemenis
The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed in Part I, [tem 8 of this report on the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule I - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 appears on page 67.

Other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required information is
provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
The exhibits to this report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index appearing on pages 31 to 32.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant r'as duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Charlotte, North Carolina on this 25th day of February, 2008.

ENPRO INDUSTRIES, INC.

By: /s/ Richard L.. Magee
Richard L. Magee
Cate: February 25, 2008 Senior Vice Fl’resident. General Counsel
and Secretary

By: /¢/ Donald G. Pomeroy Il
Donald G. P?meroy I
Vice Presidant and Controiler
{Principal Aclcounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons, or in their
behalf by their duly appointed attorney in fact, on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signatures Title Date
/8! Ernest F. Schaub President and February 25, 2008
Ernest F. Schaub Chief Executive Officer

{Principal Executive Officer) and Director

fs/ William Dries Senior Vice President and February 25, 2008
William Dries Chief Financial Officer
Js/ William R. Holland Chairman of the Board and Director February 25, 2008

William R. Holland*

/8! J. P Bolduc Director February 25, 2008
J. P. Bolduc*
/s/ Peter C. Browning Director February 25, 2008

Peter C. Browning®

/s/ JoeT. Ford Director February 25, 2008
Joe T. Ford*
/s/ Gordon D. Hamett Director February 25, 2008

Gordon 0. Harnett”

/s/ David L. Hauser Director February 2%, 2008
David L. Hauser*

/s/ Wilbur J. Prezzano, Jr. Director February 25, 2008
Wilbur J. Prezzang, Jr.*

“By: /s/ Richard L. Magee
Richard L. Magee, Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX
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10.5+"
10.6+"
10.7+

10.8+"

10.9+*
10.10+*
10.11+

1012

1013+

1014+

Restated Articles of Incorporation of EnPro Inclustries, Ing., as amended {incorporated by reference to Exhibits 4.3 and 4.4 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed by EnPro Ingustries, Inc., the EnPro Industries, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan for Hourty Workers
and the EnPro Industries, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried Workers (Fite No. 333-89576))

Arngnded Bylaws of EnPro Industries, Inc. {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Form 8-K dated December 12, 2007 filed by
EnPrg Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225)

Form of certificate representing shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of EnPro Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference
to Amendment No. 4 of the Registration Statement on Form 10 of EnPre Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Rights Agreement between EnPro Industries, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as rights agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc., the EnPro Industries, Inc. Retirerent Savings Plan for Hourty
Workers and the EnPro industries, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried Workers (File No. 333-B8576))

Indenture dated as of April 18, 1998, between Coltec Industries Inc and Bankers Trust Company as Trustee, relating to the Coftec industries
Inc 7%% Senior Notes due 2008 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te Coltec Industries Inc's Registration Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333 53005))

Form of 7%% Senior Note due 2008 {included in Exhibit 4.3 above)

Indenture dated as of October 26, 2005 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K dated October 26, 2005 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 3 of the
Registration Statement on Form 10 of EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

EnPro Industrigs, Inc. 2002 Equity Compensation Plan (2005 Amendment and Restatement} {incorporated by reference to Appendix A to
the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated March 29, 2005 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. {File No. 001-31225))

EnPro Industries, Inc. Senior Executive Annual Performance Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A dated March 22, 2007 filed by EnPro Industries, inc. (File No. 001-31225))

EnPro Industries, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorparated by reference to Appendix B to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A dated
March 22, 2007 fited by EnPro Industries, Inc. {File No. 001-31225)}

Form of EnPro Industries, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Ptan Award Grant

Form of EnPro Industries, Inc. Phantom Share Award Grant for Outside Diractors (2005 Amendment and Restatement)

Form of EnPro Industries, Inc. Restricted Share Award Agreement {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K dated
February 14, 2008 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

EnPro Indusiries, Inc. Defined Benefit Restoration Plan {amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2007) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.25 to the Form 10-X for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. File No. 001-31225)

EnPro Industries, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan {as amended and restated effective January 1, 2007}

EnPro Industries, Inc, Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2007)
EnPro Industries, Inc. Outside Directors’ Phantom Share Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 26, 2006 by and among Coltec Industries Inc, Cottec Industrial
Products LLC, Garlock Sealing Technologies LLC, GGB LLC, Corrosion Control Corporation and Stemco LP, as Borrowers, EnPro
industries, Inc., as Parent; QFM Sales and Services, Inc., Coltec International Services Co, Garrisen Litigation Management Group, Ltd.,
GGB, Inc., Garlock International Inc, Stemco Delaware LP, Stemco Holdings, Inc., Stemco Holdings Delaware, Inc. and Garlock Overseas
Corporation, as Subsiciary Guarantors; the various financial institutions listed on the signature pages thereof, as Lenders; Bank of America,
N.A., as Agent and Issuing Bank; and Banc of America Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Manager (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K dated April 26, 2006 filed by EnPre Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Management Continuity Agreement dated as of August 1, 2002 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and Ernest F. Schaub (incorporated by
seference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. {File No. 001-31225))

Management Continuity Agreement dated as of August 1, 2002 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and William Dries {incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.23 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. {File No. 001-31225))
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Management Continuity Agreement dated as of August 1, 2002 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and Richard L. Magee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 3|1 2002 filad by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Management Continuity Agreement dated as of August 1, 2002 heiween EnPro Industries, Inc, and Robert 0, Rehley (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2002 filed by EnPro Industries, inc. (File No. 001-31225)

Management Continuity Agreement dated as of January 30, 2006 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and J. Milton Childress il (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Management Continuity Agreement dated as of September 1, 2007 between EnPro Industries, In¢. and Donald G. Pomeroy Il (incorparated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K dated August 17, 2007 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225)}

Death Benefits Agreement dated as of Becember 12, 2002 between EnPro Industnes Inc. and Ernest F. Schaub (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.29 ta the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 flled by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225)}

Death Benefits Agreement dated as of December 12, 2002 between EnPro Industnes Inc. and William Dries (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.31 ta the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 flled by EnPro Industries, Inc. (Fite No. 001-31225))

Death Benefits Agreement dated as of December 12, 2002 between EnPro Ingustnes‘ Inc. and Richard L. Magee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.33 to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 filed by EnPro Industrigs, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

Supplemental Retirement and Death Benefits Agreement dated as of November 8, 2005 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and Emest F. Schaub
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 fited by EnPro Industries, Inc.
(File No. 001-31225))

Supplemental Retirement and Death Benefits Agreement dated as of November 8, 2005 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and William Dries
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-( for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 fited by EnPro Industries, Inc.
{File No, 001-31225))

Supplemental Retirement and Death Benefits Agreement dated as of November 8, 2005 between EnPro Industries, Inc. and Richard L. Magee
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 fited by EnPro Industries, Inc.
{File No. 001-31225))

EnPro Industries, Inc. Senior Officer Severance Plan (effective as of January, 1, 2008}
Summary of Executive and Director Compensation Arrangements

EnPro Industries, Inc. Code of Business Conduct (incorporated by referenceto Exhibit 14 to the Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002 filed by EnPro Industries, Inc. (File No. 001-31225))

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Consent of Bates White, LLC

Power of Attorney from J. P, Bolduc

Power of Attomey from Peter C. Browning
Power of Attorney from Joe T. Ford

Power of Attorney from Gordon D. Harnett
Power of Attorney from David L. Hauser
Power of Attorney from William R. Holland
Power of Attorney from Wilbur J. Prezzano, Jr.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a — 14(a)/15d — 14(3)
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a — 14{a)/15d — i4(a)
Certification pursuant 1o Section 1350

Itemns marked with an asterisk are filed herewith.

+ Management coniract or compensatory plan required to be filed under ftem 15(c) of this report and ttem 601 of Regulation S-K of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING HRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of EnPro Industries, Inc.:

In our apinion, the consofidated financial statements fisted in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
EnPro Industries, inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 20086, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein whan read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COSQ). The Company’s management is responsible
for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reparting appearing
under Item 9A. Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Qur audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Qur audit of intemal control over financial reparting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe thal our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our epinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is & process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external pusposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that {i} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statemenis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iil) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contral over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness fo future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

JDMW LR

Charlotte, North Carolina
February 25, 2008
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(in milliorss, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales i $1,030.0 $928.4 $838.6
Cost of sales 670.0 621.1 565.7

Gross profit 360.0 307.3 2729
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses 2284 196.3 183.8

Asbestos-related expenses 68.4 3594 11.7

Restructuring and other costs 6.0 2.3 1.0

Loss (gain) on sale of assets, net - 0.6 (5.8)

3028 558.6 190.7

Operating income {loss) 57.2 {251.3) g2.2
Interest expense 8.1} 8.1 8.7)
Interest income 8.3 49 3.6
Other income, net 0.6 0.3 16.0
Income (loss) before income taxes 58.0 {254.2) 921
tncome tax benefit (expense) (20.3) 95.3 (33.5)
Income {loss) before extraordinary item | w7 {158.9) 58.6
Extraordinary item, net of {axes 2.5 - -
Net income (loss) $ 402 §(158.9) $ 586
Basic earnings {loss) per share:

Income (loss) before extraordinary item $ 177 $ (7.60) § 283

Extraordinary item 0.12 - -
Net income (loss) $ 189 $ (7.60) $ 283
Diluted earnings {loss) per share:

Income (loss) before extraordinary item $ 169 $ (7.60) $ 275

Extraordinary item 0.1 - -
Net income loss) L $ 180 $ (7.60) $ 275

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 3i, 2007, 2006 and 2005

in milions) 2007 2006 2005
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income {loss) I § 402 $(158.9) $ 5886
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss} to net cash provided by operating activities: |
Depreciation 1 29.1 26.4 240
Amortization 1.1 8.8 7.3
Deferred income taxes 1 8.4) {104.5) 14.6
Stock-based compensation ‘, 36 5.5 29
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation i {3.8) {1.3) {1.3)
Extraordinary gain, net of taxes L {2.9) - -
Loss {gain) on sale of assets, net ? - 06 {5.8)
Change in assets and fiabilities, net of effects of acquisitions of businesses: |
Asbestos liabilities, net of receivables t 43.0 3214 {10.1)
Receivables ! (1.0 7.9 3.7
inventories ! 18.2 9.7 (8.6)
Accounts payable : 11.9 3.7 2.6
Other current assets and liabilities ! (6.4) 2.9 5.7
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities l {20.2) {5.6) {9.8)
Net cash provided by operating activities | 104.8 75.6 76.4
INVESTING ACTIVITIES i
Purchases of property, plant and equipment | {46.8) 41.3) (32.2)
Proceeds from sales of assets 0.3 0.2 79
Reclassification of investments from cash equivalents ‘ (19.5) - -
Receipts from (deposits inte) restrictad cash accounts | 0.2 398 “41.h
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ‘ (77.0) 27.3) 1.7
Other ! 0.5 1.4 3.0
Net cash used in investing activities L (142.3) (27.5) (64.1)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ,
Borrowings | - - 172.5
Repayments of debt ' (2.1) (0.5} (152.1)
Purchase of call options related to convertible debentures | - - (26.7)
Debt issue costs ! - 0.6) 5.2)
Proceeds from issuance of commeon stock i 10 07 11
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 3.8 1.3 1.3
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1 2.7 0.9 9.1)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ash and cash equivalents 3.0 2.5 (1.7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ' (31.8) 51.5 15
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 161.0 109.5 108.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $129.2 $161.0 $109.5
Supplementa! disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for;
Interest $8.1 $7.9 $10.1
Income taxes I $21.7 $13.0 $1341
Payments for asbestos-retated claims and expenses, |
net of insurance recoveries | §24.9 $38.0 5218

See notes 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006

(in millions, except share amounts) 2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1292 $ 161.0
Accounts anc notes receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $3.6 in 2007 and $2.8 in 2006 167.6 138.3
Asbestos insurance receivable 700 7.3
Inventories 70.3 79.3
Other current assets 55.3 22.4
Total current assets 4924 472.3
Property, plant and equipment 193.5 166.3
Goodwill 2138 161.6
Other intangible assets 103.5 701
Ashestos insurance receivable s 396.7
Deferred income taxes 90.3 80.2
Other assets 65.3 59.4
Total assets $1,470.3 $1,406.6

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 36 ) -
Accounts payable 80.1 62.2
Ashestos liability 86.9 888
Other accrued expenses 89.8 74.1
Total current liabilities 2604 2251
Long-term debt 1821 185.7
Retained liabilities of previously owned businesses 31.0 30.3
Environmental iabilities 204 251
Asbestos liability 4375 479.1
(Other liahilities 63.8 57.4
Total liabilities 9952 1,002.7

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity
Comman stock — $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized,
issued 21,631,176 shares at December 31, 2007 and 21,211,044 shares

at December 31, 2006 0.2 0.2
Additional paid-in capita! 4272 4189
Accumulated deficit (0.7) 41.0)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 499 27.3
Cormmon stock held in treasury, at cost — 223,081 shares at

December 31, 2007 and 228,126 shares at December 31, 2006 {(1.5) (1.5

Total shareholders' equity 4751 403.9

Jotal liabllities and sharehalders' equity $1,470.3 $1,406.6

See notes o Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Retained  Accumulated
Additicnal Earnings (Cther Total
Common Stock Paid-In (Accumulated Comprehensive  Treasury Shareholders’

(doflars and shares in millions) Shares Amount  Capital Deficit} Income Stock Equity
Batance, December 31, 2004 20.6 $02 %4116 $ 593 $ 70 $01.6) $476.5
Net income - - - 58.6 - - 58.6
Other comprehensive income:

Cumulative translation adjustment - - - - 10.0 0 - 100Mm

Minimum pension liability adjustment - - - - .7 - 4.7)

Loss on cash flow hedges - - - - 0.3) - (0.3)
Total comprehensive income 63.6
Purchase of call options related to

convertible debentures, net of

tax benefit of $21.3 million - - (5.4} - - - (5.4)
Exercise of stock options and

other incentive plan activity 0.2 - 5.2 - - - 5.2
Balance, December 31, 2005 20.8 0.2 411.4 117.9 12.0 (1.6) 530.9
Net loss - - - (158.9) - - {(158.9)
(Other comprehensive 10ss:

Cumulative translation adjustment - - - - 17.3 - 17.3

Minimum pension liability adjustment - - - - 11.9 - 119

Gain on cash flow hedges - - - - 0.7 - 0.7
Total comprehensive loss (129.0)
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158,

net of tax benefit of $8.7 million - - - - (14.6) - (14.6)
Exercise of stock options and

other incentive plan activity 0.2 - 7.5 - - 01 76
Balance, December 31, 2006 21.0 0.2 418.9 41.0) 27.3 (1.5) 403.9
Net incame - - - 402 - - 402
Other comprehensive income:

Cumulative translation adjustment - - - - 25.3 - 253

Pension and other postretirement

benefit plans - - - - (27 (2.7)

Total comprehensive income 62.8
Adjustment to initfally apply FIN 48 - - - 0.1 - - 0.1
Exercise of stock options and

other incentive plan activity 0.4 -~ 8.3 - - - 8.3
Balance, December 31, 2007 214 $0.2 $427.2 $ (0.9 $499 3(1.5) $4751

) For further information, see “Foreign Currency Translation” section of Note 1,

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME

1. Overview and Significant Accouniing Policies
Overview

NTS

EnPro industries, Ing. (“EnPro” or the “Company™) is a leader in the design, developmént, manufacturing and marketing of well recognized, proprietary

engineered industrial products that include sealing products, metal and metal polym
heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel, natural gas and dual fuel reciprocating engines.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION. The Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the 3

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been elimi

USE OF ESTIMATES. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with gene

er bearings and filament wound products, air compressars, and

ccounts of the Company and its majority-owned and controlled
nated.

ally accepted accounting principles requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

RECLASSIFICATIONS. Certain prior year amounts in the accompanying prior year annual financial statements have been reclassified to conform with
the current year presentation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION. Reveniie Is recognized at the time title and risk of product ownership is transferred or when services are rendered. Any shipping
costs billed to customers are recognized as revenue and expensed in cost of goods sold.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION. The financial statements of those operations whose functional currency is a foreign currency are transtated into
U.S. doliars using the current rate method. Under this method, all assets and Irab|lmes are translated inio U.S. doltars using current exchange rates,
and income statement activities are translated using weighted average exchange rates The foreign currency translation adjustment is reflected in the
Consclidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and is included in accurrlulatecl other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are included in operating income. Foreign currency transaction gains flosses) totaled
$0.1 million, $(0.5) million and $(2.3) million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectwelyI

In the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for 2005, the cumulative translation adjustment of $10.0 million includes a
$32.2 million addition representing cumulative corractions of immaterial errors in th(le translation of foreign currency denominated goodwill and other
intangible assats during years prior to 2005, Such errors had no effect upon net incame, eamings per share, or cash fiows for any period.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSE. Costs related to reseasch and development activities are expensed as incurred. The Company periorms
research and development under Company-funded programs for commercial products. Total research and development expenditures in 2007, 2006
and 2005 were $14.1 million, $12.8 million and $14.4 miltion, respectively.

INCOME TAXES. The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for |

ncome taxes. Temporary differences arising from the difference

between the tax basis of an asset or liabifity and its carrying amount on the Consolidatled Balance Sheet are used to calculate future income tax assets
or liabilities. This method also requires the recognition of deferred tax benefits, such as net operating joss carryforwards, to the extent that realization

of such benefits is more likely than not. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measu
{losses) in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recove
achange in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactm

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, d
three months or less at the time of purchase. The Consolidated Statement of Cas

ed using enacted tax rates expected to apply 1o taxable income
ed or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets anc liabilities of
nt date.

lemand deposits and highly liquid investments with a maturity of
h Flows for the year ended December 31, 2007, reflects the

reclassification of $19.5 million of unrestricted cash balances to other current and noncurrent assets based on changes in expected maturity dates

of the underlying investments.
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RECEIVABLES. Accounts receivable are stated at the historical carrying amount net of write-offs and atlowance for doutrtful accounts. The Company
establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on historical experience and any specific customer callection issues ihat the Company has
identified. Doubtiul accounts receivable are written off when a settlement is reached for an amount that is less than the outstanding historical balance
or when ithe Company has determined the halance will not be collected.

The balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to retainage provisions in long-term coniracts and programs will be due upen completion
of the contracts and acceptance by the owner, At December 31, 2007, the Company had $3.9 million of retentions expected to be collected in 2008
recorded in accounts and notes receivable and $2.4 million of retentions expected to be collected beyond 2008 recorded in other noncurrent assets
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2008, the Company had $5.0 million of current retentions and $1.4 million of non-current
retentions recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

INVENTORIES. Certain domestic inventories are valued by the last-in, first-out (“LIFQ") cost method. Inventories not vatued by the LIFO method, other
than inventoried costs relating to long-term contracts and programs, are valued using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) cost methed, and are recorded at
the fower of cost or market. Approximately 45% and 50% of inventories were valued by the LIFC method in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Inventoried costs relating to long-term coniracts and programs are stated at the actual production cost, including factory overhead, incurred to
date. Progress payments related to long-term contracts and programs are shown as a reduction of inventories. Initial program start-up costs and other
nonrecurTing costs are expensed as incurred. Inventoried costs relating to long-term contracts and programs are reduced by charging any amounts
in excess of estimated realizable value to cost of sales.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT. Property, plant and equipment are recarded at cost. Major renewals and betterments are capitalized, whereas,
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of plant and equipment is determined on the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives of the assets; buildings and improvements, 3 to 40 years; machinery and equipment, 3 to 20 years.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired
businasses. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is subject to annual impairment testing conducted each year as of Octeber 1. The goodwill asset
impairment test invalves comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, a second step of comparing the implied fair vatue of the reporting unit's goodwill to the carrying amount of that goodwill is required to measure
the potential goodwill impairment loss. Interim tests may be required if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. The Company completed its required annual impairment tests of goodwill as of
Cetober 1, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The results of these assessments did not indicate any impairment of the gaodwill.

Other intangible assets are recorded at cost, ar when acquired as a part of a business combination, at estimated fair value. These assets include
customer relationships, patents and other technology agreements, trademarks, licenses and non-compete agreements. Intangible assets that have
definite lives are amortized using a methad that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the assets are consumed or the straight-line
method over estimated useful lives of 2 to 25 years. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are subject to at least annual impairment testing, which compares
the fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying amount. The results of these assessments did rot indicate any impairment to these intangible
assets for the years presented.

ASBESTOS. In 2005 and the first three quarters of 2006, the Company recorded a liability related to asbestos claims at the low end of a broad ten-year
range of equally likely estimates provided by the firm of Bates White, LLC (“Bates White”), a recognized expert in the field of estimating asbestos-related
liabitities. Due to the uncertain nature of the estimated liability, the Company and Bates White believed that no single amount in the range was a better
estimate than any other amount within the range. In accordance with the applicable accounting rules, the Company recorded a liability for these claims
at the lower end of the range of estimated potential liabilities. In the fourth quarter of 2006, based on the Company’s experience over the prior two years
and other factors, management identified a best estimate within the Bates White range and adjusted the liability accordingly.

The significant assumptions underlying the material components of the estimated liability include: the number and trend of claims to be asserted;
the mix of alleged diseases or impairment; the trend in the number of claims for non-malignant cases; the probability that some existing and potential
future claims will eventually be dismissed without payment; the estimated amount to be paid per claim, and the timing and impact of large amounts
that will become available for the payment of claims from the 524{g) trusts of former defendants in bankruptcy. The actual number of future actions
filed per year and the payments made to resotve those claims could exceed those reflected in management's estimate of the liability.
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With the assistance of Bates White, the Company will periodically review the periog over which it can make a reasonable estimate, the assumptions
underlying the Company's estimate, the range of reasonably possible potential liabilities and management's estimate of the liability, The Company
will adjust the liability if necessary. Changing circumstances and new data that may become available coutd cause a change in the estimated liability
in the future by an amount that cannot currently be reasonably estimated, and that ingrease could be significant and material. Additional discussion
is included in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies — Ashestos.”

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to various risks. The use of these financial
instruments modifies the expasure with the intent of reducing the risk to the Compan;'t. The Company does not use financiat instruments for trading
purposes, nor does it use leveraged financial instruments. The counterparties to these: contractual arrangements are major financial institutions. The
Company uses several different financial institutions for derivative contracts to minimize the concentration of credit risk. Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, “Acceunting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as! amended, requires that all derivative instruments be reported
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value and that changes in a derivative's fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge
criteria are met.

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include the translation of local currency
batances on its foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets, intercompany loans with foreign slubsidiaries and transactions denominated in foreign currencigs.
The Company strives to control its exposure to these risks through its normal operating activities and, where appropriate, through derivative instru-
ments. The Company has entered into contracts to hedge forecasted transactions dccurring at various dates through December 2010 that are
denominated in foreign currencies. The notional ameunt of foreign exchange contracts hedgirg foreign currency transactions was $141.5 million
and $84.4 millien at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These contracts are accounted for as cash flow hedges. As cash flow hedges, the
effective portion of the gain or 10s$ on the contracts is reported in accumulated other (Izomprehenswe income and the ineffective portion is reported
in income. Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income are reclassified into income in the period that the hedged transactions affect eamings.
It is anticipated that $0.2 million of the amounts within accumulated cther comprehensive incame at December 31, 2007, will be reclassified into
income within the next twelve months.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. Because of their short maturity, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes
receivable, accounts payable and short-term bark debt approximates fair value. Fair value of long-term investments is based on quotad market prices.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS. In September 2008, the Financial Accountling Standards Board {"FASB") issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” The standard provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. Under
the standard, fair value refers to the price that would be received to sell an asset or pa|d to transfer a liahility in an orderly fransaction between market
participants in the market in which the reporting entity transacts. The standard clarifies tlhe principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. In support of this principle, the standard establishes a fair value higrarchy that prioritizes
the information used to develop those assumptions. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does nat believe there will be a significant impact on the Congolidated
Financial Statements in connection with the adoption of this pronouncement.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141(R}, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141{R)") and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncantrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amandment of ARB No. 51"
("SFAS 160"). These new standards will significantly change the financial accounting and reporting of business combination transactions and non-
controlling (or minority) interests in consolidated financial statements. The Company will be required to adopt SFAS 141(R) and 160 for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. These new standards will not change the financial accounting and reporting for buginess combinations
completed prior to the effective date of the new standards.

2. Acquisitions

In June 2007, the Company acquired Texflo Machining Ltd., a privately-held company, that services and repairs reciprocating compressors, primarily
for the natural gas market in western Canada. In July 2007, the Company acquired 'Cumpressor Products international Limited, a privately-held
manufacturer of critical sealing compoenents for reciprocating compressors, gas enginles and related equipment. These acquisitions are included in
the Company's Engineered Products segment. The Company also purchased the remaining ownership interest in one of its subsidiaries and two small
product lines during 2007.
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The acquisitions completed during 2007 were paid for with $77.0 million in cash. They resulted in increases in property, plant and equipment
of $4.5 miltion, goodwill of $42.3 million, other intangible assets of $40.3 million and debt of $2.2 million, decreases in long-term deferred tax assets
of $7.6 million, other noncurrent liabilities of $4.1 million and working capital of $0.3 million, as well as an extraordinary gain of $4.1 million related
to the purchase of the remaining ownership interest in one of the Company’s subsidiaries. The gain was recorded net of $1.6 million of income taxes.

In May 2008, the Company acquired Allwest Compressor Services (“Allwest”), a privately-hefd manufacturer of compressor components
primarily for the natural gas and cil production industries in Western Canada. Allwest, along with Southwest Compressor Services and H.A.R.
Compressor Products, which were also acquired during the year, are included in the Company’s Engineered Products segment. In July 2008, the
Company acquired Amicon Plastics, a privatey-heid company that manufactures and sefls customized flucropoiymer and engingered plastic companents
to semiconductor, pump and valve, oilfiefd and other industries. This acquisition is included in the Company's Sealing Products segment.

The acquisitions completed during 2006 were paid for with $27.3 million in cash, and a $1.0 million note payable to one of the sellers. The
acquisitions resulted in increases in working capital of $4.6 million, property, plant and equipment of $2.9 million, goodwill of $7.2 million, other
intangible assets of $13.3 million, and other assets of $0.3 million.

During 2005, the Company spent a total of $1.7 million to purchase the remaining ownership interest in one of its subsidiaries in the Sealing
Products segment and a small product line. These acquisitions resulted in an increase in goodwill of $0.9 million, an increase in other intangible
assets of $0.1 million and a decrease in other non-current fiabilities of $0.7 miltion.

3. Restructuring and Other Costs

In 2005, the Company appraved a plan to modernize the Palmyra, New York facilities of Garlock Sealing Technologies, inctuded within the Sealing
Products segment. Garlock Sealing Technologies has been on its current site since the earty 1900s, with the buildings dating from 1907 to 1956,
The project will reduce the number of buildings on the site from 26 to 7 and eliminate 350,000 square feet of space, or approximately half of the
space currently under roof. Work on the project began in the second half of 2005, The modernization will be completed over five years at an expected
cost, including expenses and capital expenditures, of approximately $35 million, exctuding the impact of grants, tax abatements and tax credits. The
Company anticipates that slightly less than half of the costs, primarily demalition of existing structures, site preparation and equipment relocation,
will be expensed as incurred and the balance, primarily construction of new buildings, will be capitalized.

During 2007, the Company announced the planned consetidation of facilities for a unit within the Sealing Products segment. Approximately
$0.6 million of costs were incurred during 2007 of the total anticipated $2.4 million for the entire initiative. Workforce reductions announced totaled 33,
primarily hourly manufacturing positions, none of which took place during 2007. The project is currently anticipated te be completed early in 2008.

Restructuring reserves at December 31, 2007, as well as activity during the year, consisted of:

Balance Direct Credits to Balance

(in millions} December 31, 2006 Provision Payments  Environmental Liabilites December 31, 2007
Personnel-related costs $0.1 $0.7 $0.4) $ - $0.4
Facility demolition and relocation costs - 5.3 (3.0 2.3) -
$0.1 36.0 $3.4 329 $0.4

Restructuring reserves at December 31, 2006, as well as activity during the year, consisted of:

Balance Direct Credits to Balance

{in millions) December 31, 2005 Provision Payments  Environmental Liakilities  December 31, 2006
Personnel-related costs 50 $ - 5 - $ - $0.1
Facility demofition and relocation costs - 23 0.9 (1.4) -
$0.1 $23 $0.9 $(1.4) $0.1

Severat smaller restructuring initiatives were begun and completed during 2005. These included the conversion of a manufacturing facility to
a service center, the closing of a warehouse and the consolidation and relocation of several product lines. Workforge reductions anncunced and
completed during 2005 relating to these programs totaled 13 positions.
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Restructuring reserves at December 31, 2005, as well as activity during the year,

consisted of:

Balance Balance

{in miltions} December 31, 2004 Provision Payments  December 31, 2005
Personnel-related costs $1.0 ’ $0.1 $(1.0) $0.1
Facility demalition and relacation costs - 04 09 -
$1.0 $1.0 - §1.9 30.1

The restructuring and other costs of $6.0 million, $2.3 million and $1.0 mitlion for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,

respeclively, all related to the Sealing Products segment.

4. Loss (Gain) on Sale of Assets, Net

In 2005, the Company sold a facility occupied by a former subsidiary. The Company had leased the facility to the former subsidiary since its divestiture
in 1990. Net proceeds from the sale were approximately $6 million resulting in a $5.2{million pre-tax gain.

5. Other Income

In conjunction with the closure of a plant in the early 1980s, the Company was requiged to fund two trusts for retiree medical hanefits for union
benefits on an ongoing basis. The Company has no ownership
interest in the Benefits Trust, and thus the assets and liabilities of this trust are not included in the Company's Censolidated Balance Sheets.

| contributions to the Benefits Trust to cover potential shortfalls,
the Company was required to establish a second trust (the “Back-Up Trust"). Under the terms of the Benefits Trust agreement, the trusteas are required
to retain an actuary to assess the adequacy of the assets in the Benefits Trust in 19852005 and 2015, Based on the valuation completed in early
2005, the actuary determined that there were adequate assets in the Bengfits Trust to flénd the estimated payments by the trust until the next vatuation
date. As a result, $11 million of excess assets held in the Back-Up Trust was releasedfto the Company during 2005. This amount was based on a
distribution formula destribed in the Benefits Trust agreement and was recorded in income upon receipt. This topic is discussed further in Note 17,

employees at the plant. The first trust {the “Benefits Trust”) pays for these retiree medica

Because of the possibility that the Company would be required to make additiona

“Commitments and Contingencies.”

During 2005, the Company recorded income of $4.6 million resulting from a favorable legal decision in a product liability matter which was partially
offset by increases to environmental reserves based on new facts at five specific sites. All of these matters related to previously owned businesses.

6. Income Taxes
Income {loss) before income taxes and extraordinary items as shown in the Consalidate

d Statements of Operations consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
{in milions) 2007 2006 2005
Domestic $124 $285.7) $62.5
Foreign 45.6 35 29.6
Total $58.0 $(254.2) $92.1
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A summary of income tax benefil (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations before extraordinary items is as foltows:

Years Ended December 31,
{in millions) 2007 2006 2005
Current:

Federal $(10.6) $ 20 $ 68
Foreign (17.3} (10.6) (1.7
State (0.8} {0.6) {0.4)
(28.7) (9.2} (18.9)

Deferred:
Federal 6.5 99.2 (12.5)
Foreign 15 2.4 (0.8)
State 0.4 77 (1.3
8.4 1045 (14.6)
Total $20.3) $ 953 $(33.5

Significant compenents of deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

{in miliions) 2007 2006

Deferred income tax assets:
Accrual for post-retirement benefits other than pensions $ 30 $ 34
Environmental reserves 10.4 16.5
Retained liabilities of previously owned businesses 12.1 99
Call options 18.7 20.2
Inventories 1.9 3.2
Accruals and reserves 18.0 14.2
Minirmum pension liability 10.1 85
Ashestos accrual 143.4 127.1
Total deferred income tax assets 217.6 203.0

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Pensions (4.8) (4.1)
Tax depreciation and amortization in excess of book (37.1) (22.9)
Payments in excess of insurance recoveries (62.5) (83.5)
Other (0.8) —
Total deferred income tax liabilities {105.2) (110.5)
Net deferred income taxes $1124 $ 925

The Company concluded that a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, was not required.
The Company’s methodology for determining the realizabitity of deferred tax assets involves estimates of future taxable income from its operations.
These estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred tax assets based on assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable
and consistent with current operating results. Changes in future operating results not currently forecasted may have a significant impact on the reaization
of deferred tax assets.
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The effective income tax rate from operations varied from the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Percent of Pretax Income

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Statutory federal income tax rate 35.0% (35.00% 35.0%
Credits (1.6) - Q.7
State and local taxes 07 2.8 18
Extraterritorial incone exclusion benefit - 0.3) 0.9
Foreign rate variations 1.8 02 17
German tax rate change (4.4) - -
Uncertain tax positions 2.0 - -
Other iterns 15 0.4 0.6)
Effective income tax rate 35.0% (37.5)% 36.3%

At December 31, 2007, the Company had undistributed earnings of apprommately $61.4 million from subsidiaries in Australia, Canada, Mexico
and Brazil that are not considered to be permanently reinvested. Based on current income tax rates, the Company believes the tax effect on any
distribution will be immaterial due to the Company’s foreign tax credit position. Accordingly, no deferred taxes have been provided for these undistributed
foreign earnings.

The Company has not provided for the federal and foreign withholding taxes on $1 15.8 million of the remaining foreign subsidiaries” undistributed
earnings as of December 31, 2007, because such earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitety. On repatsiation, centain foreign countries impose
withholding taxes. The amount of withhelding tax that would be payable on remlttancle of the entire amount would approximate $9.8 million. Based
on current income tax rates, the Company believes the tax effect of any distribution w!il be immaterial due to the Company's fargign tax credit position.

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty n Income Taxes” ("FIN 48™) on January 1, 2007. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a $0.1 million decrease in liabilities for unrecognized tax benehts with a corresponding reduction in the accumulated deficit. At
January 1, 2007, the Company had recorded a liability of approximately $21.8 million Ifor unrecognized tax benefits of which $4.9 million, if recognized,
would affect the effective tax rate. The Company records interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. At
January 1, 2007, the Company had accrued $1.1 million for the potential payment of iﬁterest. At December 31, 2007, the Company had a $19.1 million
fiability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits, which includes interest of $1.9 million, ncluded in the balance at December 31, 2007, are $13.2 million of
tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. The total
amount of unrecognized benefits that, if recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate was $5.9 million. A reconciliation of the beginning and
ending amount of the unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

{in millions)

Bafance at January 1, 2007 $21.8
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 07

Additions for tax positions of prior years 0.1

Reductions for tax positions of prior years (4.5
Reductions as a result of audit settlements 09
Balance at December 31, 2007 $17.2

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. tederal income tax as well as income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. Substantially
all federal, state and local, and foreign income tax returns for the years 2003 through 2006 are open to examination, The U.S. federal income tax
returns for 2003 to 2005 and various foreign and state tax returns are currently under examination and may conclude within the next twelve months.
The final outcomes of these audits are not yet determinable; however, management befieves that any assessments that may arise wili not be material
to the Company's financial condition or results of operations.
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7. Eamings {Loss) Per Share

Basic eamings {l0ss) per share is computed by dividing the applicable net income {loss) by the weighted-average number of commen shares outstanding
for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock as adjusted for any
potentially dilutive shares as of the balange sheet date. The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss} per share is as follows:

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005
Numeyator (basic and diluted):
Net income (loss) $40.2 $(158.9) $58.6
Denorminator:
Weighted-average shares — basic 213 209 20.7
Share-based awards 05 - 06
Convertible debentures 05 - -
Weighted-average shares — diluted 223 209 21.3
Eamings {loss} per share:
Basic $1.89 $ (7.60) $2.83
Diluted $1.80 $ (7.60) $2.75

As discussed further in Note 11, the Company has issued convertible debentures. Under the terms of the debentures, the Company would settle
the par amount of its obligations in cash and the remaining obligations, if any, in common shares. In accordance with the current applicable accounting
quidelines, the Company includes the conversion option effect in diluted eamings per share during such periods when the Company’s stock price exceeds
the initial conversion price of $33.79 per share.

In 2006, there was a loss attributable to common shares. Potentially dilutive share-based awards of 0.6 million shares and convertible debentures
of 0.1 million shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they were antidilutive.

8. Inventories
Inventories consists of the following:

As of Decernber 31,
(in millions) 2007 2006
Finished producis $457 $40.0
Costs relating to long-term contracts and programs 19.4 321
Waork in process 23.0 208
Raw materials and supplies 308 24.6
1189 1175
Reserve to reduce certain inventories io LIFO basis (16.2) {16.6}
Progress payments (32.4) (21.6}

Total $703 $79.3
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

As of December 31,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Land $ 40 § 36
Buildings and improvements 107.7 102.3
Machinery and equipment 3441 3198
Construction in progress 3341 19.3
488.9 4450

Less accumulated depreciation {295.4) (278.7)
Total $1935 $166.3

Construction in progress has been reduced by $1.6 million as of December 31
agencies to reimburse the Company for expenditures made on the Palmyra, New Ya
activity, it has not been included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of G

10. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

, 2007, for grants and credits receivable from governmental
rk modernization project. Since this was a noncash investing
sh Flows.

The changes in the net carrying value of goodwill by reportable segrment for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Enging

Sealing Enginegred Products and
(in millions) Products Products Services Total
Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2005 $431 5945 $7.1 $1447
Foreign currency translation 1.1 8.6 - 97
Acquisitions 44 28 - 7.2
Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2006 486 105.9 71 161.6
Foreign currency transtation 1.2 87 - 8.9
Acquisitions - 42.3 - 42.3
Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2007 $49.8 $156.9 $7.1 $213.8

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of identifiable intan

As of December 31, 2007

gible assels is as follows:

As of December 31, 2006

Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(in millions) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Customer relationships $ 68.4 $209 $42.9 $16.1
Existing technology 2.0 38 16.5 28
Trademarks 384 58 285 4.2
Other 13.3 71 11.4 6.0
$141.1 $37.6 $39.3 $29.2
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The goodwill and identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2007, are subject to change once the final asset and liability valuations are
completed for the 2007 acquisitions,

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $7.8 million, $6.1 million and $5.5 million, respectively.
Amortization expense for these intangible assets for the years 2008 through 2012 is estimated o be $9.6 million, $9.3 million, $9.0 miltion, $8.6 milfion
and $7.6 million, respectively. Of the $38.4 million in trademarks as of December 31, 2007, approximately $23 million was for trademarks with
indefinite lives.

11. Long-Term Debt
The Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2007 and 2006 is summarized as follows:

(in millions} 2007 2006
Convertible Debentures . $1725 81725
Coltec Senior Notes 31 31
Industrial revenue bonds 9.6 96
Other note payable 0.5 0.5
185.7 185.7

Less current maturities of long-tenm debt 3.6 -
$182.1 $185.7

The Company's primary U.S. operating subsidiaries have a senior secured revolving credit facility with a group of banks. The credit agreement
for this facility was originally executed on May 16, 2002. On Agxil 26, 2006, the Company and its primary U.S. operating subsidiaries amended and
extended the facility. As amended, the maximum initial amount available for borrowings under the facility is $75 million. Under certain conditions, the
borrowers may request that the facility be increased by up to $25 million, to $100 millien total. The facility matures on April 21, 2011, Borrowings
are available at LIBOR plus a margin of 1.00% to 1.75%. The Company pays an annual unused line fee of 0.25%. The Company also pays an annual
administrative agency fee of $40,000.

There have been no borrowings under this credit facility since its inception. Borrowings under the credit facility would be collateralized by receivables,
inventories, intellectual property, insurance receivables and all other personal property assets (other than fixed assets) of the Company and its U.S.
subsidiaries, and by pledges of 65% of the capital stock of their foreign subsidiaries and 100% of the capital stock of their domestic subsidiaries.
The credit facility contains customary restrictions, covenants and events of defauli for financings of this type, including but not fimited to limitations
on the ability to pay dividends, limitations on the incurrence and repayment of additional debt and maintenance of a fixed charge coverage financial
ratio. Cenain of the covenants and restrictions apply enly if availability under the facility falls below certain levels.

In 2005, the Company issued $172.5 million in aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Debentures (the "Debentures™). The Debenturas
bear interest at the annual rate of 3.9375%, with interast due on April 15 and October 15 of each year. The Debentures will mature on October 15, 2015
unless they are converted prior to that date. The Debentures are the Company's direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations and rank equal in
priority with all unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and senior in right of payment to all subordinated indebtedness. They effectively rank junior
to all secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. The Debentures do not contain any financial covenants.

Holders may convert the Debentures into cash and shares of the Company's common stock, under certain circumstances. The initial conversion
rate, which is subject to adjustment, is 29.5972 shares of commaon stock per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures. This is equal to an initial
conversion price of $33.79 per share. The debentures may be converted under the following circumstances:

 during any fiscal quarter commencing after December 31, 2005 {and only during such fiscaf quarter), if the closing price of the Company's common
stock for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading-day period ending on the last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter was 130%
or more of the then current conversion price per share of common stock on that 301h trading day;

= during the five busingss day period after any five consecutive trading-day period {which is referrad to as the “measurement perfod™) in which the
trading price per debenture for each day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the closing price of the Company’s
common stock and the applicable conversion rate for the debentures;

* on or after September 15, 2015;

« upon the accurrence of specified corporate transactions: or

* in connection with a transaction or event constituting a “change of control.”
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The conditions that permit conversion were not satisfied at December 31, 2007.

Upon conversion of any Debentures, the principal amount would be settled in cash. Specifically, in connection with any conversion, the Company

will satisfy its obligations under the Debentures by delivering to holders, in respect o
converted:

 cash equal to the lesser of $1,000 or the Conversion Value, and
* 1o the extent the Conversion Value exceeds $1,000, a number of shares equal to
betowy, (1} 5% of the difference between {A) the product of the conversion rate

control) and the closing price of the Company’s common stock for such date and

common stock for such day.

each $1,000 aggregate principal amount of Debentures being

he sum of, for each day of the Cash Settlement Period (defined
{plus any additional shares as an adjustment upon a change of
{B) $1,000, divided by (2} the closing price of the Company's

“Canversion Value” means the product of (1) the conversion rate in effect {plus any additional shares as an adjustment upon a change of control)

and (2) the average of the closing prices of the Company's common stock for the 20
after the conversion date for those Debentures.

consecutive trading days beginning on the second trading day

The Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of tha Debentures to enter into call options {hedge and warrant transactions},
which entitle the Company to purchase shares of its stock fram a financial institution at $33.79 per share and entitle the financial institution to purchase
shares from the Company at $46.78 per share. This will reduce potential dilution to the Company's common stock from conversion of the Debentures
by increasing the effective conversion price to $46.78 per share. The entry into these transactions had the effect of decreasing the Company's total
shareholders’ equity by approximately $5.4 million, which reprasents the net cash o'utlay of the call options of $26.7 million, offset by an anticipated
tax benefit of $21.3 million. Future tax benefits are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including changes in the applicable provisions of federal

and state income tax codes and regulations,

The 7¥:% Coltec Senior Notes are payable in full in 2008. The industrial revenue bonds are payable in full in 2009 and bear interest at rates
ranging from 6.4% io 6.55%. The other note payable is payable in full in 2008 and bears interest at a rate of 5.0%.

Future principal payments on long-term debt are as follows:

{in millions)
2008 $ 36
2009 9.6
2010 -
2011 -
2012 -
Thereafter 1725
$185.7
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12. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The Company's accounting policies with respect to financial instruments are described in Note 1. The carrying values of the Company’s significant
financial instruments reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate their respective fair values at December 31, 2007 and 2006, except
for the following instruments:

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
{in millions) Value Value Value Value
Long-term debt $185.7 $215.9 $185.7 $230.2

The fair values for fong-term debt are based on quoted market prices or on rates available to the Company for debt with similar terms and maturities.

13. Pensions and Paostretirement Benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries have several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees in the United States,
Canada, Mexico and several European countries. Salaried employees' berefit payments are generally determined using a formula that is based on
an employee’s compensation and length of service. The Company closed its defined benefit pensian plan for new salaried employess in the United
States who joined the Company after January 1, 2006, and effective January 1, 2007, benefits were frozen for all salaried employees who are not
age 40 as of December 31, 2006, and other employees who chose to freeze their benefits. Hourly employees” benefit payments are generally determined
using stated amounts for each year of service. The Company's employees also participate in voluntary contributory retirement savings plans for salaried
and hourty employees maintained by the Company and its subsidiaries. Under these plans, eligible employees can receive matching centributions up
to the first 6% of their eligible earings. Effective January 1, 2007, those employees whose defined benefit pension plan benefits were frozen wil
receive an additional 2% Company contribution each year. The Company recorded $6.2 miflion, $5.2 million and $4.6 million in expenses in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively, for matching contributions under these plans.

The Company’s general funding pelicy for qualified defined benefit pension plans is to contribute amounts that are at least sufficient to satisfy
requiatory funding standards. In each of 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company contributed discretionary amounts of $10.0 million to the U.S, pension
plans. The Company anticipates that there will be no required funding in 2008, and has not determined whether it will make a discretionary contribution
in 2008 to the U.S. pension plans. The Company expects to make total contributions of approximately $1.4 million in 2008 to the foreign pension
plans. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit abligation and fair vatue of plan assets for the defined benefit pension plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $186.7 million, $172.5 million and $167.5 million at December 31, 2007, and $139.5 million,
$127.8 million and $118.9 million at December 31, 2006, respectively.

The Company amortizes prior service cost and unrecognized gains and losses using the straight-line basis over the average future service life
of active participants.

The: Company provides, through non-qualified plans, supplemental pension benefits o a limited number of employees. Certain of the Company's
subsidiaries also sponsor unfunded defined benefit postretirement plans that provide certain health-care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees.
The health-care plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and contain other cost-sharing features, such as deductibles
and coinsurance. The (ife insurance pians are generally noncontributory. The amounts included in “Other Benefits” in the following tables Include the
non-gualified plans and the defined benefit postretirement plans that provide certain health-care and life ingurance benefits to eligible employees.
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Domestic Plans
The following table sets ferth the changes in projected benefit obligations and plan alssets of the Company’s U.S. defined benefit pension and other
non-qualified and postretirement plans as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Pengion Benefits Other Benefits
(i millions) 2007 | 2006 2007 2006
Change in Projected Benefit Obligations
Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year $155.8 $157.5 $119 $11.4
Service cost _ 58 74 1.5 09
Interest cost 9.7 8.9 0.7 0.7
Actuarial loss {gain) 3.0 {11.0$) - 01
Amendmenis 0.4 195 0.5 -
Administrative expenses (1.3) (1.4) - -
Benefits paid 4.8) {4.1) (1.7 (1.2)
Projected benefit obligations at end of year 168.6 155.8 12.9 11.9
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 143.2 122.2
Actual return on plan assets 10.0 16.5
Administrative expenses (1.3 {1.4)
Company contributions 10.0 10.0
Benefits paid (4.8 4.1
Fair vatue of plan assets at end of year 1571 143.2
Funded Status at End of Year $(11.5) $(12.6) ${12.9) $(11.9)
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
Noncurrent assets $ - $ 01 5 - § -
Cuarent liabilities - - 0.8) 1.2
Noncurrent liabilities (11.5) (129 (12.1) (10.7)
$(11.5) $(12.6) $(12.9) $011.9)

Pre-tax charges recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income as af December 31, 2007 and 2006 consist of:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(in millions} 2007 2006 2007 2006
Net actuarial loss $20.3 $148 $25 327
Prior service cost 4.5 54 1.6 1.1
$24.8 3202 $4.1 $3.8
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The accumulatad benefit obligation for all domestic defined benefit pension plans was $156.7 million and $145.7 million at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(in millions) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost $ 58 $ 74 $7.1 $15 $09 $09
Interest cost 9.7 89 82 07 0.7 06
Expected return on plan assets (12.5) {10.5) 9.3 - - -
Amartization of prior service cost 1.2 25 25 0.2 0.1 0.2)
Recognized net actuarial loss 01 1.8 1.2 0.2 0.2 0.1
Curtailment loss - 0.2 — - - -
Net penodic Denefit cost 43 $103 $97 26 $17 $14
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Net loss 56 -
Prior service cost 0.3 07
Amortization of net loss (tAY} {0.2)
Amortization of prior service cost (1.3 {0.2)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income 4.6 0.3
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Benefit Cost and
Other Comprehensive Income $ 89 $29

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive
income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $0.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively. The estimated net loss and prior service
cost for the other defined benefit postretirement plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost
over the next fiscal year is $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Pension Benefits QOther Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine
Benefit Obligations at December 31
Discount rate 6.25% 6.25% 5.75% 6.25% 6.25% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine
Net Periodic Benefit Cost for Years Ended December 31

Discaunt rate 6.25% 5.75% 6.0% 6.25% 5.75% 6.0%
Expected long-term retum on plan assets 8.5% 8.5% 8.5% - - -
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0% 4,0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

The discount rate reflects the current rate at which the pengion liahilities coutd be effectively settled at the end of the year. The discount rate
was determined by matching the Company’s expected benefit payments, taking into account the plans’ demographics, to payments from a stream of
AA- or higher bonds available in the marketplace. This produced a discount rate of 8.25% at December 31, 2007. As of the date of these financial
staternents, there are no known or anticipated changes in our discount rate assumption that will impact our pension expense in 2008, A 25 basis
peint decrease (increase) in our discount rate, hetding constant cur expected long-term return on plan assets and other assumptions, would increase
(decrease) pension expense by approximately $0.7 million per year.

The overall expected long-term rate of return on assets was determined based upon weighted-average historical returns over an extended
period of time for the asset classes in which the plans invest according to the Company’s current investment policy.
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The Company uses the RP-2000 mortality table to value its domestic pension liabilities.

Assumed Health Care Cost Trend Rates at December 31 2007 2006
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.0% 9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to dacling (the ultimate rate) 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2013 2012

A one percentage point change in the assumed health-care cost trend rate wou
benefit cost and $0.4 million on benefit obfigations.

d have an impact of not more than $0.1 million on net periodic

Plan Assets
The: asset allocation for pension plans at the end of 2007 and 2006, and the target allocation for 2008, by asset category are as follows:
Target Allocation Plan Assets at December 31,
2008 2007 2006
Asset Category
Equity securities 65% 65% 66%
Fixed income 35% 5% 34%
100% 100% 100%

The Company's investment goal is to maximize the return on assets, over the lo g term, by investing in equities and fixed income investments
while diversifying investments within each asset class to reduce the impact of (osses iln individual securities. Equity investments include a mix of U.S.
large capitalization equities, U.S. small capitalization equities and non-U.S. equities. Fixed income investrments include a mix of corporate bonds,
treasury obligations and mortgage backed securities. The asset allocation policy is revieYved periodically and any variation from the target asset allocation
mix greater than 2% is rebalanced on a monthly basis. The plans have no direct investments in the Company's common stock.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate

are expected to be paid:

(in millipns) Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2008 $56 $13
2009 6.1 40
2010 6.8 14
2011 7.4 1.1
202 8.3 1.1
Years 2013—2017 56.2 56
$90.4 $14.5
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Foreign Plans
The following table sets forth the changes in projected henefit obligations and plan assets of the Company's foreign defined benefit pension and
other postretirement plans as of and for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Pension Benefits Gther Benefits
{in milfions) 2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in Projected Benefit Obligations
Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year $18.2 $18.1 $15 $16
Service cost 07 06 01 0.1
Interest cost 09 08 0.1 01
Curtailments and settlements - {0.1) - -
Actuarial gain (1.1) - {0.3) 0.4
Benefits paid (1.8} 2.1) - -
QOther, primarily exchange rate adjustment 24 0.9 - 0.1
Projected benefit obligations at end of year 19.3 18.2 14 1.5
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 10.6 9.7
Actual returm on plan assets 0.1 1.2
Company contributions 19 1.9
Benefits paid (1.8) 2.0
(Other, primarily exchange rate adjusiment 1.6 0.1)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 124 10.6
Funded Status $(6.9) $7.6 $(1.4) $(1.5)
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
Noncurrent assets $08 $07 $ - $ -
Current liabilities 0.3) 0.3 - -
Noncurrent liabilities (7.4 8.0} (1.4) {1.5)
$(6.9) 5.6 $(1.4) $(1.5)

Pre-tax charges {credits) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 consist of:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(in millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006
Net actuarial loss {gain) $24 $25 ${0.6) $0.2
Prior service cost 0.3 {0.3) 09 08
$ 21 §22 $03 $07
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The accumulated benefit obligations for all foreign defined benefit pension plans was $16.9 million and $15.7 million at December 31, 2007

and 2006, respectively,

Pensiclm Benefits (Other Benefits
(io millions) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Net Periodic Benefit Cost |
Service cost $0.7 $06 $05 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1
Interest cost 0.9 08 09 01 0.1 0.1
Expected return on plan assets {0.8) 0.7} 0.7) - - -
Recognized net actuarial loss 0.1 0.3 03 - ~ -
Curtailment and settlement loss - 0.1 0.1 - - -
Net periodic benefit cost 0.9 $1.1 $1.1 0.2 $0.2 502
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Net gain 0.4 0.4)
Amortization of net loss {0.1) -
Other, primarily exchange rate adjustment 0.4 -
Total recognized in other comprehensive incomne 0.1) (0.4}
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Benefit Cost
and Other Comprehensive Income $0.8 ${0.2)

The estimated net loss for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amonizeld from accumulated other comprehensive income intg net
periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is $0.1 million. The estimaied prior service cost for the other defined benefit postretirement plans that

will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic ben

efit cost over the next fiscal year is $0.1 million.

Pensiqn Benefits Other Benefits
{in milfons) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine
Benefit Obligations at December 31
Discount rate 5.6% 5.0% 47% 5.5% 4.5% 4.0%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine
Net Periodic Benefit Cost for Years Ended December 31
Discount rate 5.0% 4.7% 5.3% 4.5% 40% 4.5%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.0% 7.4% 7.8% - - -
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 31% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Assumed Health Care Cost Trend Rates
The assumed health care cost trend rate at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 4%.

A one percentage point change in the assumed health-care cost trend rate would have an impact of not mare than $0.1 million on net periodic

benefit cost and $0.3 million on benefit obligations.

Plan Assets

The asset allocation for the Canadian pension plan at the end of 2007 and 2006 and the target allocation for 2008 is 60% equity securities, 35%
fixed income, and 5% other. The asset allocation for the Mexican pension plan at the end of 2007 and 2006 and the target allocation for 2008 is

100% fixed income. The European plans are generalty unfunded.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected 1o be made:

(in millions) Pension Benefits Other Bengfits
2008 311 $ -
2009 1.0 -
2010 1.0 -
2011 1.5 -
2012 1.3 -
Years 2013 - 2017 8.5 0.3

$14.4 $0.3

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Accumulated other comprehensive incame consists of the following:

As of December 31,
(in millions} 2007 2006
Unrealized translation adjustments $68.7 $434
Pension and other postretirement plans (19.5) {16.8}
Accumuiated net gain on cash flow hedges 0.7 0.7
Accumulated other comprehensive income $49.9 $27.3

The pension and other postretirement plans are net of deferred taxes of $11.8 million and $10.1 million, in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
accumulated net gain on cash flow hedges is net of deferred taxes of $0.5 million and $0.4 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

15. Equity Compensation Plan

The Company has an equity compensation plan (the “Plan™ that provides for the delivery of up 10 3.6 million shares pursuant to various market and
performance-based incentive awards. As of December 31, 2007, there are 1.9 millicn shares available for future awards. The Company’s policy is to
issue new shares 1o satisfy share option exercises.

Under the terms of the Plan, performance share awards were granted to executives and other key employees during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Each grant will vest if the Company achigvas specific financial objectives at the end of a three-year performance period. Additional shares may be
awarded if objectives are exceeded, but some or all shares may be forfeited if objectives are not met. Performance shares eamed at the end of a
performance period, if any, will be paid in actual shares of Company commen stock, less the nurber of shares equal in vatue to applicable withholding
taxes if the employee chooses. During the performance period, a grantee receives dividend equivatenis accrued in cash (f any), and shares are forfeited
if a grantee terminates employment.

A summary of the performance share activity during the year ended December 31, 2007, is presented below. The number of performance share
awards shown in the table below represents the maximum number that could be issued.

Weighted-Average

Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2007 398,527 $28.50
Granted 203,187 36.69
Vested (167,247 28.28
Forteited (34,523) 33.43
Achievement level adjustment {22,749) 28.28
Nonvested at December 31, 2007 377,195 $32.57

pg.bo >




EnPro Industries 2007 Form 10-K

The performance share awards granted had a fair value, which approximated market value, at the grant date of $5.0 million, $4.3 million and
$4.0 million or $36.69, $28.71 and $28.28 per share in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Campensation expense related to the performance shares
is recorded over the applicable performance period and amounted to $4.8 million, $5.0’miilion and $2.5 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The related income tax benefit was $1.8 millien, $1.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The 2005 performance share awards vested as of
December 31, 2007 and were paid in February 2008,

As of December 31, 2007, there was $4.6 million of unrecegnized compensation cost related to nonvested performance share awards ihat is
expected to be recognized over a period of two years.

Non-qualified and incentive stock options were granted in 2003 and 2002. No stock option has a term exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.
All stock options were granted at not less than 100% of fair market value (as definedy.on the date of grant. Compensation expense related to the
stock options amounted to $0.2 million in 2005, after which they were fully expensed.

A summary of option activity undar the Plan as of December 31, 2007, and changes during the year then ended, is presented below:

Share Weighted

Options Average

| Outstanding Exercise Price

Balance at December 31, 2006 903,273 $4.89
Exercised , 234,453 4.63
Balance at December 31, 2007 | 668,320 $4.97

All outstanding share options are exercisable as of December 31, 2007. The weighted-average remaining contractual life of the outstanding options
i5 3.6 years. As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate intrinsic value of the outstandind and exercisable shares was $17.2 million. The total intrinsic
value of cptions exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005I was $8.3 million, $5.7 mitlion and $5.2 million, respectively.

All outstanding share options were fully vested by December 31, 2006. The total fair value of share options vested during the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $0.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Cash received from option exercises under the Plan for the years ended December; 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $1.0 million, $0.7 miltion and
$1.1 million, respectively. The tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises totaled $2.5 million, $1.3 million and $1.3 million for
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Each non-employee director receives a one-time initial grant of phantom shares equal in value to $30,000 upon election to the board of
directors. Each non-employee director also receives an annual grant of phantom shares equal in value to $25,000, beginning in the year following
the director’s election to the board of directors and continuing through the tenth year of serwce as a director. The Company will pay each non-employee
director in cash the fair market value of all the director’s phantom shares granted prior to 2005, subject to applicable withholding taxes, upon termi-
nation of service as a member of the board of directors. Phantom shares granted in 2005 and thereafter will be paid out in the form of one share of
Company common stock for each phantom share, with the value of any fractional phantom shares paid in cash. Expense recognized in the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 related to these phantom share grants was $0.1 rml[lon $0.6 miltion and $0.0 million, respectively. Cash payments
of $0.4 miltion were used to settle phantom shares during 2007, No cash was used to settle any phantom shares in 2006 and 2005.

16. Business Segment Information

The Company has three reportable segments. The Sealing Products segment rnanufactlljres sealing and PTFE products. The Engineered Products
segment manufactures metal and metal polymer bearings and filament wound products, air compressor systems and vacuum pumps, and racipro-
cating compressor components. The Engine Products and Services segment manufactures and services heavy-duty, medium-speed diesel, natural
gas and dual fue! reciprocating engines. The Company's reportable segments are manaped separately based on differences in their products and
services and their end-customers. Segment profit is total segment revenue reduced by ope:arating expenses and restructuring and other costs identifiable
with the segment. Corporate expenses include gengral corporate administrative costs. Expenses not directly attributable to the segments, corporate
expenses, net interest expense, ashestos-related expenses, gains/losses or impairments related to the sale of assets and income taxes are not included
in the computation of segment profit. The accounting policies of the reportatie segment's are the same as those for the Company.
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Years Ended December 31,
(in millicns) 2007 2006 2005
Sales
Sealing Products $ 4573 $4325 $392.9
Engineered Products 4455 N7 346.0
Engine Products and Services 128.1 105.2 1011
1,030.9 9204 840.0
Intersegment sales (0.9) (1.0 (1.4)
Total sales $1,030.0 $928.4 $838.6
Segment Profit
Seating Products $ 780 $ 765 $ 66.1
Engineered Products 69.4 615 454
Engine Products and Senvices 15.3 49 59
Total segment profit 162.7 1429 1174
Comorate expenses (34.1) (31.6) (25.5)
Asbestos-related expenses (68.4) {359.4) 1.7
(Gain (loss) on sale of assets, net - (0.6) 58
Interest income (expense}, net 0.2 (3.2) (6.1)
Qther income {expense), net (2.4} (2.3) 12.2
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 580 $(254.2) $ 921
No custormer accounted for 10% or more of net salgs in 2007, 2006 or 2005.
Years Ended December 31,
(in milkong) 2007 2006 2005
Capital Expenditures
Sealing Products § 274 $223 $127
Engineered Products 16.8 145 14.9
Engine Products and Services 2.2 4.4 28
Corporate 0.4 0.1 1.8
Total capital expenditures $ 468 $403 $322
Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Sealing Products $ 148 $ 135 $ 113
Engineered Products 20.6 17.2 15.9
Engine Products and Services 4.0 37 3.4
Corporate 0.8 0.8 0.7
Total depreciation and amortization $ 402 $ 352 $ 313
Net Sales by Geographic Area
United States $ 5657 $543.0 $4856
Europe 2778 2228 2121
Other foreign 186.5 162.6 140.9
Total $1,030.0 $928.4 $838.6

Net sales are attributed to countries based on location of the customer.
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I
As of December 31,
{in millions) 2007 2006
Assets
Sealing Products $ 2468 $§ 2243
Engineered Products 464.3 337.0
Engine Products and Services 722 78.0
Corporate 687.0 768.3
$1,470.3 $1,406.6
Long-Lived Assets
United States $ 2316 $ 2255
Germany 745 639
France 7.2 61.9
United Kingdom 67.4 0.2
Other foreign 66.1 465
$ 5108 $ 3980

Corporate assets include all of the Company's cash and cash equivalents, asbestols insurance receivables, restricted cash and noncusrent
deferred income taxes. Long-fived assets consist of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

General

Various cfaims, jawsuits and administrative proceedings, all arising in the ordinary coursaI of business with respect to commercial, praduct liability,
ashestos and environmental matters, are pending or threatened against the Company or itls subsidiaries and seek monetary damages and/or other
remedies. The Company believes that any liability that may finally be determined with respect to commesciat and non-asbestos product liability
claims should not have a material effect an the Company's consolidated financial conditioq or results of operations. From time to time, the Company
and its subsidiaries are also involved as plaintiffs in legal proceedings involving contract, patent protection, environmental, insurance and other matters.

Environmental
The Company’s facilities and operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental and occupational health and safety requirements of the
U.S. and fareign countries. The Company takes a proactive approach in its efforts to comply with alt environmental, health and safety laws as they
relate to its manufacturing operations and in proposing and implementing any remedial pians that may be nacessary. The Company also regularly
conducts comprehensive environmental, health and safety audits at its facilities to maintain compliance and improve operational efficiency.

Alihough the Company believes past operations were in substantial compliance withI the then applicable regulations, the Company or one of
its subsidiaries has been named as a potentially responsitle party or is otherwise involved at 21 Sites where the costs to it are expected to exceed
$100,000. Investigations have been completed for 15 sites and are in progress at the otherI six sites. The majority of these sitas relate to remediation
projects at former operating facilities that were sold or closed and primarily deal with soil and groundwater contamination.

The Company’s policy is to accrue environmentat investigation and remediation costs'when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount can be reasonably estimated. The measurement of the liability is based on an e;valuation of currently available facts with respect to each
individual situation and takes into consideration factors such as existing technatogy, presentty enacted laws and regulations and prior experience
in remadiation of contaminated sites. Liabilities are established for all sites based on the factors discussed above. As assessments and remediation
progress at individual sites, these liabilities are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reﬂeé:t additional technical data and tegal information. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, EnPro had accrued liabifities of $27.7 million and $33.2 milt'ion, respectively, for estimated future expenditures relating
to envirenmental contingencies. The amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements have been recorded on an undiscountad basis.

The Company believes that its reserves for environmental contingencies are adequate| based on currently available information. Actual costs
to be incurred for identified situations in future periods may vary from estimates because u'f the inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental
exposures due i unknown conditions, changing govemment regulations and legal siandards'tregafdmg liabitity. Subject to the imprecision in estimating
future environmental costs, the Company believes that maintaining compliance with currentI environmental laws and government regutations will not
require significant capital expenditures or have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, but could be materiat to its results of operations
or cash flows in a given period.
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Colt Firearms and Central Moloney

The Company has centingent liabilities relates to divested businesses for which certain of its subsidiaries retained liability or are obligated under
indemnity agreements, These contingent liabilities include, but are not limiied to, potential product liability and associated claims related to the
Company's former Colt Firearms subsidiary for firearms manufactured prior to its divestiture in 1990 and the Company’s former Central Moloney
subsidiary for electrical transformers manufactured prior to its divestiture in 1994. No product liability claims are currently pending against the Company
related to Colt Firearms or Central Mctoney. The Company also has ongoing obligations, which are included in retained liabilities of previously owned
businesses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with regard to workers” campensation, retiree medical and other retiree benefit matters that relate
to the Company's periods of ownership of these operations,

Crucible Materials Corporation
Crucible Materials Corporatien (*Crucite™, which is engaged primarily in the manufacture and distribution of spacialty metal products, was a wholly
owned subsidiary of Coltec until 1985 when a majority of the outstanding shares were sold. Coltec sold its remaining minority interest in 2004.

In conjunction with she closure of & Crucible plant in the early 1980s, Coltec was required to fund two trusts for retiree medical benefits for
union employees at the plant. The first irust {ihe “Benefits Trust") pays for these retiree medical benefits on an ongoing basis. Caltec has no ownership
interest in the Benefits Trust, and thus the assets and liabilities of this frust are not included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under
the terms of the Benefits Trust agreement, the trustees retained an actuary to assess the adequacy of the assets in the Benefits Trust in 1995, ancther
actuarial report was completed in 2005, and a third report will be required in 2015. The actuarial reports in 1935 and 2005 determined that there
were adequate assets to fund the payment of future benefits. if it is determined in 2015 that the trust assets are not adequate 10 fund the payment
of future medical benefits, Coltec witl be required to contribute additional amounts to the Benefits Trust. In the event there are ever excess assets in
the Benefits Trust, those excess assets will not revert to Coltec.

Because of the possibility that Coltec could be required to make additional contributions to the Benefits Trust to cover potential shortfalls, Coliec
was required to establish a second trust (the "Back-Up Trust™). The trust assets and a correspanding liability of the Back-Up Trust are reflected in the
Company’s Consotidated Balance Sheets in other non-current assets and in retained liabilities of previously owned businesses, respectively, and
amounted to $21.1 million each at December 31, 2007, As noted above, based on the valuation completed in early 2003, the actuary determined
that there were adequate assets in the Benefits Trust 1o fund the estimated payments by the trust untit the next valuation date. Until such time as a
payment is required or the remaining excess trust assets revert to the Company, the trust assets and liabilities will be kept equal 1o each other on the
Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also has ongeing obligations, which are included in retained liabilities of previously owned businesses in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, with regard to workers' compensation, retiree medical and other rediree benefit matters, in addition to those mentioned previously, that relate
to the Company's period of ownership of this operation.

Debt and Capital Lease Guarantees

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had contingent liabilities for potential payments on guarantees of certain debt and lease obligations totaling
$9.9 million. These guarantees arose from the divestitures of Crucible, Central Moloney and Haber Tool, and expire at various dates through 2010

There is no liability for these guaraniees reflected in the Company’s Consolidated Batance Sheets. tn the event that the other parties do not fulfill their
obligations under the debt or lease agreemenis, the Company could be responsible for these obligations.

Other Contingent Liability Matters
The Company provides warranties on many of its products. The specific terms and conditions of these warranties vary depending on the product and
the market in which the product is sold. The Company records a liability based upon estimates of the costs that may be incurred under its warranties
after a review of historical warranty experience and information about specific warranty claims. Adjusiments are made to the liability as claims data
and historical experience warrant.

Changes in the carrying amount of the product warranty liability for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, are as follows;

{in millions} 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of year $40 $36
Charges to expense 27 44
Charges to the accrual 3.1) 4.0
Balance at end of year $36 $40
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Asbestos

HISTORY. Certain of the Company's subsidiaries, primarily Garlock Sealing Technologies }.LC {“Garlock™) and The Anchor Packing Company {"Ancheor™),
are among a large number of defendants in actions filed in various states by plaintiffs afleging injury or death as a result of expostire to ashestos fibers.
Among the products at issue in these actions are industrial sealing products, including g'askets and packing products. The damages claimed vary from
action to action, and in some cases plaintifts seek both compensatory and punitive darmages. Yo date, neither Garlock nor Anchor has been reguirett
to pay any punitive damage awards, although there can be no assurance that they will noi be required to do 50 in the future. Liability for compensatory
damages has historicatly been allocated among responsible defendanits. Since the first |asbestos -related lawsuits were filed against Garfock in 1975,
Gartock and Anchor have processed approximately 900,000 asbestos claims to conclulsmn {including judgments, settlements and dismissals) and,
together with their insurers, have paid approximately $1.3 billion in settlements and judgments and over $400 million in fees and expenses.

CLAIMS MIX. Of those claims resolved, approximately 3% have been claims of plaintiffs!alleging the disease mesothelioma, approximately 6% have
been claims of plaintiffs with lung or other cancers, and more than 90% have been claims of plaintiffs alleging asbestosis, pleural plagues or other
non-malignant impairment of the respiratory system. The mix of cases filed in 2007 contlains approximately 26% mesothelioma claims and 19% lung
or other cancer claims. In the remaining 55% of the new cases, either the plaintiffs alleged non-malignant impairment or the disease or condition is
not alleged and remains unknown to us. Of the 105,700 open cases at December 31, 2007, the Company is aware of approximately 9,500 (9.0%)
that involve claimants alleging mesothelioma, lung cancer or some other cancer.,

NEW FILINGS. The number of new actions filed against the Company's subsidiaries in 2q07 (5,200) was lower than the number filed in 2006 (7,700)
and 2005 (15,300). The number filed against our subsidiaries in each of those thiee years was much lower than the number filed in the peak filing
year, 2003, when 44,700 new claims were filed. Possitile factors in the decline include, Ibut are not limited to, fort reform in some high profile states,
especially Mississippl, Texas and Ohio; tort reform in Florida, Georgia, South Carolina, Kansas and Tennassee; actions taken and rulings by some judges
and court administrators that have had the effect of imiting access to their courts for cla{mants without Sufficient ties to the jurisdiction or claimants
with no discernible disease; acceleration of claims into past years; and declining incidence of asbestos-related disease. The decline in new filings has
been principally in non-malignant claims; however, new filings of claims alleging mesothelioma, lung and other cancers declined in 2006. Because
the nature of the diseases or conditions afleged remains unknown in a number of the claims filed, it is uncertain whether and to what extent that trend
continued in 2007.

PRODUCT DEFENSES. The asbestos in products formerly sold by Garlock and Anchor was encapsulated, which means the asbestos fibers were
incorporated into the products during the manufacturing process and sealed in a binder. The products were alse nonfriable, which means they could
not be crumbled by hand pressure. The U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, which began generally reguiring wamings on asbestos-
containing products in 1972, has never required that a warning be placed on products s Ich as Garlock's gaskets. Even though no waming label was
required, Garlock included ene on all of its asbestos-containing products beginning in 1978. Further, gaskets such as those previously manufactured
and sold by Garlack are one of the few ashestos-containing products still permitted to belmanufactured under regulations af the U.S. Enviranmental
Protection Agency. Nevertheless, Garlock discontinued all manufacture and distribution ol asbestos-cantaining products in the U.S. during 2000 and
worldwide in mid-2001. From the mid-1980s until 2000, U.S. sales of asbestos- contalnlng industrial sealing products were not a material part of
Garlock's sales and were predominantly to sophisticated purchasers such as the U.S. Navy and large petrochemical facilities.

Garlock's product defenses have enabled it to be successful at trial, winning defense verdicts In one of the two cases tried to verdict in 2007,
and in 12 of 25 cases tried 1o verdict in the years 2004 through 2007. In the successiul ]uhr trials, the juries determined thal either Garlock’s products
were not defective, that Garlock was not negligent, or that the claimant was not exposed tlo Garlock’s products.

RECENT TRIAL RESULTS. In 2007, Garlock hegan nine trials involving twelve plaintiffs. A E\Aassachuseﬁs jury returned a defense verdict in favor of
Garlock. In a Kentucky case, the jury awarded ihe plaintiff $145,000 against Garlock. Garlock ptans to appeal this verdict. Four lawsuits in Pennsylvania
settled during trial before the juries had reached a verdict. Garlock also settled cases durir|1g trial in Louisiana, Maryland and Washington.

In 2006, Garlock began ten trials involving eleven plaintiffs. Garlock received jury verqicts in its favor in Oakland, California; Easton, Pennsylvania;
and Louisville, Kentucky. in Pennsylvania, three other lawsuits involving four plaintiffs sefited during trial before the juries reached verdict. Garlock
also settled cases in Massachusetts, California and Texas during trial. In a retrial of a Kentucky case, the jury awarded the plaintiff $900,000 against
Garlock. The award was significantly less than the $1.75 million award against Garlock in thelprevious trial, which Garlock successfully appealed. Garlock
has also appealed the new verdict. In addition, Garlock obtained dismissals in two cases i ' Philadelphia after the juries were selected but before the
trials began because there was insufficient evidence of exposure to Garlock products. 7

Ouring 2005, Garlock began thirteen trials. Six of these lawsuits settled during the trilals. In a mesothelioma case in Texas, the jury returned a
defense verdict in Garlock's favor just after settlement was reached. An llinois jury and a Washingion jury also each returned defense verdicts for
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Garlock. A Los Angeles jury returned an award to a living mesothelioma claimant, but Garlock was able to settle the claim as part of a farge group

settlement prior to the eniry of judgment. A Baltimore jury returned a verdict of $10.4 million against Garlock and two other defendantsina mesothelioma
case. Garlock's one-third share was approximately $3.5 million. A Daflas jury returned a verdict of $260,000 in another mesothelioma case. Garlock's

share was approximately $10,000, 4% of the total verdict. An lliinois jury in an asbestosis case returned a verdict against Garlock of $225,000, al! of
which was offset by settlements with other defendants. The final 2005 trial was the Kentucky case describied in the previous paragraph, which resulted

in a verdict that was later overturned and subsequently retried in 2008.

APPEALS. Garlock has historically enjoyed success in @ majority of its appeals. The Company believes that Gariock will continue to be successful in
the appellate process, although there can be no assurance of success in any particular pending or future appeal. In March 2008, a three-judge panel
of the Ohio Court of Appeals, in a unanimous decision, overturned a $6.4 million verdict that was entered against Garlock in 2003, granting a new trial.
The case subsequently settled. On the other hand, the Maryland Court of Appeals denied Garlock’s appeal from the 2005 Baltimore verdict described
above, and Garlock paid that verdict, with post-judgment interest, in the fourth quaster of 2006. In a separate Baltimore case in the fourth quarter of
2006, the Maryland Cotirt of Special Appeals denied Garlock's appeal from another 2005 verdict. The subsequent appeal of that decision was also
denied and Garlock pald that verdict in the second quarter of 2007, In June 2007, the New York Court of Appeals, in a unanimous decision, overiumed
an $800,000 verdict that was entered against Garlock in 2004, granting a new trial. At December 31, 2007, three Gartock appeals were pending from
adverse verdicts totaling $1.4 miltion, down from $6.8 million at December 31, 2006, and more than $41 million at December 31, 2005.

In some cases, appeals require the provision of security in the form of appeal bonds, potentially in amounts greater than the verdicts. The Company
is required to provide cash collateral to secure the full amount of the bonds, which can restrict the use of a significant amount of the Company’s cash
for the perinds of such appeals. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $1.1 million of cash collateral relating to appeal bonds recorded as restricted
cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. This amount was reduced from $1.3 million at December 31, 2006 and $41.1 million at Decernber 31, 2005.

SETTLEMENTS. Garlock settles and disposes of actions on a regular basis. Garlock's historical settlement strategy was to settie only cases in advanced
stages of litigation. In 1999 and 2000, however, Garlock employed a more aggressive settiement sirategy. The purpose of this strategy was to achieve a
permanent reduction in the number of overall asbestos claims through the settiement of a targe number of claims, including some earty-stage claims and
some claims nok yet filed as fawsuits, Due to this short-term aggressive settlernent strategy and a significant overall increase in claims filings, the settiement
amounts paid in those years and Severat subsequent years were greater than the amounts paid in any year prior to 1999. In 2001, Garlock resumed its
historical settiement strateqy and focused on reducing settlement commitments to match insurance recoveries. As a result, Garlock reduced new seftlement
commitments from $180 million in 2000 to $94 million in 2001 and $86 million in 2002. New settlement commitments totaled $84 million in 2006 and
$76 million in 2007. Approximately $15 million of the 2006 amount and approximately $5 million of the 2007 amount were committed in settlements in
2006 to pay verdicts that had been rendered in the years 2003 — 2005,

Settlements are made without any admission of liability. Settlement amounts vary depending upon a number of factors, including the jurlsdiction
where the action was brought, the nature and extent of the disease alleged and the associated medical evidence, the age and occupation of the plaintiff,
the presence or absence of other possible causes of the plaintiff's alleged iliness, afternative sources of payment available to the plaintiff, the availability
of legal defenses, and whether the action is an individual one or part of a group.

Betore any payment on a settled claim is made, the claimant is required to submit a medical report acceptable to Garlock substantiating the
asbestos-retated illness and meeting specific criteria of disability. In addition, sworn testimony or other evidence that the claimant worked with or
around Garlock asbestos-containing products is required. The claimant is atso required to sign a full and unconditional release of Garlock, its subsidiaries,
parent, officers, directors, affiliates and related parties from any liability for asbestos-related injuries or claims.

STATUS OF ANCHOR. Anchor is an inactive and insolvent indirect subsidiary of Coltec. There is no remaining insurance coverage available to Anchor.
Anchor has no remaining assets and has not committed to settle any actions since 1998. As cases reach the trial stage, Anchor is typically dismissed
without payment.

INSURANCE COVERAGE. At December 31, 2007, Garlock had available $381.5 million of solvent insurance and trust coverage that the Company
believes will be avaitable to cover future ashestos claims and certain expense payments. In addition, at December 31, 2007, Garlock classified $56 million
of otherwise available insurance as insolvent. The Company believes that Garlock will recover some of the insolvent insurance over time. In fact, Garlock
collected approximately $1 million from insolvent carriers in 2007, bringing total collections from insolvent carriers from 2002 through 2007 to
approximately $39.3 million, There can be no assurance that Gariock will collect any of the remaining insolvent insurance.

Of the $381.5 million of cotlectible insurance and trust assets, the Company considers $333 million (87%j to be of high quality because (a) the
insurance policies are written or guaranteed by U.S.-based carriers whose credit rating by S&P is investment grade (BBE) or better, and whose AM Best
rating is excellent (A-) or better, or (b) in the form of cash or liquid investments held in insurance trusts resulting from commutation agreements. The
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Company considers $48 million (13%) to be of moderate quality because the insurance policies are written with {a) other solvent U.S. carriers who
are unrated or below investment grade ($42 million) or {b) with various London market carriers (36 million). Of the $381.5 millien, $252.0 million is
altocated to claims that have been paid by Garlock and submitted to its insurance companies for reimbursement and the remainder is allocated to
pending and esiimated future claims as described later in this section.

Arrangements with Garlock's insurance carriers limit the amount of insurance proceeds that Garlock is entitied to receive in any one year, Amounts
paid by Gartock in excess of insurance recoveries that would be recoverable from insurance if there was n limit may be collected from the insurance
companies in subsequent years, so leng as insurance is available, subject to the Irmlts in subsequent ygars,

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company reached an agreement with a S|gn|f|cam group of refated U.S. insurers. These insurers had
withhetd payments pending resolution of a dispute. The agreement providas ior the payment of the full amouni of the insurance policies ($194 million)
in various annual payments to be made from 2007 through 201 8. Under the agreement, Garlock received $22 million in 2007.

In May 2006, the Company reached agreement with a U.S. insurer that resolved two lawsuits and an arbitration proceeding. Pursuant to the
settiement, Garlock received $3 million in 2007 and $4 million in 2006 and will recewe anather $14 million in the future.

During the first quarter of 2005, the Company reached agreement with two of Garlock $ U.S. insurers. The insuress agreed to pay Garlock a
totat of $21 million in three equal bi-annual paymenis of $7 million. The first and seg;n)nd paymenis were received in May 2005 and April 2007,
respectively, the third payment is due in May 2009. The payments are guaranteed by the parent company of the settling insurers.

In the second quarter of 2004, the Company reached agreement with Equitas, the London-based entity responsible for the pre-1993 Loyds' of
London policies in the Company’s insurance block, concerning settlement of its exposure to the Company's subsidiaries” asbestos claims. As a result
of the settlement, $88 million was placed in an independent trust. In the fourth quarter of 2004 the Company reached agreement with a group of London
market carriers (other than Equitas) and one of its U.S. carriers that has some policies reinsured through the London market. As a result of the setttement,
$55.5 million was placed in an independent trust. At December 31, 2007, the market value of the funds remaining in the two trusts was $43.6 million,
which was included in the $382 million of insurance and trust coverage available to pay future asbestos-related claims and expenses.

Insurance coverage for asbestos claims is not available to cover exposures initially occurnng onand aiter July 1, 1984, Although Garlock and
Anchor continue to be named as defendants in new actions, only a few allege initial expolsure after July 1, 1984. To date, no payments have been made
with respect to these few claims, pursuant to a settlement or otherwise. Garlock and Ancholr believe that they have substantial defenses to ihese claims and
therefore automatically reject them for seitiement. However, there can be no assurance that any or all of these defenses will be sucgessful in the iuture.

THE COMPANY'S LIABILITY ESTIMATE. Prior to mid-2004, the Company maintained that its subsidiaries’ liability for unasserted claims was not
reasanalyly estimable. The Company estimated and recorded liabilities only for pending claims in advanced stages of processing, for which it believed
it had a basis for making a reasanable estimate. The Company disclosed the signific?nce of the total potential liability for unasserted claims in
considerable detail. By 2004, however, most asbestos defendants who disclose their Ii:libilities were recording estimates of their liabilities for pending
and unasserted claims. In view of the change in practice by other defendants, during 2004 the Gompany authorized counsel to retain a recognized
expert to assist in estimating the Company's subsidiaries' liability for pending and future asbestos claims. After interviewing and qualifying several
recognized experts with the Company, counsel selected Bates White,

Bates White's first report, dated February 17, 2005, provided an estimate of the liability as of December 31, 2004 for the following ten years,
which represented a time horizon within which Bates White believed such liability was|both probable and estimable within a range of values. Bates
White opined that each value within the range of $227 million to $382 million was an equally likely estimate of the liability. The Company adopted the
Bates White estimate and, accordingly, recorded an additional liability for pending anh unassearted ¢laims as of December 31, 2004 to increase
the Company's liability to an amount equal to the low end of the estimated range ($227 million). The recording of such increased asbestos liability
resulted in the Company also recording an increase to its insurance receivable.

Bates White has updated its estimate every quarter since the end of 2004. The estimated range of potential liahilities provided by Bates White
at December 31, 2007 was $431 million to $626 million. According to Bates White, inC{eases have been attributable primarily to (1) an increase in
seftlement vatues of mesothelioma ctaims, {2) an increase in claims filings and values inlsome jurisdictions, most notably Calilornia, and (3) the delay
in, and uncertain impact of, the funding and implementation of trusts formed under Sectmn 524(g) of the United States Bankruptcy Code to pay ashestos
claims against numerous defendants in Chapter 11 reorganization cases. Because the 524(g) trusts are estimated to have more than $30 billion that
will be available for the payment of asbestos claims, they could have a significant impact on the Company’s future settiement paymenis and could
therefore significantly affect its iiability.

Each quarter uniil the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company adopted the Bates White estimate and adjusted the liability to equal the low end of
the then-current ranga. Uniil the second quarter of 2008, the additional tiability was recorded with a corresponding increase in the Company's insurance
receivable, and thus did not affect net income. During the second quarter of 2006, however, the Company's insurance was fully allocated 10 past,
present and future claims, and therefore subsequent changes to the Bates White estimate were recorded as charges to income.
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The Cempany has independently developed internal estimates for asbestos-related liabilities. The Company has used those estimates for
a variety of purposes, including guidance for settlement negotiations and trial strategy, in its strategic planning, budgeting and cash flow planning
processes, and in setting targets for annual and leng-term incentive compensation. Until the end of 2006, the Company did not have sufficient history
comparing claims payments to its internal estimates to allow it to identify a most likety point within the Bates White range. Therefore, prior to the
fourth quarter of 2006, the Company had adopted ihe low-end of the range provided by Bates White. However, the Company's intemal estimaie has
been within the Bates White range of equally likely estimates and has proven to be a more precise predictor of the actual amounts spent on settiements
and verdicts than the low end of the range. As a result, while the low end of the Bates White range still provides a reasanable lower boundary of
nossible outcomes, Bates White and management believe that the Company's internal estimate for the next ten years represents the most likely point
within the range. Accordingly, the Company has adjusted the recorded liabiiity from the low end of the Bates White estimate to its peint estimate in
the fourth quarter of 2006 and has adjusted the liability in each subsequent quarter consistent with management’s internal estimates. During the
fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $305.1 million to reflect its estimate.

The Company focuses on future cash flows to prepare its estimate. [t makes assumptions about declining future asbestos spending based on
(1) past trends, {2) publicly available epidemiological data, (3} current agreements with plaintiff firms and its judgment about the current and future
litigation environment, (4) the availability to claimants of other payment sources, both co-dafendants and the 524(g) trusts, and (5) the input and insight
provided to the Company by Bates White, The Company adjusts its estimate when current cash flow results and long-term trends suggest that its
targets cannot be met. As a result, the Company has a process that it believes produces the best estimate of the future liability for the ten-year time
period within the Bates White range.

The Company currently estimates that the liability of its subsidiaries for the indemnity cost of resolving asbestos claims for the next ten ysars
will be $519.0 million. The estimated liability of $519.0 million is before any tax benefit and is not discounted to present value, and it does not include
fees and expenses, which are recorded as incurred. The recorded liability will continue to be impacted by its actual claims and settiement experience
and any change in the legal environment that coutd cause a significant increase or decrease in the long-term expectations of management and Bates
White. The Company expects the recorded liability to fluctuate, perhaps significantly. Any significant change in the estimate liability could have a
material effect an the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Although the Company believes that its estimate is the best estimate within the Bates White range of reasonable and probable estimates of
Garfock’s future cbligation, it notes that Bates White also indicated a broader range of potential estimates from $199 miltion to $733 million, The
Company cautions that points within that broader range remain possible outcomes. Also, while the Gompany agrees with its expent that *beyond two to
four years for Garlock’s economicatly-driven non-malignant claims and beyond ten years for Garlock’s cancer claims and medically-driven non-malignant
claims, there are reasonable scenarios in which the [ashestos] expenditure is de minimus,” it cautions that the process of estimating future liabilties
i highly uncertain. Adjusting the Company’s liability to the best estimate within the range does not change that fact. In the waords of the Bates White
report, “the reliability of estimates of future probable expenditures of Garlock for ashestos-related personal injury ctaims declines significantly for each
year further into the future.” Scenarios continue to exist that could result in a total future asbestos liability for Garlock in excess of $1 billion.

As previously mentionad, the liability estimate does nat include legal fees and expenses, which add considerably to the costs each year. Over
the last two years, these expenses have averaged approximately $7 million per quarter. in addition to these legal fees and expenses, the Company
expects to continue to record charges to income in {uture quaniers for:

* Increases, if any, in the Company's estimate of Garlock's potential liability, plus

* Increases, if any, that result from additionar quarters added to maintain the ten-year estimation period (increases of this type have averaged
approximately $7 — 8 million per quarter for the last two years), plus

« Amounts, if any, of solvent insurance lost or commuted, offset by insolvent recoveries and earnings from insurance settiement trusts.

In 2007, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge to income of $68.4 million to reflect net cash ouilays of $25.8 million for legal fees and expenses
incurred during the year, and a $42.6 million non-cash charge. The non-cash charge included $23.2 miflion related to the addition of periods to maintain
a ten-year liability estimate and $19.4 million to adjust the liability based on revisions to management’s estimate. A portion of the non-cash charge
{$19.4 million) resulted from agjustments made to managsment's estimation model in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Company made this adjustment
based on its review of negotiations and payment trends and its belief that it is more likely that, in the future, a higher percentage of settlement
commitments made in any year will also be paid in that same year.
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QUANTITATIVE CLAIMS AND INSURANCE (NFORMATICN, The Company's liabifity as of December 31,2007 was $524.4 million {the Company’s estimate
of the liability described above of $519.0 million plus $5.4 million of accrued legal and other fees already incurred but not yet paid). The total fiability
as of December 31, 2007, includad $85.9 million classified as a current liability and 3437 5 million classified as a noncurrent liability. The recorded
amounts do not include 'egal fees and expenses 1o be incurved in the future.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had remaining salvent insurance and trust coverage of $381.5 million which is reflected on its balance
sheet as a receivable ($70.0 million ¢lagsified in current assets and $311.5 classified(in non-current assets) and which it believes will be avaitable
for the payment of ashestos-related claims, Included in the receivable is $252.0 mllllon in ingured claims and expenses that our subsidiaries have paid
out in excess of amounts recovered from insurance, These amounts are recoverable under its insurance policies and have been billed to the insurance
cariers. The remaining $129.5 million will be available for pending and future claims.

The table below quantitatively depicts the number of pending cases, asbestos-related cash flows, the amount that the Company expects Garlock
to recover from insurance related to this liability, and an analysis of the liability.

As of and for the
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Pending Cases

New attions fited during period 5,200 1,700 15,300

Open actions at period-end 105,700 106,500 120,500
Cash Flow (dollars in millions)

Payments @ ${(115.1) $125.7) $(129.0)

Insurance recoveries ® 90.2 877 107.2

Net cash flow $ (249 $ (38.0 $ 218
Solvent Insurance and Trust Assets {doltars in millions)

Insurance receivable for previously paid claims $2520 $251.2 $2316

Insurance available for pending and future claims 129.5 2169 3385

Remaining solvent insurance and trust assets | s3815 $468.1 $570.1
Liability Analysis (dollars in millions)

Liability for pending and future claims 618 $5244 £567.9 $271.3

Insurance available for pending and future claimg 129.5 2169 3385

Liabitity in excess of insurance coverage ® 3949 351.0 -

Insurance receivable for previousty paid claims 252.0 25i.2 2316

Liability in excess of anticipated insurance collections ® l $1429 $ 938 § -

(1) Includes actions actually filed with a court of competent jurisdiction. Each action in which both|Garlock and one or more cther of our subsidiaries is named as a
defendant is shown as a single action. Multiple actions filed on behalf of the same plaintiff in multiple jurisdictions are also counted as one action. Claims not filed
as actions in court but that are submitted and paid as part of previous settlements (approximataly 900 in 2007, 700 in 2006 and 4,400 in 2005) are not included.

(3 Includes all payments for judgments, settiements, fees and expenses made in the period.

(31 Includes all recoveries fram insurance received in the period.

{4} Includes previous payments for which Garlock is entitled to receive corresponding insurance recoveries bui has not received payment, in large part due to annual
limits imposed under insurance arrangements.

(5) For 2007 and 2006, the liability represents management's best estimate of the future paymants for the following ten-year period. For 2005, the liability represents
the fow end of a range of equally likely future payments for the {ollowing ten-year period. Amounts shown include $5.4 million, $6.9 million and $10.7 million at
December 3%, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, of accrued fees and expenses for services previousty rendered but unpaid.

{6) Does not include fees and expenses to be incurred in the future, which are recorded as a charg'e to income when incurred.
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Other Commitments

The Company has several operating leases primarily for real estate, equipment and vehicles. Operating lease arrangements are generaliy utilized to
secure the use of assets if the terms and conditions of the lease or the nature of the asset makes the lease arrangement more favorable than a pur-
chase. Future minimum lease payments by year and in the aggregate, under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining noncancelatie
lease terms in excess of one year, consisted of the following at December 31, 2007:

(in millions}
2008 $98
2009 89
2010 71
2011 55
2012 49
Thereafter 7.7
Total minimum payments $43.9

Net rent expense was $12.0 million, $10.8 million and $12.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively,

18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited}

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Net sales $247.3 $228.3 $254.4 $226.7 $252.7 $228.6 $275.6 $ 2448
Gross profit* $ 885 $ 784 $ 94 $774 $ 895 $71.9 $ 906 $ 796

Income (Joss) before extraordinary item $ 123 $ 148 $138 $ 42 $ 123 $ 43 % (00 501738
Extraordinary item, net of taxes 5 - 8 - % - 8 - 3 - $8 - s 25 % -
Net income {oss) $ 123 $ 148 $138 $ 42 $ 123 $(43 ¢ 18 $173.6)
Basic eamings (loss) per share:

Income {loss) before extraordinary item  $ 0.58 $ 0 $ 0.65 $ 020 $ 058 $0200 S$(004 § (828
Extracrdinary item - - - - - - 0.12 -

Net incorne (loss) $ 058 §on $ 0.65 $ 020 $ 0.58 $(0.20) $0.08  §i8.28

Dituted eamings {loss} per share:
Income foss) before extraordinaryitem  $ 0.56 $ 069 $ 0.61 $ 019 $ 0.54 $0200 S04 § 829
Extragrdinary item - - - - - - 0.12 —

Net income {loss) $ 056 $ 069 $ 061 $ 019 $ 054 $10200 _$008 $ (8.28

“ Represents sales less cost of sales.
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Schedule |l
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Balance,

Beginning Charge Write-off of Balance,
{In millions} of Year to Expense Receivables Other End of Year
2007 $2.8 $0.8 ${0.6} 30.6 $3.6
2006 $2.8 $1.2 $(1.4) $0.2 $2.8
2005 $36 $0.7 $0.4) $(0.1) $2.8

(1) Consists primarily of acquisitions and the effect of changes in currency rates.
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RECONCILIATION OF GAAP TO NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Adjusted Income to GAAP Net Income (L 0ss)

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

$ Pershare $  Pershare $ Pershare $ Pershare $  Pershare §  Pershare

Adjusted income before asbestos-related

expenses and other selected items $838 $3755 666 $ 309 $51.0 $243 $393 $186 $359 $174 $307 3152
Adjustments (net of tax):
Ashestos-related expenses 427y {(1.91) (2248 (1069 7.3 0.3 {6.6) (0.31) 6.1 (030 (113 056
Restructuring and other costs (38 @17 (.4 e 06 (003 59 028 (6 @008 24 012
Legal and environmental
reserve adjustments - - - - 29 0.14 63 029 0.3 002 (144 ©071)
Crucible back-up trust adjustments - - - - 6.9 0.32 - - - - - -
Gain (Ioss) on sale of assets - - 0.4 {002 37 017 (13 {0.05) 16 Q.07 0.4 0.02
Mark-1o-market adjustment
for call options - - - - 0.2 0.01 ©2 ({0.01) 0.7 004 (104 {051
Discontinued operations - - - - - - - - - - 242 1.20
Cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle - - - - - - - - - - {148 (073
Interest expense on debt
retained by Goodrich - - - - - - - - - - B4 027
Other 29 043 09 004 09 005 20 010 24 012 02 00
impact - increase {decrease) (436) (195 (2255 (069 67 032 (55 (028 27 1} P37 (167
Net income {loss) $40.2 $1.80 $i58.9 $ (760) $58.6 $275 3338 $1.60 $3B2 $1.61 $3.0 3019

Management believes readers of our financial statements may benefit from understanding the impact of selected items, including items that may recur,
on our reperted net income and earnings per share. This enables readers to better compare EnPro with diversified industrial manufacturing companies
that do not incur significant expenses related to asbestos, restructuring or discontinued operations. Many such items may impact a company’s reported
results; this list is not intended to present all such Rems.

The amounts, which may be considered non-GAAP financial measures, are alter-tax and are caiculated by applying a 37.5% assumed effective
tax rate. The pre-tax amount for each of the other items is separately presented in our consolidated statements of operations except that the Crucible
back-up trust adjustment, the legal and environmental reserve adjustments and the mark-to-market adjustment for call options are included in other
income. The pre-tax amounts for “other” are included in selling, general and administrative expenses, other income, income tax benefit {expense}
and extraordinary item in eur consolidated statements of operations. Adjusted earnings per share were calculated by dividing adjusted income by the
weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding curing the periods.
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Reconciliation of Segment Profit to Net Income (Loss)
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Segment profit $162.7 $1429 $117.4 $921 $878 $75.1
Corporate expenses (34.1) (31.6) {25.9) {26.8) (22.5) (16.1)
Asbestos-related expenses (68.4) (358.9) (1.7 (10.4) {9.8) {18.0)
(Gain (loss) on sale of assets - (0.6 58 (1.8} 25 0.6
Interest income (expense), net 0.2 3.2 .1 7. {7.6) 13.7)
Mark-to-market adjustment for call options - - 0.4 {0.2} 1.2 (16.7)
Other income {expense), net {2.4) 2.3 11.8 5.1 {0.5) (28.0)
Income {loss) before income taxes and distributions on

convertible preferred securtties of trust 58.0 {254.2) 921 509 50.9 {16.8)
fncome tax benefit (expense) {20.3) 953 335 ATAR a7n 75
Distributions on convertible preferred securities of trust - — - - - (3.3
Income oss) trom continuing operations 317 {158.9} 58.6 338 332 {12.6)
Income from discentinued operations, net of taxes - - - - - 242
Income {loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative

effect of a change in acoounting principle 3n.7 {158.9) 5886 338 332 1.6
Extraordinary item, net of taxes 25 - - - - -
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 40.2 {158.9) 58.6 338 332 11.6
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of taxes - - - - - (14.6)
Net income (loss) $40.2 1589 $ 586 $338 $33.2 $ (3.0)

Segment profit, management's primary measure of our operation’s perforimance, is total segment revenue reduced by operating expenses and restructuring
and ather costs identifiable with the segment. Corporate expenses include general corporate administrative costs. Expenses not directly attributable
to the segments, corporate expenses, net interest expenss, asbestos-related expenses, gains/losses or impairments refated to the sate of assets and
income taxes arg not included in the computation of segment profit. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those for
the Company.

Segment profit margin is calculated by dividing segment profit Dy sales for the respective period.
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bi

s reporl cortains certain Staiements that are orward-looking statements” &s that term is defined under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 {he “Act’}
nd releases igsued by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The words "may,” “hope,” “will,* “should,” "expect," "pan,” "anticipate,” "intend,"” "believe,” "estimate,”
predicy,” "poténtial," *continue," and other expressions which are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and which do not relale (o historical matters identify

forward-fooking statements. We believe that 1t is important io communicate our future expectations to-our shareholders, and we therelore make forward-fooking statements

n :ehaﬂce upon the safe harbor provisions of the Act. However, there may be events in the future 1hat we are not able to accurately predict or control, and our actual res|is

may differ maferially from the expactations we describe in cur forward-locking statements. Forward-looking statements involve knewn and unknown risks, uncerainties

and piher factors, which may cause our aciual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance or achievemenis
expressed or implied by such forward-lcoking statements, We acivise you to read further about certain ¢f these and other risk factors set forth in ltem 1A of the |ncludjvd

Annpal Reporton Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, either as a result of new information, future events

lor otherwise. Whenever you read or hear any subseguent written or oral forward-looking statements attsibuted 10 us or any person acting on our behalf, you should keep

in mmind the cautionary statements contained or referrad o in this saction, \
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